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Chairman’s Statement
FTEHREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Deson
Development International Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “We"), | hereby to
present to you this annual report (the “Annual Report”) for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (“Reporting Period” or the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Report Period, the global economy by and large
remained challenging despite the impact of 2019 coronavirus
pandemic (“COVID-19 Pandemic”) has gradually decreased
towards the end of the year. For most of the world’s economies,
strict social distancing measures and cross-border travel restriction
were substantially relaxed due to increased vaccination and the
health threatening effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic variants
have reduced. Overall economic activities improved as compared
to prior year.

Property regulatory policies remained to be based on the general
principle of “housing for living instead of speculation” and
“region-specific regulatory policies”. However, in response to the
demand for pandemic prevention and control, market downturn
and maintenance of stable economic growth, local governments
have introduced a large number of policies on both supply and
demand to support the stable development of the real estate
market. Therefore, the regulatory policy environment for the
property market has gradually relaxed. The “16 Supportive
Financial Measures for the Real Estate Market” was introduced in
the fourth quarter of 2022, and supportive policies for credit,
bonds and equity financing were launched to ensure the real
estate market’'s stable development, which is conducive to further
stabilising the expectations of home buyers and maintaining
consumers’ confidence in the real estate market.

During the Reporting Period, China’s real estate industry was
undergoing profound adjustments. The real estate market
continued to be sluggish with weak demand, and both market
transaction volumes and prices went downside simultaneously.
Some property developers experienced credit risk events and the
market had a strong wait-and-see sentiment. According to the
National Bureau of Statistics, the overall scale of the real estate
market recorded significant declines. Despite increasing policy
support, the overall real estate market is still in a bottoming-out
phase as investor confidence and expectations have not yet
recovered.
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The Group’s financial performance primarily arose from the sale
of properties, rental income from investment properties, sale of
medical equipment, sale of home security and automation
products and income from operation of a hotel.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a total turnover
of approximately HK$97.6 million (2022: approximately HK$110.0
million). The net loss attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HK$91.0 million (2022: HK$27.3 million),
representing an increase in loss of approximately HK$63.7 million
or 233%.

The significant increase in loss was due to the increase in fair
value loss on equity investments designated at fair value through
profit or loss from a gain of approximately HK$110.2 million for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to a loss of approximately
HK$75.7 million for the Reporting Period due to the significant
decrease in the share price of one of the equity investment that
was listed in China on Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The above loss
was partly offset by the change in fair value of investment
properties from a loss of approximately HK$73.3 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022 to a gain of approximately HK$46.3
million for the Reporting Period.

Loss per share for the Reporting Period was HK6.20 cents (2022:
2.42 cents).

The consolidated net assets value of the Group as at 31 March
2023 was approximately HK$1,467 million (2022: approximately
HK$1,672 million). The consolidated net assets value per share as
at 31 March 2023 was approximately HK$1.00, based on
1,466,820,600 shares in issue, as compared to approximately
HK$1.14 per share based on 1,466,820,600 shares in issue as at
31 March 2022.
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Chairman’s Statement
TEHREE

OUTLOOK

Looking forward to the remaining 2023, inflation is running at a
high level, interest rates will remain high with little room for cuts,
it is expected that global economic growth will continue to slow
down and some major economies may plunge into recession.
Although Chinese government has taken measures to support the
steady development of the economy and the real estate market,
China’s economic growth still faces challenges in coming period
as consumers are less willing to purchase houses and their
confidence in the economy has yet to be restored.
Notwithstanding the above, it is expected that China’s macro
economy and property market will bottom out and rebound,
driven by the significant easing of the pandemic situation in
China, adjustments for pandemic prevention and control policies
and the lifting of the border restrictions between Hong Kong,
other countries and China.

In coming period, stabilising economic growth will remain to be
the main goal of economic work for the central government. The
central government is expected to continue to intensify its efforts
to stabilise macro-economic growth, adopt a proactive fiscal policy
and a prudent and loose monetary policy, provide more support
for the real estate industry and market and promote the steady
development of the economy. In respect of the property policies,
the government’s regulatory policies will focus on general keynote
of "housing for living instead of speculation” and “region-specific
regulatory policies”, to remain continuous easing of supply and
demand. Certain local governments are expected to issue various
policies and measures supporting the property market more
actively, so as to better support the rigid and improved demand
of the property market and promote the recovery and steady
development of the real estate industry.

Due to the instability of the global economy, the Group is
looking forward with cautious optimism to minimise costs in order
to strengthen cash flows and to improve financial targets in the
balance sheet of the Group. The Group will continue to navigate
through challenging market and take this opportunity to improve
our service quality and strengthen operational efficiency. The
Group will look for appropriate investment opportunities.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the directors of the Company (“Directors”), | would
like to express my heartfelt thanks for the long-term support and
trust of the Company’s shareholders, business partners and
customers. | would also like to express my sincere appreciation to
all of my colleagues for their dedication and commitment to
make valuable contributions to the Group during the Year. In the
coming year, the Group will carry on dedicating its efforts and
with our combined efforts, we are looking forward to overcoming
all those challenges and hence deliver sustainable returns to the
Company’s shareholders.

Tjia Boen Sien
Managing Director and Chairman

Hong Kong
29 June 2023
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Property Development and Investment YJ¥#ERERKRE

Hainan Oscar Hotel
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Kaifeng Deson Century Place
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Hotel Operation B JE & &
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Trading of Medical Equipment $HEBERE

Medical Technologies Limited

HEEREZERETRLT

Tyromotion Lexo is a lower limb gait training robotics that
is based on the end-effector system. The innovative
transfer options shorten preparation time from fifteen
minutes to solely two minutes.

Medical Technologies Limited installed the first ever Lexo
in Taiwan hospital which is also the pioneer in Asia.

Tyromotion Lexo& — & & 1 “end-effector

system” B NEX A REFI BRI BZ A © BIFTHY SR &
FRABEGBRBEE TR EREIERSE -

Lﬁ BB ER AR AR BELET
—&lexo ' Eh o MAYSLERE -

Hydrotherapy pool is mainly designed for therapeutic purposes, such as exercise for
obesity, treatments for arthritis, and post-surgery recovery.

Haven of Hope Hospital hydrotherapy pool was completed by Medical Technologies Limited
by the end of 2021 and was visited by the former Chief Executive and her team last year.

KEAMEBZAKNAEER - BInAREFRE - JAE
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Photo From Information Services Department of Hong Kong Government
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Hope4Care AR rehabilitation training system is developed by the Biomedical Engineering
(BME) Department of The Chinese University of Hong Kong (CUHK). It provides exercise
programs with real-time monitoring of users’ body movements.

Hope4Care is a joint venture company from Medical Technologies Limited and CUHK
Professor.

Hope4Care fEIR B 5i(AR) B R 3| R AR BB T XABLNE B TR E - ©RIBR
el EREANAPHRERE-

HopedCare IR B2 EF AR AR EBBP XKREH NS ERA

Weston Robot (Ottobock) Exoskeleton Series facilities to take off pressure from the
workers according to the biomechanics of repetitive and strenuous activities. The
exoskeleton does not contain any electricity. They can be used in indoor, lightweighted
and highly flexible.

Western Robot (Ottobock) is the latest addition for Medical Technologies Limited.

Weston Robot (Ottobock) Exoskeleton R 1 4= 4 17 &2
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Western Robot (Ottobock)
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Trading of Home Security and Automation Products SHERERZR BRELLEM

Deson Innovative Limited and other associates

HEEREAGARATAREMEE R T

During the current year, our Group continued to promote the application of artificial
intelligence (“Al"”) video analysis technology, which can provide various functions such as
preventing loitering, assist in controlling the spread of diseases, analyzing human posture
and behavior, and assisting property valuation.

ERFE AEBFEEDATER(ATEEDREDTRMONER - sEMRHEZED
Be - BIanfy LECEE - BB IEFIRRERE - o MARZLETR LYW EETEEN S -

In Hong Kong, we provide people flow analysis services to financial institutions located in
different areas to help them better understand customer traffic patterns. At the same
time, we also provide advanced video management platform software to various
organizations of the Hong Kong Government to enhance their monitoring and management
capabilities.

EEE B/ HETRMEDN S BEELR
HARDITIRTS - B FIE i i 2R E PR
/N - A BATAEBEFNTR#E
RELENGEEEF T NEFTTHERE
MEEREN °

Al Based People Flow Analysis System
ATERBARD RS

In Mainland China, we have successfully obtained the first large-scale airport project,
which integrates multiple different systems, such as access control systems, intrusion
alarm systems, fire alarm systems, etc., while combining over 18,000 of channels of
video cameras, some of which are equipped with Al analysis capabilities, to provide
more comprehensive physical security information management services for airport
managers.

EREAM - BAIXRIIERGEEAZMEISIRE - ZIBBBE T2 ETRRLG - PIInFIZEERAT -
ARERRL - B R5E - FIR4ES 18 18,0008 1R SRR BB 5B A TE D HTINEE -
RESERERHE TENYERZ2EREERE
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At the same time, we actively strengthened our market promotion by organizing various
small and large-scale seminars and participating in different local exhibitions to enhance
customer awareness of our products and expand sales channels. Furthermore, we
established a solution showcase center to demonstrate the application of technology in
real environments and increase interaction between us and customers. This showcase
center not only provides customers with the latest technology solutions but also allows

them to experience our products and understand our technology and services.
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Hotel Conference
EIEEE

New Solution Showcase Room

HMABRBRARBRTE

MEERREBEEERRAE —T_=FFH

13



14

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEBENRR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s major business segments during the year ended
31 March 2023 comprise:

(@)  the property development and investment business segment
where the Group is engaged in property development of
residential and commercial properties and the holding of
investment properties;

(b)  the trading business segment where the Group is engaged
in the trading of medical equipment and home security and
automation products, including the provision of related
installation; and

(c)  the "others” segment comprises, principally, the operation
of a hotel.

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
approximately HK$97,563,000 (2022: HK$109,995,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 11% as compared to
last year.

Property development and investment business

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023
generated from this segment was approximately HK$34,818,000
(2022: HK$31,359,000), representing an increase of
approximately 11% as compared with last vyear.
generated from this segment was derived from the sales of
properties in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and
rental income earned from investment properties located in the
PRC.

Revenue

In Mainland China, COVID-19 Pandemic was very much in check
under strict preventive measures and consorted efforts taken by
the central government. The central government had provided
accommodative monetary policy and necessary fiscal stimulus to
ensure economic recovery. During the period, the property market
continued its downturn carried forward from last year as many
property developers experienced serious credit and liquidity crunch
as a result of the central government effort to rectify the
overleveraged property market. The overall sentiment of the
property market inevitably affected the Group’s property business
in Mainland China.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(i) Sales of properties

Revenue increased significantly from approximately
HK$7,166,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022 to
approximately HK$10,910,000 for the year ended 31 March
2023, representing a significant increase of approximately
52%. Although an increment was noted, sales was still
experiencing a low level during the Reporting Period. Sales
were mainly contributed by the sales of certain remaining
commercial units at World Expo Plaza in Kaifeng, the PRC
("World Expo”). Compared with the corresponding period
last year, only remaining residential units of World Expo
were sold with smaller contract sums.

(ii) Rental income from investment properties

Rental income from investment properties decreased from
approximately HK$24,193,000 for the year ended 31 March
2022 to approximately HK$23,908,000 for the Reporting
Period, representing a slightly decrease of approximately
1%. The slight decrease was arising from the drop of rental
income arising from Haikou, the PRC. As the Group has
entered agreement with an independent third party to sell
the commercial properties at Haikou, the tenancy
agreement that expired during the Reporting Period has not
been renewed. Details of the relevant proposed disposal
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
20 October 2022. On the other hand, the decrease in the
average exchange rate of Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars
from 1.21 to 1.14 also cause the drop in rental income
during the Reporting Period.

Segment profit generated from this segment during the Reporting
Period amounted to approximately HK$36,367,000 (2022: loss of
HK$118,976,000). This is mainly due to the fair value gain on
investment properties (before deferred tax) amounting
approximately HK$46,284,000 (2022: loss of HK$73,253,000). Fair
value gain noted for this Reporting Period was mainly arising
from the shopping mall and a hotel located in Haikou, the PRC.
As more companies are moving their headquarters to Haikou, the
unit selling price for commercial properties located in Haikou
increases accordingly due to the increase in demand.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

On the other hand, the decrease in the provision for net
realisable value of property held for sales from approximately
HK$41,866,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022 to
approximately HK$10,374,000 for this Reporting Period also
caused the improvement of the segment result. The provisions
recognised for the properties held for sales were mainly
attributable to the properties located in Kaifeng, the PRC, in
respect of the significant drop was noted for the unit price for
unsold villas at Zone C and Zone F of Century Place, Kaifeng, the
PRC due to the worsen economy as a results of the COVID-19
Pandemic.

Trading business

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023
generated from this segment recorded at approximately
HK$52,176,000 (2022: HK$69,584,000), representing a decrease
of approximately 25% as compared with last year.

Revenue generated from this segment arises from the trading of
medical equipment, wellness and pandemic prevention products
and home security and automation products, including the
provision of the related installation and maintenance services.

(i) Trading of medical equipment, wellness and

pandemic prevention products

Revenue decreased from approximately HK$57,498,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately
HK$45,345,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023,
representing a decrease of approximately 21%. The
decrease was due to more orders completed in last
reporting period due to the significant increase in demand
of air purifiers because of the COVID-19 Pandemic. On the
other hand, Hong Kong faced its largest virus outbreak in
February 2022, the purchase department of the Hospital
Authority (our major customer) has put more focus on
those urgent orders for anti-pandemic products in the first
half of 2022 which caused the significant increase in
turnover in last reporting period. Our major customer has
deferred some of the non-urgent orders to coming years.
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(ii) Trading of home security and automation

products

Turnover decreased from approximately HK$12,086,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately
HK$6,831,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023,
representing a decrease of approximately 43%. The
significant decrease was because of the drop in demand for
security products during the COVID-19 Pandemic where
some potential projects in the PRC have been delayed due
to the lock down policy. On the other hand, in order to
clear some old slow moving inventories, some inventories
were sold at low selling price.

Segment operating profit generated from this segment during the
Reporting Period amounted to approximately HK$4,325,000
(2022: HK$2,939,000). The significant increase was because we
have made an impairment of accounts receivable amounting
HK$5,122,000 in last reporting period regarding the trading of
home security and automation products for the sales noted in the
PRC.

Other business, principally operation of a hotel

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023
generated from this segment recorded at approximately
HK$10,569,000 (2022: HK$9,052,000), representing an increase
of 17% as compared with last year. Revenue generated from this
segment arises mainly from the operation of a hotel. The Group
operates one hotel, namely Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng City
Center (“Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng”) during the Reporting
Period. Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng is located in the city centre of
Kaifeng, with a total gross floor area of approximately 14,000
sg.m.. It consists of 243 guest rooms, including 100 king bed
standard rooms, 106 single bed standard rooms, 18 king bed
superior rooms, 18 single bed superior rooms and 1 suite. There
are also 3 meeting rooms with a total gross floor area of
approximately 460 sqg.m..
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During the Reporting Period, the overall performance of the
Group’s hotel in the Mainland China was affected by the
intermittent pandemic. The PRC Government imposed lockdowns
in some provinces with strict social distancing measures during
the COVID-19 Pandemic. It caused a drop in occupancy rate in
early of the Reporting Period. However, the drop was totally
offset when Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng was selected as a
quarantine hotel for Kaifeng, the PRC from August 2022 to
December 2022.

Segment operating loss generated from this segment during the
Reporting Period amounted to approximately HK$6,931,000
(2022: HK$24,598,000). This is mainly due to the recognition of
deficit from revaluation of property, plant and equipment, being
the hotel premises at Kaifeng, the PRC (before deferred tax) to
approximately HK$19,413,000 in last reporting period. Deficit
noted for this Reporting Period is only HK$1,271,000. The
COVID-19 Pandemic has caused a significant drop in the number
of tourists during the Reporting Period. The worsened tourism
business directly and adversely affected the fair value of the hotel
premises, contributing to the deficit from revaluation of property,
plant and equipment.

The net loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2023 amounted to approximately
HK$90,967,000 as compared with the net loss attributable to
owners of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022 of
approximately HK$27,274,000. The significant increase in loss was
due to the increase in fair value loss on equity investments
designated at fair value through profit or loss from a gain of
approximately HK$110,239,000 for the year ended 31 March
2022 to a loss of approximately HK$75,709,000 for the Reporting
Period due to the significant decrease in the share price of one of
the equity investment that was listed in China on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. The above loss was partly offset by the change in fair
value of investment properties from a loss of approximately
HK$73,253,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022 to a gain of
approximately HK$46,284,000 for the Reporting Period.

Loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
approximately HK6.20 cents (2022: 2.42 cents).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’'s revenue
amounted to approximately HK$98 million, decreased by
approximately 11% as compared with last year. Such decrease
was mainly because of the drop in sales in trading segment due
to i) higher demand for medical products was noted last year due
to the outbreak of COVID-19 Pandemic; and ii) in order to clear
some old slow moving inventories, the unit selling price of
trading of home security and automation products was reduced
significantly.

Revenue generated from the property development and
investment business, trading business and other business
amounted to approximately HK$35 million, HK$52 million and
HK$11 million, respectively, representing an increase of
approximately 11%, a decrease of approximately 25% and an
increase of approximately 17%, respectively, as compared with
the corresponding period of last year.

Gross profit margin

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s gross profit
margin was approximately 52.0%, increased by approximately 5.2
percentage points as compared with last year's 46.8%. The
increase was mainly attributable by the property segment that the
average gross profit margin for selling the shops in Kaifeng at
this Reporting Period is higher than that for selling residential
apartments in last year.

Fair value (loss)/gain on an equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss

The amount represents the fair value change of the equity
investments designated at fair value through profit or loss. As at
31 March 2022, the share price of one of the equity investment
was increased significantly comparing with the share price as at
31 March 2021 and fair value gain amounting HK$ 120 million
was recognised. The share price was dropped as at 31 March
2023 and fair value loss amounting HK$65 million was
recognised.
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Liquidity, financial resources and gearing ratio

During the Reporting Period, the Group maintained a healthy
liquidity position with working capital financed mainly by internal
resources and also other borrowings. The Group adopted a
prudent cash and financial management policy.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had total assets of
approximately HK$2,262,780,000, which were financed by total
liabilities, shareholders’ equity and non-controlling interests of
approximately HK$795,529,000, approximately HK$1,477,726,000
and approximately HK$10,475,000 (debit balance), respectively.
The Group's current ratio as at 31 March 2023 was 2.73 as
compared with 2.18 as at 31 March 2022.

Gearing ratio is calculated by the total interest-bearing debts less
cash and cash equivalents divided by the total equity as at the
end of the respective reporting periods and multiplied by 100%.
The Group had a net gearing ratio of approximately 31% as at
31 March 2023 (2022: 25%). We analysed the maturity profiles
of our borrowings and manage our liquidity level to ensure a
sufficient cash flow to service our indebtedness and meet cash
requirements arising from our business. We will explore various
financing opportunities to improve our capital structure and
reduce our cost of capital.

Capital expenditure
Total capital expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
approximately HK$356,000.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.

Commitments
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had capital commitments
contracted, but not provided for, of approximately
HK$1,201,000.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

RBEE  MBERREESMBLR
RI|EMRE > AREEFRENRBDE SN
noRBETTIREBAMERLEMEER
BG - AEBERREBENR S RYHEIER
% o

RZEBE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H AEERLEE
#9/52,262,780,0008 7T » & HIRD B ALK
795,529,000 7T ~ #91,477,726,0005 7T &
#310,475,0008 T2 B EE BRERER X IE
EhEx(BRER) RZT=_=F=FH
=t+—H AEEZABLEER273 MR
—E-__HF=RA=+—HA2.18°

BEABLKRRTRERAERRACIES
LHEEBEE  BRUAEBRSHERCEREER
FA100% st E - RN-E-_=F=A=+—
B AEEHNFEEABLENA3I% (ZF
T 1 25%) o B AME o AT 18 3K B Hi AR
Mo WERRHELKFE BEERXEHER
CREEEBER WHEHEMEBNRES
Ko BMBRERTAMNBERS  UWERK
119680 & A A R 0 PR R B PTAY & AR o

BEAREX
BE-_E-_=F=A=1t—HIEEZE&RK
B S 4855 49 5 356,000/8 7T ©

HAREE
R-_E-_=F=ZA=+—H AEETES
RHARBE-

AR
RZE-_=F=ZA=+—8 ' A&EBACH]
KB RBEERE AN HEIEAI1,201,0008 7T °



Management Discussion and Analysis

Charges on group assets
Details of the charged asset of the Group are set out in note 26
of the financial statements.

Treasury policies

The Group had adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a
healthy liquidity position throughout the year ended 31 March
2023. The Group strives to reduce its exposures to credit risk by
performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the
financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the
Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time
to time.

Exchange risk exposure
The Group is mainly exposed to balances denominated in RMB
which mainly arise from certain entities’ foreign
currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities for the
Group’s operating activities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy to eliminate the currency exposures against changes in
exchange rates of RMB against Hong Kong Dollar.
management monitors the related foreign currency exposures
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposures should the need arise.

However,
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PROSPECTS

Property development and investment

Looking forward to 2023, inflation is running at a high level,
interest rates will remain high with little room for cuts, it is
expected that global economic growth will continue to slow down
and some major economies may plunge into recession. Although
Chinese government has taken measures to support the steady
development of the economy and the real estate market, China’s
economic growth still faces challenges in 2023 as consumers are
less willing to purchase houses and their confidence in the
economy has yet to be restored. Notwithstanding the above, it is
expected that China’s macro economy and property market will
bottom out and rebound, driven by the significant easing of the
pandemic situation in China, adjustments for pandemic prevention
and control policies and the lifting of the border restrictions
between Hong Kong, other countries and China. In 2023,
stabilising economic growth will remain to be the main goal of
economic work for the central government. The central
government is expected to continue to intensify its efforts to
stabilise macro-economic growth, adopt a proactive fiscal policy
and a prudent and loose monetary policy, provide more support
for the real estate industry and market and promote the steady
development of the economy.

Currently, the leverage ratio and assets debt ratio of the Group
are relatively low in the same field. Under the macro policy of the
central Government, the banks are relaxing their lending policy
towards the landed properties business. The Group will take this
opportunity to sell its assets in order to optimise its cash flows
and lower the Group's risk on debts.

CENTURY PLACE, KAIFENG

On 9 June 2005, the Group was granted the land use rights of a
development site with in Long Ting District of the city of Kaifeng,
Henan Province, the PRC, which has been developed into a
residential and commercial complex with an estimated gross floor
area of approximately 210,500 sg.m., known as “Century Place,
Kaifeng”. Up to the date of this Annual Report, the construction
of a gross floor area of approximately 190,000 sg.m. has been
completed and a total sales contract sum of approximately
RMB767 million has been achieved. The remaining part of the
land (Section G) is under construction, and it is expected that the
construction will be completed by the last quarter of 2023 and
the pre-sale has already started in the second quarter of 2021.
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The unsold area at the Century Place, Kaifeng consists of the
following:

CURRENT USE

EEENWKR DN

At LSAERREEREREATEE

GROSS FLOOR AREA

ER AR BEEEE

(approximately sg.m.)

(BLA)F 75 oK)

Section A Investment properties — Shops (leased out) 53,600 sg.m.

Al rEWE —mE(2h#) 53,600 75 K

Section B Properties held for sales — Apartments 200 sg.m.

Bl@ FENE — 2F 200°F 75 oK

Car park 78

BE5 78

Section C Properties held for sales — Villas 6,000 sqg.m.

= FEMWE — HE 6,000 75 K

Section D Properties held for sales — Offices 1,200 sqg.m.

D& FEME — PRE 1,200°F 752K

Car park 10

BE5 10

Section E Properties held for sales — Shops 350 sg.m.

El& FEWE — B 350F 75K

Section F Properties held for sales — Shops 11,100 sqg.m.

Fl@ TFEWE — B 11,100 77 K

Car park 89

BE5 89

Section G Properties held for sales under development 20,500 sg.m.
— Apartments and shops

Gl& BRIPEENE — ABNEH 20,500 75 oK

The Group plans to sell Section C together with Section G. It is
because these two sections are adjacent to each other and it is
believed that the synergy effect can bring a higher return to the
Group. Up to the date of this Annual Report, the discussions
regarding any potential sales remained preliminary and no formal
proposal has been put forward by any third party to the Group
and no legally binding agreement or contract relating to such
business cooperation has been entered into by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries. The outcome of any discussion on such
business cooperation is not known as of the date of this Annual
Report and in the event that any agreement or contract regarding
the possible business cooperation with the aforementioned third
party is reached, the Company will comply with the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Up to the date of this Annual Report, the total contract sum
from the pre-sale of Section G properties amounted to
approximately RMB23 million. However as the ownership of the
properties have not yet been ready to be passed to the buyers,
no revenue from sales has been recognised for Zone G during the
Reporting Period.

WORLD EXPO, KAIFENG

On 16 February 2012, the Group successfully won a bid for the
acquisition of land use right of a residential and commercial site
in the city of Kaifeng, the PRC, which has been developed into a
residential and commercial complex with an estimated gross floor
area of approximately 95,000 sq.m., known as “World Expo,
Kaifeng”. Up to the date of this Annual Report, this project has
been completed and achieved a total sales of gross floor area of
approximately 68,000 sq.m. with contract sum of approximately
RMB573 million.

The unsold area at the World Expo, Kaifeng consists of the
following:

CURRENT USE

EEAFHRAY GEVEBELANSEY
A AR #23,000,0000T ° AT AR E B
ERENAEBREER  MAREHERT X
MGERMEREEWA -

EESRCREl -

R-TE—=—F-A+"H KAEEKNPIZ
R4S A BB AT T — 1R (T db bR A T Hb {55 R 4 -
I B B R — (G FT R EE A 4995,000F 75
KZEEREESEER 2HAHEHE
Bl -BEEAFHREHBH ABEEET - &
HEREEHEIEH A68,000F 7K FiEALD
1 EE 4 A R #573,000,0007T °

REEEESHAHERBERERATSA

GROSS FLOOR AREA

ERRR BEEE

(approximately sg.m.)

(LAY T 77 oK)

Commercial Section A Property, plant and equipment — Hotel 14,000 sqg.m.
EAAR ME - BEERE — BE 14,000 75 %
Commercial Section B Properties held for sales — Shops 6,200 sg.m.
% FABE FEWE — BH 6,200 5 K
Residential Blocks 1-3 Properties held for sales — Apartments 7,100 sg.m.
F=E1-31& TEWME — 18 7,100 75 2K
Car park 147

BEIS 147

Trading of medical equipment and home security and
automation products

Medical equipment

The increasing standard of living around the globe, especially in
Hong Kong and major cities in the PRC, and increasing health
awareness, in particular from high-income consumers living in
urban areas, together create additional demand for medical
equipment. Consequently, this segment is expected to continue to
be a worthwhile investment. In the coming reporting period, we
will expand our distribution channels and introduce a broader
range of products to boost sales growth.
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In addition, with the improving standard of living and technology
in Hong Kong, major cities in the PRC and Southeast Asia, the
Group aims to provide a series of solutions to smart city
development for shopping malls, government facilities, border and
airport, etc.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is the sole distributor in
Hong Kong for a medical-grade air purifier, Perfect Particulates
Purification (“PPP"”). PPP air purifiers are developed by a team of
Hong Kong air quality experts and medical professionals. The PPP
air purifiers include different models for various applications.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has set up two
associates, namely Hope4Care Limited (20% owned by the
Group) and UltraX Technologies Co., Ltd. (35% owned by the
Group), with independent third parties.

HopedCare Limited is a research and development company
which engages in inventing intelligent human-computer
interaction rehabilitation training platforms for the elderly and
persons with chronic diseases. The Group cooperates with a
professor from Chinese University of Hong Kong to develop the
online augmented reality and virtual reality training platforms for
stroke survivors and the elderly, including upper limb, lower limb,
balance and coordination exercises. The products specially target
on the elderly and persons with chronic diseases and to provide
online rehabilitation service to improve their quality of life.

UltraX Technologies Co., Ltd. ("UltraX") (SR8 W RIS AR A
Al), is a company incorporated in Taiwan which holds the licence
for trading of medical equipment for both retail and wholesale
markets in Taiwan. UltraX has successfully obtained the
distribution right from Ewac Medical, a world market leader in
aquatic rehabilitation equipment. Based on our experiences in
hydrotherapy products, the Group intends to increase the market
share in Taiwan medical market.

Home security and automation products

Through one of the associates of the Group, Axxonsoft Hong
Kong Limited, the Group continues to promote the application of
artificial intelligence (“Al”) video analysis technology, which can
provide various functions such as preventing loitering, assist in
controlling the spread of diseases, analyzing human posture and
behaviour, and assisting property valuation.
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EEENWR DN

In Hong Kong, we provide people flow analysis services to
financial institutions located in different areas to help them better
understand customer traffic patterns. We also provide advanced
video management platform software to various organizations of
the Hong Kong Government to enhance their monitoring and
management capabilities.

In Mainland China, we have successfully obtained the first
large-scale airport project which integrates multiple different
systems, such as access control systems, intrusion alarm systems
and fire alarm systems, etc.,, while combining over 18,000
channels of video cameras, some of which are equipped with Al
analysis capabilities, to provide more comprehensive physical
security information management services for airport managers.

We actively increase our market share by attending seminars and
exhibitions in order to promote our products and expand the
sales channel.

The Group will continue to adopt efficient cost management
strategies and maintain tight credit control measures to cope with
challenges and to improve competitiveness within the volatile
operating environment. The Directors will continue to make every
effort to maximise the interests of the shareholders of the
Company.

Hotel operations

The Group has signed an agreement with 7HNEEEIE (L8)
BBR7AE] (@ member of IHG Hotels & Resort) to operate the hotel
under the name of “Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng City Center”.
Holiday Inn Express is one of the world-famous selected service
hotel brands. Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng was opened in January
2020.

The Group is taking all practicable measures to cope with
challenges of the COVID-19 Pandemic. The first priority is to
deliver a feeling of safety to our guests. Therefore, we put in
place strict sanitisation and hygiene protocol to ensure guests
returning to stay or dine in the hotel will have complete peace of
mind and full assurance in the hotel’s products and services.
Moreover, we introduced marketing and sales recovery strategies
to target the domestic market for staycation and food menu for
takeaway, and at the same time, taking decisive decision to
reduce operating costs. The Group will continue to improve the
quality of its hotel services to ensure the hotel guests having
enjoyable experiences during their stays in the hotel.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Board will strive for new breakthroughs in terms of industry
and geographic coverage by improving the Group’s corporate
governance to comply with the Listing Rules, increasing the risk
control level, enhancing asset management capability, further
forging a professional and high-quality talent team to seise the
development opportunity and actively develop new customers.
The Group will also pay attention to maintain relationships with
existing customers and explore deeper cooperation with quality
customers in order to achieve steady and long-term development
of the Group.

FUNDRAISING FOR THE PAST TWELVES MONTHS

A.

Rights issue and use of proceeds

On 1 November 2021, the Company implemented a rights
issue (the “Rights Issue”) on the basis of one (1) rights
Share (the “Rights Shares”) for every two (2) existing
ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.10 each (the
“Shares” and each a “Share”) held by the qualifying
shareholders on the record date (3 December 2021, the
“Record Date”) at the subscription price (the
“Subscription Price”) of HK$0.10 per Rights Share to raise
gross proceeds of up to approximately HK$49.9 million
before expenses by way of a rights issue of up to
499,390,200 Rights Shares. The Directors considered that
raising funds by way of the Rights Issue will enable the
Company to strengthen its working capital base and to
enhance its financial position, so as to meet the imminent
need of funds to settle outstanding liabilities owing by the
Company to its creditors in respect of its short-term
borrowings and overdraft facilities, as well as to maintain
its operations. The closing price per Share on 1 November
2021 (being the date on which the terms of Rights Issue
were fixed) was HK$0.108.

On 1 November 2021 (after trading hours), the Company
entered into the underwriting agreement (the
“Underwriting Agreement”) with Koala Securities Limited
and Yellow River Securities Limited (the “Underwriters”),
pursuant to which the Underwriters have conditionally
agreed to underwrite, on a best effort basis, the
underwritten shares of up to 281,421,900 Rights Shares,
subject to the terms and conditions set out in the
Underwriting Agreement.
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On 31 December 2021, the Rights Issue was completed
where 488,940,200 Rights Shares were issued for cash of
HK$0.10 per Share and net proceeds, after related
expenses, of HK$46,707,000 (“Net Proceeds”) were raised.
The net price is approximately HK$0.096 per Share.

Details of the Rights Issue are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 1 November 2021 and 30 December
2021, and the Company’'s prospectus dated 6 December
2021.

As at 31 March 2023, the Net Proceeds had been utilised
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use of Net of 31 March 31 March
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B. Placing of bonds and use of proceeds

On 25 May 2022, the Company entered into a placing
agreement for the placing of unlisted corporate bonds of an
aggregate principal amount of HK$20,000,000. The interest
rate is 10% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears. The
net proceeds from the bond placing will be used by the
Company for general working capital of the Group. As at
the date of this Annual Report, bonds of an aggregate
principal amount of HK$13,000,000 were subscribed for by
one placee.

C. Subscription of bonds and use of proceeds
On 11 August 2022, an independent third party investor
entered into a subscription agreement with the Company
for the subscription of unlisted corporate bonds of an
aggregate principal amount of HK$20,000,000. The interest
rate is 7% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears. The net
proceeds from the bond subscription will be used by the
Company for general working capital of the Group.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 129 employees, 83 of
whom were based in the PRC and the remaining employees were
based in Hong Kong. The total employee benefits expenses
including directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March
2023 was approximately HK$37.7 million as compared with
approximately HK$39.9 million in last year. The decrease was
because of the decrease in salary for the hotel operation due to
the closure under the COVID-19 pandemic. Besides, staff cost
dropped too after the hotel was selected as a quarantine. The
above decrease was partly offset by the increase in commission
bonus to sales people under the trading segment.

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees
were reviewed and approved by the Directors. Apart from
pension funds, in order to attract and retain a high calibre of a
capable and motivated workforce, the Group offers discretionary
bonus and share options to staff based on individual performance
and the achievements of the Group’s targets.
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The Directors herein present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries consist of (a) property
development and investment; (b) trading of medical equipment
and home security and automation products; and (c) operation of
a hotel.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2023 and the
Group's financial position as at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 106 to 109.

No interim dividend was paid during the Year (2022: Nil). The
Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the Year (2022: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company aims to provide a steady return to shareholders
and at the same time to maintain a strong financial position for
investment opportunities and sustainable development in the
future. Dividends proposed or declared, or not recommended, is
subject to financial performance, cash flows and future
investment opportunities of the Group.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting (the “AGM") will be convened and
held on 28 August 2023 (Monday). A notice convening the AGM
will be published and despatched to the shareholders of the
Company in the manner required by the Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the qualification as shareholders
of the Company to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 23 August 2023
to 28 August 2023, both days inclusive. In order to qualify as
shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the AGM,
unregistered holders of shares of the Company are required to
lodge all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 22 August 2023.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties of the Group during the Year are set out in
notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively. Further
details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on page
51 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital and share options
during the Year, if any, are set out in notes 30 and 31 to the
financial statements, respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there was no equity-
linked agreement entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 110 and 111 of this Annual Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available for cash
distribution and/or distribution in specie, computed in accordance
with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
amounted to approximately HK$108,094,000. In addition, the
Company’s share premium account and capital redemption
reserve, in the aggregate amount of approximately
HK$255,310,000, may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
Company may make distributions from its contributed surplus in
certain circumstances.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023 is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 14 to 29 of this Annual
Report. These discussions form part of this “Report of the
Directors”.

This business review is made pursuant to paragraph 28(2)(d) of
Appendix 16 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
published by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”), pursuant to which further analysis of and
discussion on the above principal activities of the Group as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”)
are made. In the opinion of the Directors, the sections headed
“Chairman’s statement” and “Management discussion and
analysis” provide a comprehensive review of the performance of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 as well as its
future prospects.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following is a list of principal risks and uncertainties that are
considered to be of significance and have potential to affect the
Group's businesses, results of operations and financial position.
However, this list is non-exhaustive as there may be other risks
and uncertainties which may arise as a result of changes in
economic and other conditions over time. The Group employs a
risk management and internal control framework to identify
current and foreseeable risks at different levels of the
organisation so as to take preventive actions to avoid or mitigate
their adverse impacts.
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Risks relating to property development and
investment business segment

The property development and investment segment is one of the
major businesses of the Group, particularly in Mainland China.
Accordingly, this segment is subject to economic, political and
legal developments in Mainland China as well as the economies
in the surrounding region. In recent years, property market
movements in Mainland China have been concurrently affected by
the economic trend and government policies, including but not
limited to, the adoption of category-based regulatory measures
and the bilateral regulatory measures for the real estate market,
policy changes in mortgage levels and ownership, interest rate
changes, supply and demand conditions as well as the overall
economic volatility in Mainland China. The Group's property
development and investment business segment is expected to
continue being exposed to these risks, which may affect the
Group's investment strategy as well as its performance. In this
respect, the Group actively assesses the overall economic, political
and legal developments as well as the property markets in other
provinces in Mainland China in deciding viable acquisitions and
selling strategies. For each potential project, detailed feasibility
studies and stress tests in regard to all aspects will be carried out
before an acquisition to minimise the risks.

Risks relating to financial conditions and results of

operation

(i)  The Group's finance costs fluctuate with changes in interest
rates. The Group’s borrowings also
denominated in RMB, in Mainland China. The People’s Bank
of China adjusts its benchmark lending rates from time to
time in response to domestic and global economic changes.
The Group may be affected by changes in the prevailing
interest rates of the global credit market. Any increase in
interest rates in connection with the currencies the Group
borrows will increase the Group’s finance costs and
customers’ mortgage interest rates and may adversely and
materially affect the Group’s businesses, financial position,
results of operations and growth prospects.

include amounts
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(ii)

(iii)

The Group is required to reassess the fair value of its
investment properties at the end of every reporting period
to which financial statements are made up. Pursuant to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, investment
properties are stated at their fair value, and the changes in
their valuation should be taken to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss of the financial period in which
it is incurred. Based on the valuation conducted by
independent external valuers, the Group recognises the
investment properties at fair value and the related deferred
tax in the consolidated statement of financial position, while
the changes in fair value and the related deferred tax of
investment properties are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Therefore, the assumptions
made in the valuation of investment properties would
change under changing market conditions. Notwithstanding
any variations in profit and loss, fair value gains and losses
are non-cash items and will not increase or decrease cash
and cash equivalents. The amount of revaluation adjustment
has been and will continuously be subject to changes in
market conditions. As such, there can be no assurance that
changes in market conditions will continue to generate
gains from fair value changes in investment properties at
similar level or at all, or there will be no decline in the fair
value of the Group’s investment properties. If a property
market in the region where the Group operates slows
down, the fair value of the Group’s investment properties
may decline.

With the majority of the properties located in Mainland
China, the general economic climate, regulatory changes,
government policies and the political conditions in Mainland
China may have a significant impact on the Group’s overall
financial results and condition. The Group’s rental income
may experience more frequent adjustments resulting from
competition due to oversupply in retail and office spaces.
Furthermore, rental levels may also be impacted by external
economic and market conditions including but not limited
to fluctuations in general supply and demand, performance
in stock markets and financial volatility, which may
indirectly affect the Group’s property investment
performance. The spread of COVID-19 pandemic and the
resultant government measures exert economic pressure on
the tenants of the Group. The weak retail markets affect
the Group’s financial results leading to decreases in revenue
and adverse effects on profits and cash flows.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

(ii)

(iii)

AEBEARMBELMBERREREHR
EfEREMENLDTE - REFEY
BREER - WEMER QX FEIER
HiGEZ BN EE Y BURR AL
BEERX - RIBBIINBHEMETH
BE  ARERGEFMBIRARZAF
ERRAREVE UHEIABEETH
B WRGEBRRERREMENR
FEEZHREABRTCHEANEE -
g ETOREE TRHRREYMRMEED
RRMEMES - RE BN MBEE T
B R FERSERIFREEE - BRY
THRMERRE RIREFHEER - Eff
HECHE - BEYREEITRKBF
£ At ARBEARETRESDS
RAREERBE K FREZEEEM
BREMEAFEZSH RO WS - TE
EREARERENENLFERRERD
BT - RIAKEKEMAERRNE
WETSRE  AEEREVENRF
BEXETAE-

AR WERBDLNFE A - FE
Wiz BEEARIR BEEZE) - B
BERRBOAMR A e AR B 2 B
BUBEERRRNBRERTE - A%
EZESWRAFGERTERRAETEM
HE BRI AT oI Bz B3 M IR SR E

o B MEKFIRAIEXBIIMNER
BERMERRTE  BREETRNER

HBERE REMSRALTHEDY
E LA eREYEAEEZYE
REXRR < 2019B R BB RIGERE LK
B AR TR e S AR B 2 B
AEEES - TEMERBTEAKHE
2 EE  BRRARD - LHFE
EREREBRIMNTE -



(iv)

Properties developed by the Group for sale in Mainland China
are subject to Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT"). LAT is
calculated based on proceeds received from the sale of
properties less deductible expenditures as provided in the
relevant tax laws. Pending settlement with the relevant tax
authorities, the Group makes provisions for the amount of
LAT in accordance with the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations from time to time. Provisions for LAT are made
on the Group’s own estimates based on, among other
things, its own apportionment of deductible expenses which
is subject to final confirmation by the relevant tax
authorities upon settlement of the LAT. The Group only
prepays a portion of such provisions each year as required
by the local tax authorities. The Group cannot assure that
the relevant tax authorities will agree with its calculation of
LAT, nor can it assure that the LAT provisions will be
sufficient to cover its LAT obligations in respect of its past
LAT liabilities in relation to its combined property business.
If the relevant tax authorities determine that its LAT exceeds
the LAT prepayments and provisions, and seek to collect
that excess amount, the Group’s cash flows, results of
operations and financial position may be materially and
adversely affected. As there are uncertainties as to when
the tax authorities will enforce the LAT collection and
whether it will apply the LAT collection retrospectively to
properties sold before the enforcement, any payment as a
result of the enforcement of LAT collection may significantly
restrict the Group’s cash flow position, its ability to finance
its land acquisitions and to execute its business plans.

(iv)
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(v The Group operates a hotel in Kaifeng, the PRC. Hotel
performance is usually subject to a high degree of
fluctuations caused by both predictable and unpredictable
factors including seasonality, economic conditions, social
stability, epidemic diseases and ease of traveling. Each
factor has varied the development pattern of the tourism
and hospitality industry. The segment has been adversely
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and respective
governmental responses. Counter measures such as
restriction on cross border travels and social distancing
adopted by governments unavoidably impacted our
operations and financial results leading to a plunge in
revenue, increases in costs and adverse effects on profits
and cash flows. In this respect, hotel segment closely
assesses the impacts of COVID-19 pandemic particularly on
revenue and cash flow as well as cost control and
operational efficiency to mitigate the adverse financial
impacts. It also takes continual reviews of competition, legal
and political changes as well as market trends for setting its
business strategies including marketing and pricing to
protect and drive profitability and cash flow.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES, PERFORMANCE AND
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to maintaining sustainable working
practices and paying close attention to ensure that all resources
are efficiently utilised. The Group strives to become an
environmental-friendly corporation by saving electricity and
encouraging the recycling of office supplies and other materials.

The Group and its business activities are subject to requirements
under various laws. The laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group include, among others, Air
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Environmental Impact Assessment
Ordinance (Chapter 499 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Occupiers Liability Ordinance (Chapter 314 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and Immigration
Ordinance (Chapter 115 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group
has put in place in-house rules containing measures and work
procedures to ensure that the Group’s operation is in compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations.
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The Group’s major business is property development in Mainland
China, which is a heavily-regulated industry. Property developers
must abide by various-laws and regulations, including rules
stipulated by the national and local governments. To engage in
property development, the Group must apply to relevant
government authorities to obtain and renew various licences,
permits, certificates and approvals, including but not limited to,
land use rights certificates, qualification certificates for property
developers, construction work commencement permits,
construction work planning permits, construction land planning
permits and pre-sale permits. Before government authorities issue
or renew any certificate or permit, the Group must meet the
relevant requirements. Set out below is a summary of certain
aspects of Mainland China legal and regulatory provisions relating
to our property development and investment operations and
business. These include laws and regulations relating to:

o Establishment of a real estate development enterprise
o Qualification of a real estate developer

o Land for property development

o Sale of commodity properties

o Transfer of real estate

o Mortgages of real estate

o Real estate management

° Measures on stabilising property prices

o PRC taxation

o Foreign currency exchange

o Labour protection

The Group is committed to complying with the above laws and

regulations and for the year ended 31 March 2023, there was no
reported case of material non-compliance.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group prides itself on providing a safe, effective and
congenial work environment. Adequate arrangements, training
and guidelines are implemented to ensure the working
environment is healthy and safe. The Group provided health and
safety communications for employees to present the relevant
information and raise awareness of occupational health and safety
issues. The Group values the health and well-being of staff. In
order to provide employees with health coverage, staff are
entitled to medical insurance benefits as well as other health
awareness programs.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a headcount of 129
employees (2022: 173), 83 of whom were based in the PRC and
the remaining employees were based in Hong Kong. Salaries of
employees are maintained at a competitive level and are reviewed
annually, with close reference to the relevant labour market as
well as the minimum wages guideline as prescribed by the local
government from time to time. The total employee benefits
expenses including directors’ emoluments for the year ended
31 March 2023 was approximately HK$37.7 million as compared
with approximately HK$39.9 million last year. The decrease was
because of the decrease in salary for the hotel operation due to
the closure under the COVID-19 Pandemic. Besides, staff cost
dropped too after the hotel was selected as a quarantine. The
above decrease was partly offset by the increase in commission
bonus to sales people under the trading segment.

The Group awards discretionary bonuses to eligible employees
based upon profit achievements of the Group and individual
performance. The Company has also adopted a share option
scheme in order to attract and retain the best available personnel
and to align the interests of the employees with the Group’s
interests. Being people-oriented, the Group ensures all staff are
reasonably remunerated and continues to improve and regularly
review and update its policies on remuneration and benefits,
training, and occupational health and safety.

The Group also stays connected with its customers and suppliers
and has on-going communication with the customers and
suppliers through various channels such as telephone, electronic
mails and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and
suggestions.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE
PROVISION

Each Director or other officers of the Company shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his or her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. The Group has maintained
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect of
relevant legal actions against the Directors and officers of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2023.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group in
the past five years is set out on pages 251 to 252 of this Annual
Report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, sales to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for approximately 37% (2022: 34%)
of the total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein amounted to approximately 16% (2022: 16%).
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 66% (2022: 62%) of the total purchases for the
year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to approximately 41% (2022: 21%).

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) or any other shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in
any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the
year.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. TJIA Boen Sien*®
(Managing Director and Chairman)
Mr. WANG Jing Ning*®
Mr. TJIA Wai Yip, William
Ms. TSE Hoi Ying

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond*#@

Mr. SIU Kam Chau**@

Ir Siu Man Po

Mr. Song Sio Chong*#@

* audit committee members
# remuneration committee members
e nomination committee members

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien, Dr. Ho Chung tai, Raymond, Ir Siu Man Po
and Mr. Song Sio Chong will retire by rotation according to the
Company’s Bye-Laws and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM to be held on Monday,
28 August 2023.

The Company considers that Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Ir Siu
Man Po, Mr. Siu Kam Chau and Mr. Song Sio Chong are
independent pursuant to the criteria set out in the Listing Rules
and that it has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of them.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the employing company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meeting. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company'’s board of Directors with reference to Directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group. For
further details of the Directors’ emoluments, please refer to note
8 to the financial statements.

Please refer to the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” in pages 53 to 60 in this
Annual Report for biographical information in respect of the
Directors and senior management.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in paragraph headed “Continuing connected
transactions”, “Rights Issue and use of proceeds” and note
38 to the financial statements, no Director, a connected entity of
a Director nor a controlling shareholder of the Company had a
material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the
business of the Group to which any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and/or administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended
31 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including the interests and short positions which he would
be deemed or taken to have under Section 344 and 345 of the
SFO) or pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies, were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company:

EERFTETBRAERKRG - HEK
DREZHNESERKXRE

RZEZ=F=A=+—H XRAISNE
ERFETHABRARRREMBEEZE (E
ZRABHFNPEKRN((BFRBESKRG) F
XVER) 2 fgfn « MR HN RMEFELHLAR
AIREES MBS ROIEIS2EET 2 BREHR
fim - SKEAEMBAREZESRBEEMSE
XVESETRESH HMARE LT AR ESHET
BHR G HEESTRIZEME RNA G LB R
ZHEZRAR (BIEREZESFRBEKRNE
3445 R F 345 W RIEXR EIEER v m &
KE)WMAT -

REQXFARDREBROOFR

Number of shares held, capacity and nature of interest

FEROHE - BORESME

Percentage

of the

Directly Through Company's

beneficially controlled issued share

owned corporation Total capital

(Note 2) (Note 2) (Note 3)

HARAT

HiE EBEE 2RIT

BERER - a5 BRABA L

Name of Directors EEng (MigE2) (MigE2) (MEEE3)

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien (“Mr. Tjia") HESE((HEE]D 129,002,400 (L) 524,902,500 (L) 653,904,900 44.58
(Note 1) (B

Mr. Wang Jing Ning TRELRE 39,644,100 (L) — 39,644,100 2.70

Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William M EEE 3,600,000 (L) — 3,600,000 0.25

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond fERELT 727,500 (L) — 727,500 0.05

Ir Siu Man Po FESOK TR2AM 1,580,000 (L) — 1,580,000 0.11
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Notes:

1. Sparta Assets Limited (“Sparta Assets”), a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia, is beneficially interested
in 524,902,500 shares of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Tjia is deemed to
be interested in 524,902,500 shares of the Company held by Sparta Assets
by virtue of the SFO.

2. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares of
the Company.

3. The calculation is based on the total number of 1,466,820,600 Shares in issue
as at 31 March 2023.

Long positions in Sparta Assets, being an associated
corporation:

i -
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Number of shares held, capacity and nature of interest

FEROEE SORESEME

Percentage of

Directly Through the Sparta

beneficially controlled Assets issued

owned corporation Total share capital

{Sparta

Assets

HE EBATEH 2#1T

Name of Director EEpgg BxEs =] &&t BAF S

Mr. Tjia* WA 1,000 — 1,000 100.00
* Sparta Assets, a company incorporated in BVI and wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia, * Sparta Assets (— A BB fE 22 B S i A L W A

is beneficially interested in 524,902,500 ordinary shares of the Company.

The interests of the Directors in the share options of the
Company are separately disclosed in the section headed “Share
option scheme” below.

Save as disclosed above and note 31 to the financial statements,
none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ interests and
short positions in shares and underlying shares” above and
“Share option scheme” below, and share option scheme
disclosures set out in note 31 to the financial statements, at no
time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor
children, nor were any such rights exercised by them; nor was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme
during the year:

Number of share options

BREHE

EERBRONEFNER

£ TEE R R AP & 48 B8 MR 40 #9 B 55 I ¢
Bl —# R T BRER & &M %R T
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Price of the Company’s shares*

ARG ER

Exercise price of

At grant date

Names or category At 1 April Lapsed during At 31 March  Date of grant of Exercise period of share options of options
of participants 2022 the year 2023  share options share options HK$ per share  HKS per share
RERE
RZBZZF RER RZBZZHF BRETEE REBH
SRENLRER mE—H X¥ ZAZt-B BRESLAH BRETES ERRHGERT  BRRGER
Directors:
Bz
Mr. Tjia Boen Sien 829,629 (829,629) — 27 November 2020 27 November 2020 to 26 0.1205 0.113
November 2022
HXEEE “Z-FF+-A “ECRE+-ACttHEE
oy = ZECCET-AZFAH
Mr. Wang Jing Ning 9,333,333 (9,333,333) — 27 November 2020 27 November 2020 to 26 0.1205 0.113
November 2022
TRELE “Z-TFT-R ZZZZEF-AZttHE
~t++tH B S VAN =
Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William 8,296,296 (8,296,296) — 27 November 2020 27 November 2020 to 26 0.1205 0.113
November 2022
R ZE-TFT-R ZZ-FF+-AZt++tHZE
—++A ZRICET-AZTRE
Ms. Tse Hoi Ying 6,222,222 (6,222,222) — 27 November 2020 27 November 2020 to 26 0.1205 0.113
November 2022
#ERTL “Z-FF+-A “ECRE+-ACttHEE
oy = I i I N =
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, 829,629 (829,629) — 27 November 2020 27 November 2020 to 26 0.1205 0.113
Raymond November 2022
AERELT “Z-FFT-R ZZZZEF-AZ+tHE
~t++tH B S VAN =
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Number of share options
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Price of the Company’s shares*

BREYA AN ERBER*
Exercise price of At grant date
Names or category At 1 April Lapsed during At 31 March  Date of grant of Exercise period of share options of options
of participants 2022 the year 2023 share options share options HK$ per share  HKS per share
REBRE
R-F-ZF RER R-B=-Z% BRETHEE Bt A E
SREEAGER mA—AH %% ZA=t-H BREKLEH FE R TR SREAET  SRRHET
Ir Siu Man Po 829,629 (829,629) — 27 November 2020 27 November 2020 to 26 0.1205 0.113
November 2022
EOR TRRA kS 2 “ECEF+-A-ttHHE
—t++tH i St S s WNE
Mr. Siu Kam Chau 829,629 (829,629) — 27 November 2020 27 November 2020 to 26 0.1205 0.113
November 2022
BEBMEE “Z-%F+-R “RoBRET-A-TLHE
—t++H “E--F+-AZ+KH
27,170,367 (27,170,367) —
Other employees, in 6,481,484 (6,481,484) — 27 November 2020 27 November 2021 to 26 0.1205 0.113
aggregate November 2022
HitEE A5t I “R--Ft—-AZt++tRE
= ZEZZF+—-A=+RH
6,484,484 (6,484,484) —
Total 33,651,851  (33,651,851)** —
At

* %

The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as at the date of grant of the
share options is the Stock Exchange closing price on the trading day
immediately prior to the date of grant of the options. The price of the
Company’s shares disclosed immediately before the exercise date of the
share options is the weighted average of the Stock Exchange closing price
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised over all of
the exercises of options within the disclosure line.

An aggregate of 33,651,851 Share Options lapsed during the Year as they
were not exercised before the relevant exercise period expired on
26 November 2022.

Further details of the Scheme are included in note 31 to the
financial statements.

* %

B S

MERREBEEFRAAF

REREREASRBEORDAROERRER
BRI L A BRI 22 5 A AVER S PR T (B © BRREE
g T A IR B AR RRMD B - AMABA
FTHRENBRETEEET - EEAEBRETE
B AR 22 P AR P U B -

£333,651,851 (I IER AGFE AR UbTiH
REERBITEINR -_FT_—_F+—A=1XA
JE T A R AT

N WA ES -

ZET=FFR

45



46

Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’" AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, so far as is known to the Directors of the
Company, the following persons/entities (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) had an interest or short
position in shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under Division 2 and
3 of part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register of
interests of the Company required to be kept pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:

FERRREMALRRG REER
DHEERAR

RZZF_=F=ZA=1+—H BARAESF
PR TOIAL BB (BEERAQAETET
BABBRIN) RAR B SKARRER D -
BREES LR EROIFEXVEFE2 R FE3DH
BRNRARE  REHARRBIRIEES
KB IGRDIE336IRZRNEREF 2 EmBRL
HMEOERIORE

Long positions: HR:
Percentage of
Number of the Company’s
ordinary issued share
Capacity and nature shares held Capital
Name of interest (Note 3) (Note 4)
LR NN
21T
FEEBEREE BAEAB DL
=L SOREREME (Pf&E3) (Fff=E4)
Sparta Assets (Note 1) Beneficial owner 524,902,500 (L) 35.79
Sparta Assets (Fi#E1) E=EAA
Granda Overseas Holding Co. Ltd. Beneficial owner 260,548,110 (L) 17.76
("Granda”) (Note 2)
Granda Overseas Holding Co. Ltd. E=BEAA
([Grandal) (F17E2)
Mr. Chen Huofa Interests of controlled 260,548,110 (L) 17.76
corporation
BR N S RPEEE 2w
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Notes:

1. Sparta Assets, a company incorporated in BVI and wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia,
is beneficially interested in 524,902,500 shares of the Company. Accordingly,
Mr. Tjia is deemed to be interested in 524,902,500 shares of the Company
held by Sparta Assets by virtue of the SFO.

2. Granda, a company incorporated in the BVI and wholly-owned by Mr. Chen
Huofa, is beneficially interested in 260,548,110 shares of the Company.
Accordingly, Mr. Chen Huofa is deemed to be interested in 260,548,110
shares of the Company held by Granda by virtue of the SFO.

3. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares of
the Company.

4. The calculation is based on the total number of 1,466,820,600 Shares in issue
as at 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Company has
not been notified of any other interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required
to be notified to the Company under Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or were recorded in the register of interests required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALES OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2023.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There was no change of the capital structure of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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i -

1. Sparta Assets (— A B iR 2 B S i AL W A
HEE2ERBZRR)EZHEAARNRAA
524,902,500/ k7 - Bt - RIBFFEH R E K
] - 8 5 £ 448 B Sparta Assetsii B 2 AN A @]
524,902,500 f% i 17 2 #E A #E 7= o

2. Granda (— I/ B BR 22 B B s AR 32 30 R PR ACE
SEREMB AR BERlBANE260,548,110
ARAR1D - Bt - RIBFHFRBAEGKRD - BRAELEE
R AR Granda ¥ A 2 AN A 7)260,548, 110 4% iz 17
PR

3. [LIRKREBALTRARREBERMDHITFE -

4. HENRR_E-=F=A=+—AB%BTRH
4A$11,466,820,600 4% i {5 °

BEXHEEEN R-B_=F=A=1+—
B AREAEEMNENARE R KA
Betn s B EARERE 75 R B EPIEXVEE
2RFEIDEAMEARE  REHARRF]
RIEEZ MIERDIEIB6HFIRERAEFZ
BEELAMHEMERIORS -

BE BEHELTRES

ARRHEEFMHBARARBE T _=F
ZA=+-HILEFEYEEE BRxLE
RRRZEMETES -

BEAREE
ARNBREBE S -_=F=_A=1+—HILF
EREREBIL mESH -

BLRBEERE

A D AR o B R B R E AR RIA
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION TO HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any relief or exemption available to
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Company’s shares.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Share Option
Scheme” in this section, no equity-linked agreement was entered
into by the Group during the year under review or subsisted at
the end of the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Leases of office premises in Hong Kong

On 20 April 2020, Grand On Enterprise Limited (“Grand On”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a tenancy
agreement (“Tenancy Agreement”) with Fitness Concept Limited
("FCL"), a company wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia, the Managing
Director and Chairman and a substantial shareholder of the
Company, for the leasing of a property of the Group in Hong
Kong. The Tenancy Agreement was for a term of three years
from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023, with a rental of
HK$25,500 per month payable in advance. On 1 May 2021, the
monthly rental was revised to HK$17,500. The annual rental fee
payable by FCL to Grand On for the year ended 31 March 2023
did not exceed HK$210,000.

On 20 March 2023, Grand On entered into a renewed tenancy
agreement (“Renewed Tenancy Agreement”) with FCL for the
leasing of a property of the Group in Hong Kong. The Renewed
Tenancy Agreement was for a term of one year from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2024, with a rental of HK$18,000 per month
payable in advance. The annual rental fee payable by FCL to
Grand On for the financial year ending 31 March 2024 are not
expected to exceed HK$216,000.
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Given that Mr. Tjia is the Managing Director and Chairman of the
Company and a substantial shareholder of the Company
interested in an aggregate of approximately 44.58% equity
interest in the Company at the time entering into the Renewed
Tenancy Agreement, FCL, being wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia, is a
connected person of the Company within the meaning of the
Listing Rules, the transaction therefore constitutes a continuing
connected transaction of the Company.

As each of the applicable percentage ratios of the transaction
under the Tenancy Agreement calculated with reference to the
annual rental fee payable by FCL to Grand On was less than 5%
and the total considerations involved were less than
HK$3,000,000, pursuant to Rule 14A.33 of the Listing Rules, the
transactions were exempted from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements of the Listing Rules.

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
The properties held for sale under development of the Group are
as follows:
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ERHEEDARRZEFTHLEEREFE
RIZEBHEMEBRAAXLRARALY
44 58% HEF AR Z A RA EERR
RMERIZ(HHEE2EHEB)RELTRA
ZRBEBRARNRZEEANLT  FUZERS
BAARB —HFEHEERS -

HREERBEE T IR L EMFAIEEN
FTHEZEFEHRCERIEZBRERE D
bE EARA5% 1M b K 4B (B 2> 523,000,000
BT RIEETRANE14A33E  ZRX5E
ReBETLEMRAZEE FEEZR  RF
KB REIEZIRE -

MEF
AEEERPEENENT

Attributable Expected

interest of the Stage of completion Gross floor
Location Group completion date Expected use area
b B REEEGERS TRER AR B AR EEEE
Section G 100% Construction 2024 Residential/ 20,500 sg.m.
1 Xi Da Jie stage commercial
Kaifeng City complex
Henan Province
PRC
BN & T 100% B RRPE R —ToWE FEEELEAE S 20,500FFK
FEAH 5] EH
Gl&

MERREBREEAFRAT —To=FFH
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The properties held for sale of the Group are as follows: REBF

Attributable

YIEMT

interest of the Gross floor
Location Group Tenure  Current use area
ith, B AEEBIGERS FH BATAR EEER
Phase | to IV of 100% The properties are held for Residential/ 87,647 sq.m.
Asian Villas City Square a term of 70 years, commercial
Southern Area commencing on 13 May 1998 complex
Jinpen Industrial and expiring on 12 May 2068
Development Zone
Haikou
Hainan Province
PRC
i 100% ZEMEFH =,/ 87,647F K
BEE BH—ANANFERAT=HZ HEiHFEER
O™ ZEANFERATZHI
ERIXMAERE RE70%F
A &
DMK T E S
E—Z 8
Sections B to F 100% The properties are held for Residential/ 136,591 sg.m.
1 Xi Da lJie a term of 70 years, commercial
Kaifeng City commencing on 15 June 2005 complex
Henan Province and expiring on 15 June 2075
PRC
B 100% ZEMEFH F=E/ 136,591F 75K
A H-ZTRFAAATHHEZEZ BEHFEHER
FE ™ —EtAFANA+THEBL
PEAE15% RE705F
BZF&
Commercial Zone A, B, C 100% The properties are held for Commercial 81,007 sg.m.
and D a term of 40 years,
Core Lot No. 2012-1 commencing on 3 June 2013
Zheng Kai Avenue and expiring on 13 May 2053
Kaifeng City
Henan Province
PRC
A 100% ZLEMEFBH ¥ 81,007F 5K
AmERED BH-ZE—=FA=AZ%

BEFE K38 2012-155 = 4
AB CKDE%R

“ER=FRA+=8I"
BERA0F
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The investment properties of the Group are as follows: REEREMENT -

Attributable

interest of Gross floor
Location the Group Tenure Lease term  Current use area
1t 2 rEEEGES FH iR B A A% EEEE
12 Haixiu Avenue 100% The properties are held for Long Commercial 22,803 sg.m.
Meilan District a term of 70 years,
Haikou commencing on 15 September
Hainan Province 2006 and expiring on
PRC 14 September 2076
& 100% REMEEH =3l BmE  22803FHK
BEE M-_ZTERFAATRAE
B/Om “EERFAATEA L
e AET705F
BEEE125%
Section A 100% The properties are held for Long Commercial 53,624 sg.m.
1 Xi Da lJie a term of 70 years,
Kaifeng City commencing on 15 June 2005
Henan Province and expiring on 15 June 2075
PRC
o 100% REMEEH = BE  53,624THK
ZIEE HB_ZZRFAATHRE
R ™ “E+RERATRBL
AARHE15% REIT0F
Alz
Phase | to IV of 100% The properties are held for Long Commercial 29,325 sqg.m.
Asian Villas City a term of 70 years,
Square commencing on 13 May 1998
Southern Area and expiring on 12 May 2068
Jinpen Industria
Development Zone
Haikou
Hainan Province
PRC
 Ef 100% ZEMEFH =8 mE 29325FHK
E1E) H—ANNFRAT=HZE
/oM ZERXNFERATZBL:
TRTEHER RET0F
HE
MR T ES
E—ZMH
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares were held by the public
throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in
accordance with the requirements of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices for the purpose of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’s internal controls, risk management
and financial reporting matters, including the review of the
annual results for the year ended 31 March 2023, and adequacy
of resources and qualifications of the Company’s accounting staff.
The audit committee comprises of three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Dr. Ho Chung Tai,
Raymond, Mr. Siu Kam Chau and Mr. Song Sio Chong. Mr. Siu
Kam Chau is the Chairman of the committee.

The annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023 have been reviewed by the audit committee members who
have provided advice and comments thereon.

AUDITOR

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming AGM. A
resolution for their reappointment as auditor of the Company will
be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Tjia Boen Sien
Managing Director and Chairman

Hong Kong
29 June 2023
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. TJIA Boen Sien (“Mr. Tjia”), aged 79, is one of the
co-founders of the Group. He is the Managing Director and
Chairman of the Company. Mr. Tjia is the member of
remuneration committee and the member of nomination
committee of the Board. Mr. Tjia is well respected and has
established connections in the PRC construction industry through
his extensive experience. He has over 40 years' experience in the
construction industry in the PRC and Hong Kong. Mr. Tjia is
responsible for the overall corporate strategy and the daily
operations of the Group, including business development and
overall management.

He graduated from chemistry studies at the Huagiao University
(ZEBKE) in the PRC in July 1966. He was admitted as member
of The Chartered Institute of Building in November 1996 and is a
professional member of The Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors since October 2002. Mr. Tjia previously served as the
vice chairman and honourable member of Zhan Tian You Civil
Engineering Science and Technology Development Fund
Management Committee (XA T AT BRI ERMBERASER

%Z89)

In the past three years, Mr. Tjia was the chairman and
non-executive director of Smart City Development Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Deson Construction International
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8268), a company listed on the
GEM of Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, for a period from
16 December 2014 to 29 July 2019.

Mr. Tjia is father of Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William (Executive Director
of the Company) and Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, Irene (Executive Director
of the Company).

Mr. WANG lJing Ning (“Mr. Wang”), aged 67, is an executive
Director of the Company and was appointed as a director of the
Company in September 1993. Mr. Wang is a member of the
remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee of the Board. He is also a director of various main
operating subsidiaries of the Group, among others, Deson
Ventures (HK) Limited, Winsome Properties Limited and Honour
Advance Limited. Mr. Wang has over 40 years’ experience in
hotel management and construction engineering in Mainland
China and Hong Kong. He is responsible for managing the
Group’s projects in Mainland China.
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Mr. TJIA Wai Yip, William (“Mr. William Tjia”), aged 47, is an
executive Director of the Company since January 2015.
Mr. William Tjia joined the Group in February 2000. He is a
director of Deson Innovative Limited since July 2005, one of the
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 23 years of experience
in business management. He is responsible for A.l. business of
the Group and the Group’s development including property
investment and overall management. He graduated from the City
University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Arts with Honours
Degree in Information Systems in 1998. He is the son of Mr. Tjia
Boen Sien, the Managing Director and Chairman of the Group
and the younger brother of Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, Irene, the
Executive Director of the Company.

Ms. TSE Hoi Ying, Irene (“Ms. Tse”), aged 51, is an executive
Director of the Company since 1 March 2022. Ms. Tse joined the
Group in August 1999. She is the director of the Group's
subsidiaries, Medical Technologies Limited, Allied Health Elements
Company Limited and Medical Technologies Engineering Limited.
She is also the director of the Group’s associate company, namely
UltraX Technologies Company Limited, a Taiwan company which
holds appropriate importer medical equipment license as well as
providing medical equipment distribution to Taiwan hospitals.
Ms. Tse is also a director of another associates start-up company,
Hope4Care Ltd. with the cooperation of the professor from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong which aims to bring HK
invented technologies into the world. In 2022-23, Hope4Care
products has won some major awards such as TSSSU+ (the
Technology Start-up Support Scheme for Universities) from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong as well as silver award in
International Exhibition of Inventions Geneva 2023. Ms. Tse is
responsible for building distribution network for medical and
healthcare equipment, sometimes with engineering work required
to get the site ready for equipment installation. Ms. Tse has set
up a medical engineering company for the Group for building the
first medical grade modular hydrotherapy pool in Asia. As for the
emerging market for occupational safety, Ms. Tse also introduces
different safety tools to prevent work injuries. She also provides
related consulting business for the Group regarding healthcare
area. Ms. Tse graduated from the University of British Columbia
(Canada) with a Bachelor of Arts (Psychology) in May 1995.

Ms. Tse was elected as the President of the Rotary Club of Hong
Kong (RCOHK), the most senior club in HK, for 2023/2024.
RCOHK is dedicated to bringing business and professional leaders
together to provide humanitarian services to the community and
promote high ethical standards in all vocations.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. TSE Hoi Ying, Irene (Continued)

She is the daughter of Mr. Tjia Boen Sien, the Managing Director
and Chairman of the Group and the elder sister of Mr. William
Tjia, an executive Director of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. HO Chung-Tai, Raymond (“Dr. Ho"), sBs, MBE, S.B. st J, JP,
aged 84, is an independent non-executive Director of the
Company and was appointed as a director of the Company in
September 1993.

Dr. Ho has 60 years' experience in the fields of civil, structural,
energy, environmental and geotechnical engineering and direct
project management of many mega size engineering projects
including 50 years in Hong Kong and 10 years in the United
Kingdom. He has direct management responsibility in the HK$3.0
billion (cost at the time) project of Electrification and
Modernisation of Kowloon-Canton Railway (now called “The East
Rail”) from the mid-70's till early 80’'s; and all the
government-funded infrastructure works for Shatin New Town and
Tseung Kwan O New Town from early 80's till the end of 1993,
experience including construction of tunnels, bridges, flyovers,
roads, dockyards, wharves, jetties, hospitals, hotels, incinerators,
high-rise  commercial/residential buildings, slopes, reclamation,
chimneys, Hong Kong Ocean Park, environmental studies and
environmental protection projects.

Dr. Ho holds a doctorate degree in civil engineering from the City
University of London, United Kingdom; Honourary Doctor of
Business Administration from the City University of Hong Kong;
Honourary Doctor of Laws from University of Manchester, United
Kingdom; a postgraduate diploma in geotechnical engineering
from Manchester University, United Kingdom; and a bachelor
degree in civil engineering from the University of Hong Kong; and
was awarded Honourary University Fellow of The University of
Hong Kong and Honourary University Fellow of The University of
Central Lancashire, United Kingdom.
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Dr. HO Chung-Tai, Raymond (Continued)

Dr. Ho was formerly a partner and senior director of Maunsell
Consultants Asia Limited from January 1976 to August 1993.
Dr. Ho was formerly Hong Kong Deputy to the 10th & 11th
terms of National People’s Congress of the PRC, member of the
1st, 2nd, 3rd & 4th terms of Legislative Council (Engineering
Functional Constituency) (1998-2012), member of the Provisional
Legislative Council (1996-1998), President of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers (1987/1988), Member of the Former Basic
Law Consultation Committee, Founding Council Chairman of the
City University of Hong Kong, Council Chairman of the former
City Polytechnic of Hong Kong, Chairman of Hong Kong
Technology Committee of the Industry & Technology
Development Council (ITDC) and member of ITDC, Chairman of
the Transport Advisory Committee, Hong Kong Affairs Adviser,
Chairman of the Infrastructure Development Services Advisory
Committee of the HKTDC, board member of the Hong Kong
Airport Authority (2008-2014), member of the Court of the City
University of Hong Kong, member of the Chinese Medicine
Consultative Committee of the School of Chinese Medicine of
Hong Kong Baptist University, member of Consultative Committee
on the New Airport and Related Projects, Professional Advisor
(Architecture, Engineering and Surveying) to the Ombudsman of
HKSAR and member of the Gas Safety Advisory Committee.
Currently, Dr. Ho is Honorary Chairman and Past Chairman of
Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Plant, LingAo Nuclear Plant Safety
Consultative Committee.

Dr. Ho currently is the director of the following companies which
are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”):

An Independent Non-executive Director

GCL Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known as GCL-Poly
Energy Holdings Limited) (stock code: 3800)

ChinLink International Holdings Limited (stock code: 997)

AP Rentals Holdings Limited (stock code: 1496)

Superland Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 368)

Dr. Ho has been the director of the following companies which
are listed on the Stock Exchange in the past three years:
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Dr. HO Chung-Tai, Raymond (Continued)

the non-executive chairman of Veson Holdings Limited (formerly
known as SCUD Group Limited) (stock code: 1399) for the period
from 27 September 2018 to 16 June 2020; and

an independent non-executive director of Fu Shek Financial
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2263) for the period from 22
January 2020 to 1 October 2021.

Ir SIU Man-po (“Ir Siu”), is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company since September 2001.

Ir Siu was awarded the MEDAL OF HONOUR (MH) by the Chief
Executive of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (HKSAR) in July 2004 for his dedication and
meritorious services to the development of engineering profession
in Hong Kong.

Ir Siu, aged 85, obtained his Master of Science in Civil
Engineering in 1963 from Auburn University in Auburn, Alabama,
U.S.A.

Ir Siu has extensive experience in construction field including the
construction of Tsing Yi Power Station in 1966-1977, MTR
stations in 1977-1987, and Hong Kong Baptist University campus
development in 1989-1999. Ir Siu was the Managing Director of
Ho Wang Siu Mak Management Ltd. (an engineering consultancy
company) from 2008 to 2019.

Ir Siu is a Fellow Member of the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers and the American Society of Civil Engineers.
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Mr. SIU Kam Chau (“Mr. Siu”), aged 58, joined the Company
in March 2014 as an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Siu
is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, and member of the Nomination
Committee of the Board. Mr. Siu graduated from the City
University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’'s degree in
Accountancy. He is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is also a Certified Public Accountant
(practising) in Hong Kong. Mr. Siu has over 30 years of working
experience in auditing, accounting, company secretarial and
corporate finance. Mr. Siu was an executive director of Power
Financial Group Limited (stock code: 397) from 29 April 2020 to
21 June 2021 and is currently an independent non-executive
director of Wang On Group Limited (stock code: 1222) both of
which are companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

Mr. SONG Sio Chong (“Mr. Song”), aged 68, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company from 1 May 2023.
Mr. Song is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee, the
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Board.

Mr. Song has more than 25 years of experience in structural
design, site supervision and contract management. Mr. Song
graduated from the Hong Kong Baptist College (now known as
the Hong Kong Baptist University) Civil Engineering Department
with a Diploma in June 1979 and was awarded Associateship in
Civil and Structural Engineering from Hong Kong Polytechnic
(now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in
November 1982. Mr. Song obtained a Master Degree of Business
Administration and a Doctoral Degree of Chinese Literature from
Hong Kong Chu Hai College (formerly known as Chu Hai
University) in July 1983 and June 1988, respectively. He also
obtained a Bachelor Degree in Law, Master Degree in Civil Law
and Doctoral Degree in Constitutional and Administrative Laws
from Peking University in July 1991, July 1996 and July 1999,
respectively, and further received his Certified Postgraduate
Examination Diploma in English Law and Hong Kong Law from
The Manchester Metropolitan University of the United Kingdom
("UK") in September 2001. Mr. Song is a member of both The
Institution of Structural Engineers of the UK and The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers. He is also a Registered Professional
Engineer (Structural) in Hong Kong and a Class 1 Registered
Structural Engineer in the People’s Republic of China.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. SONG Sio Chong (Continued)

Mr. Song was appointed as the honorary consultant of China Law
Office from July 2003 to July 2008. He served as a part-time
member of the Central Policy Unit of the Government of Hong
Kong from 2007 to 2008 and was a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese Association of Hong Kong & Macao
Studies from 2016 to 2022. He has been a full-time professor of
the Centre for Basic Laws of Hong Kong and Macau Special
Administrative Region at Shenzhen University from 2010 to
2022.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LAM Wing Wai, Angus (“Mr. Lam”), aged 47, joined the
Group in September 2005. He is the Company Secretary and the
Financial Controller of the Group. He is responsible for
monitoring all the Group’s accounting, finance, listing compliance
and company secretarial functions. He holds a Bachelor Degree in
Business Administration from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Before joining the
Group, he has several years’ experience with an international
accounting firm.

In the past three years, Mr. Lam was the company secretary and
financial controller of Smart City Development Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Deson Construction International Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 8268), a company listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange, for the period from 8 January 2015 to 29 July
2019.

Mr. KWOK Chun Fai (“Mr. Kwok"”), aged 79, joined the Group
in February 1991. He is the project manager of the Group and is
responsible for the Group’s construction projects in Mainland
China. He has over 49 years’ experience in the industry. He
graduated from Fujian Overseas Chinese University in Mainland
China in Civil Industrial and Civil Building. He obtained the
International Engineering and Professional Manager Qualification
Certificate and is a Member of Architectural Society of Chinese.
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Mr. WONG Suen Ping (“Mr. Wong”), aged 38, joined the
Group in February 2006. He is the Senior Product Manager of
Deson Innovative Limited and Axxonsoft Hong Kong Limited, and
appointed as the Director of SecurePlus Limited in May 2020,
which are the subsidiaries or associate company of the Group.
Mr. Wong is primarily responsible for the trading business of
Security System and Smart loT equipment, and further responsible
for the business development and company operation. He has
over 17 years of experience in this industry. He graduated from
the City University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Engineering
with Honours Degree in Electronics Engineering (Electronics and
Communication) in year 2012.

Mr. MAK Nikan (“"Mr. Mak”), aged 37, joined the Group in
August 2006. He is the General Manager of Medical
Technologies Limited and appointed as the Director of the
company in April 2021. Mr. Mak also appointed as the Director
of Allied Health Elements Company Limited in February 2020 and
both of these companies are the subsidiaries of the Group. The
main responsibility of Mr. Mak is to oversee the business
development, financing, sales performance and coordination with
the manufacturers and business partners. He has over 17 years of
experience in rehabilitation and medical equipment. He has been
studied in the University of Western Australia in Physiology in
years 2004-2006.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to a high standard of corporate
governance practices and business ethics in enhancing the
confidence of shareholders, investors, employees, creditors and
business partners and also the growth of its business. The
Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles (“Principles”) and the code provisions (“Code
Provisions”) as set out in Part 2 of Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The
Company has complied with most of the Code Provisions
throughout the year ended 31 March 2023 save for the deviation
from the Code Provision C.2.1, details of which are explained
below. The Company regularly reviews its corporate governance
practices in order to meet the rising expectations of stakeholders
and comply with increasingly stringent regulatory requirements,
and to fulfill its commitment to excellent corporate governance.

Summary of deviations from the CG Code:

Code Provision C.2.1

Code Provision C.2.1 requires that the roles of Chairman and
chief executive (or in the context of the Company, the Managing
Director) should be separated and should not be performed by
the same individual.

Mr. Tjia is the Chairman of the Board and is holding the office of
Managing Director of the Company. Having considered the
existing structure and composition of the Board and operations of
the Group in Hong Kong and Mainland China, the Board believes
that vesting the roles of both chairman and managing director in
Mr. Tjia facilitates effective implementation and execution of its
business strategies by, and ensure a consistent leadership for, the
Group. Further, a balance of power and authority between the
Board and management can be ensured by the operation of the
Board, whose members (including the four independent
non-executive directors) are individuals of high calibre with ample
experience, such that the interests of shareholders can be
safeguarded. The Company will continue to review the structure
and composition of the Board from time to time to ensure that a
balance of power and authority between the Board and
management is appropriately maintained for the Group.
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TERERRSE

THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
AND PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the important role of its Board of
Directors (“Board”) in providing effective leadership and direction
of the Company towards its objectives and ensuring transparency
and accountability of all operations. The key corporate
governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised as follows:

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Company has a division of functions reserved to the Board
and delegated to the management. The Board provides leadership
and approves strategic policies and plans with a view to enhance
shareholders’ interests while the day-to-day operations of the
Company are delegated to the management with proper
supervision from the Board. The Board reserves for its decisions
on all major matters of the Company, including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets,
internal control and risk management systems, corporate
governance, material transactions (in particular those may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

The Board is responsible for determining the policy for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and
management;

senior

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
in compliance with legal and regulatory requirement;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and

Directors; and

(e)  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code.
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The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for Board meetings. All Directors have full and timely
access to all relevant information as well as the advice and
services of the Company Secretary, with a view to ensuring that
Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. Each director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Managing Director and the
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed by the Board after being reported on by
management. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior
to any significant decisions being made or significant transactions
or commitments being entered into by the abovementioned
officers, who cannot exceed any authority given to them by
resolutions of the Board or the Company.

The Board has the full support of the Managing Director and the
management to discharge its responsibilities.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal actions against the Board and to indemnify its
directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

The Board has established the Group’s purpose, values and
strategy, and has satisfied itself that the Group’s culture is
aligned. Acting with integrity and leading by example, the
Directors promote the desired culture to instill and continually
reinforce across the Group the values of acting lawfully, ethically
and responsibly, in order to facilitate the long-term sustainability
of the Group. The Group has adopted anti-fraud and
anti-corruption policy and whistleblowing policy to provide forums
for reporting issues and concerns on any misconduct, and to
uphold business integrity in its operations.
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ERERBE

Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board, which is currently
chaired by Mr. Tjia Boen Sien, comprised eight members, 7 males
and 1 female. Except for Mr. Song Sio Chong who was
appointed on 1 May 2023, the other seven members served the
Board throughout the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
Report.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight
members, consisting of four executive Directors, and four
independent non-executive Directors.

The Company had adopted a Board diversity policy aims to set
out the approach to achieve the diversity of the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The
Board has in its composition a balance of skills, expertise,
qualifications, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary
for independent decision making and fulfilling its business needs.
All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis
with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board
members.

The Nomination Committee will follow a range of diversified
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
made upon possible contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.
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The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien (Managing Director and Chairman)
(Member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Wang Jing Ning (Member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William

Ms. Tse Hoi Ying

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond
(Member of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Song Sio Chong (Member of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee, Chairman of Nomination Committee)

Mr. Siu Kam Chau (Chairman of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee, Member of Nomination Committee)

Ir Siu Man Po

Details of the backgrounds and qualifications of the Chairman of
the Company and the other Directors are set out under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 53 to 60 of this Annual Report. All
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience to
hold the position so as to carry out his duties effectively and
efficiently. Save for:

O] Mr. Tjia Boen Sien and Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William, who are
father and son;

(i) Mr. Tjia Boen Sien and Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, who are father
and daughter; and

(i) Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William and Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, who are
siblings,

none of the members of the Board are related to one another or
have any financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships with each other.
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The Board has also established mechanisms to ensure
independent views are available to the Board, including providing
the Directors with sufficient resources to perform its duties and
shall seek, at the Company’s expense, independent professional
advice to perform its responsibilities if necessary.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board at all times
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors bring independent
judgement on issues of strategies direction, policies, development,
performance and risk management through their contribution at
Board Meetings.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experiences and independent
judgement to the Board. Through active participation in Board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests and serving on Board committees, all
independent non-executive Directors will scrutinise the
performance of the Company in achieving corporate goals and
objectives and monitor performance reporting. By doing so, they
are able to contribute positively to the Company’s strategy and
policies through independent, constructive and informed
comments at Board and committee meetings.
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All the Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors, are given equal opportunity and channels to
communicate and express their views to the Board and have
separate and independent access to the management of the
Group in order to make informed decisions. The chairman of the
Board will hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the involvement of other Directors at least
annually to discuss any issues and concerns.

Any substantial shareholder, Director or his/her associate who has
a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than by
written resolutions. Such Director will be required to declare his/
her interests before the meeting and abstain from voting and not
counted towards the quorum on the relevant resolutions.
Independent non-executive Directors who, and whose associates,
have no interest in the matter should attend the Board meeting.

The Board has reviewed and considered that the mechanisms are
effective in ensuring that independent views and inputs are
provided to the Board during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors
The Company has established formal and transparent procedures
for the appointment and succession planning of Directors.
Directors to be appointed will letter of
appointment setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment. Any Board member is entitled to recommend
suitable candidate that meets the requirements of the Listing
Rules for consideration by the Board.

receive a formal

Code Provision B.2.2 stipulates that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. In accordance with the
Company’s Bye-Laws, every Director, including those appointed
for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. All Directors of the Company retire
by rotation once every three years in accordance with the CG
Code and the Company’s Bye-Laws.
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Training for Directors and Company Secretary

Each newly appointed director receives comprehensive, formal
induction to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of
the business and his/her responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors regularly
updated and appraised with any new regulations and guideline,
as well as any amendments thereto issued by the Stock
Exchange, particularly the effects of such new or amended
regulations and guidelines on directors specifically. On an ongoing
basis, Directors are encouraged to keep up to date on all matters
relevant to the Group and attend briefings and seminars as
appropriate.

The Company is aware of the requirement to regularly review and
agrees with each Director their training needs. The continuing
professional training programme of the Company for Directors
will be reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Nomination
Committee. During the year ended 31 March 2023, all Directors
have individually attended seminars and training courses
conducted by qualified professionals on accounting, taxation and
Listing Rules.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to directors whenever
necessary.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Company

Secretary of the Company has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.
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Board Meetings

Code Provision C.5.1 stipulates that the Company should hold at
least four regular Board meetings a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with active participation of a majority of
Directors, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication.

Regular Board meetings were held during the year for reviewing
and approving the financial and operating performance, and
considering and approving the overall strategies and policies of
the Company.

During the year under review, twelve Board meetings and one
annual general meeting were held. Details of the attendance of
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the Directors are as follows: N

Directors’ Attendance

ESHERE
Annual General
Meeting Board Meeting
BRRBFAE g
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Tjia Boen Sien KT 11 12/12
(Managing Director and Chairman) (FEFAEEFTE)

Mr. Wang Jing Ning FRELE 11 12/12
Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William U E 11 12/12
Ms. Tse Hoi Ying EINTE 1/1 12/12
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYKBITES
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond Bt 11 12/12
Ir Siu Man Po 7R SOR T2 RM 171 12/12
Mr. Siu Kam Chau mE L 11 12/12

Notices of regular Board meetings were served to all Directors at
least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and
committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.
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Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before
each Board meeting or committee meeting so as to ensure that
there is timely access to relevant information. All Directors can
give notice to the Chairman of the Board or the Company
Secretary if they intend to include matters in the agenda for
Board meetings. The Board and the senior management are also
obligated to keep the Directors appraised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Group and to enable
them to make informed decisions. The Board and each Director
also have separate and independent access to the senior
management whenever necessary in a timely manner.

Apart from the above regular Board meetings of the year, the
Board will meet on other occasions when a Board-level decision
on a particular matter is required. The Directors will receive details
of agenda items for decision in advance of each Board meeting.

The Company Secretary, who is an employee of the Company, is
responsible to take and keep minutes of all Board meetings and
Board committee meetings, which record in sufficient detail the
matters considered by the Board and decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. At
Board meetings, all Directors have ample opportunities to express
their respective views, voice any concerns and discuss the matters
under consideration, and the results of voting at Board meetings
fairly reflects the consensus of the Board. Draft minutes are
normally circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable
time after each meeting and the final version is open for
Directors’ inspection. Directors are entitled to have access to
board papers and queries will be responded fully. According to
current Board practice, any material transaction, which involves a
conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a Director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting. Such Director must abstain from voting
and will not be counted as quorum.
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Directors’ commitments

Each Director has confirmed that he can give sufficient time and
attention to the Group’s affairs, and has regularly provided
information on the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments,
including the identity of such companies or organisations and an
indication of the time involved.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company held the annual general meeting (“2022 AGM") on
30 August 2022. Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William, the executive
Director, was elected as the Chairman of 2022 AGM to ensure
effective communication with shareholders of the Company at the
meeting.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Although the roles of Chairman and Managing Director, who
performs similar role as Chief Executive Officer, are both
performed by the same individual, in view of the existing
structure and composition of the board and operations of the
Group in Hong Kong and Mainland China, the board believes
that this can facilitate the effective implementation and execution
of its business strategies by, and ensure a consistent leadership
for, the Group. Further, a balance of power and authority
between the board and management can be ensured by the
operation of the board, whose members (including the four
independent non-executive Directors) are individuals of high
calibre with ample experience, such that the interests of
shareholders can be safeguarded. The Company will continue to
review the structure and composition of the board from time to
time to ensure that a balance of power and authority between
the board and management are appropriately maintained for the
Group.

The Chairman provides leadership for the board, ensuring its
effectiveness in all aspects of its role including taking the primary
responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established and ensuring appropriate
steps are taken to provide effective communications with
shareholders and that their views are communicated to the Board
as a whole. In his capacity as managing director, he provides
planning and implementation with the support of management.
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The Chairman ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at board meetings and that all key and appropriate
issues are discussed by the board in a timely manner. Board
meetings for each year are scheduled in advance to give all
directors an opportunity to attend, and are structured to
encourage open discussion especially between independent non-
executive Directors and executive Directors. All board members are
encouraged to update their knowledge of and familiarity with the
Group through active participation at board meetings.

The Chairman settles the agenda for each individual board
meeting, taking into account any additional items arising from
current operating issues, as well as such other matters as may be
raised by the other directors with him, who can include them on
the agenda. The agenda and accompanying board papers are sent
in full to all Directors in a timely manner and, where possible, at
least three days before the time appointed for the meeting.

It is also the Chairman’s responsibility to control board meetings,
to lead discussions to clear conclusions, and to satisfy himself that
the secretary of the meeting has understood each conclusion
reached. The Company Secretary and Financial Controller attend
the meetings and advise, where appropriate, on corporate
governance and accounting and financial matters.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees
are kept by a duly appointed secretary of the meeting and open
for inspection by any director. Draft and final versions of minutes
of board meetings are sent to all directors for their comments
and records respectively.

The Chairman has held a meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without the executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Audit
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Group’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference
of the Board committees have complied with the Code Provisions
and are available on the Stock Exchange website
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website www.deson.com
and are available to shareholders upon request. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expenses. These Board committees will report back
to the Board on their decisions or recommendations.

Remuneration Committee

During the year ended 31 March 2023, Mr. Tjia Boen Sien,
Mr. Wang Jing Ning, Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Ir Siu Man Po
and Mr. Siu Kam Chau, being two executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors, respectively, are the
members of the Remuneration Committee and Mr. Siu Kam Chau
is the Chairman of the committee. The primary objectives of the
Remuneration Committee include making recommendations on
and approving the remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and the
executives after consultation with the Chairman/Managing
Director and access to professional advice, at the Group's
expense, when necessary. The Remuneration Committee is also
responsible for establishing transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined by
reference to the performance of the individual and the Group as
well as market practice and conditions. The Remuneration
Committee normally meets towards the end of each year to
review the remuneration policy and structure and determination
of the annual remuneration packages of the executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and senior management and
other related matters. The Group’s remuneration policy is to
maintain fair and competitive remuneration packages based on
business needs and market practice. Factors such as market rate,
an individual’'s qualification, experience, performance and time
commitment are taken into account during the remuneration
package determination process. The Remuneration Committee
held one meeting during the year ended 31 March 2023 and
reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the Company
and remuneration packages of the executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and senior management for
the year under review. Recommendations have been made to the
Board. With effect from 1 May 2023, Ir Siu Man Po has resigned
and Mr. Song Sio Chong was appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee.
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Details of the attendance record of members of the ¥MZEeXKELEERIEFBUOT
Remuneration Committee meetings are set out below:
Members’
Attendance
Name of Members REHE RE HERE
Mr. Siu Kam Chau (Chairman) BRI EE (EE) 11
Mr. Tjia Boen Sien HCBER K AE 11
Mr. Wang Jing Ning FRELE 11
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond f4EZRIE L 11
Ir Siu Man Po BESOE TAZAm 11

Nomination Committee

During the year ended 31 March 2023, Mr. Tjia Boen Sien,
Mr. Wang Jing Ning, Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Ir Siu Man Po
and Mr. Siu Kam Chau, being two executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors, respectively, are the
members of the Nomination Committee and Ir Siu Man Po is the
Chairman of the committee. The primary objectives of the
Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board composition
and identifying and nominating candidates for appointment to the
Board such that it has the relevant blend of skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural, educational background, professional
experience and diversity of perspectives. The Nomination
Committee also assesses the independence of independent non-
executive Directors and make recommendation to the Board on
the appointment and reappointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors. Candidates for appointment as Directors
may be sourced internally or externally through various channels
such as using the services of specialist executive search firms. The
aim is to appoint individuals of the highest caliber in their area of
expertise and experience. The Nomination Committee held one
meeting during the year ended 31 March 2023 and reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board for the year under
review. With effect from 1 May 2023, Ir Siu Man Po has resigned
and Mr. Song Sio Chong was appointed as the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee.
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Details of the attendance record of members of the Nomination
Committee meetings are set out below:
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REAZBEREHFERCHARBOT

Members’

Attendance

Name of Members REMHA R E W EIRE

Ir Siu Man Po (Chairman) BSOK TIZRD () 11

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien R K& 1/1

Mr. Wang Jing Ning FRELEE 1/1

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond A& RIE L 1/1

Mr. Siu Kam Chau AR e 171
The following policies have been adopted by the Nomination REZZES@TDHMUATEE  UHBHERETT

Committee to assist in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities as
provided in its terms of reference. The policies may be amended
from time to time by the committee as provided therein.

Recommended candidates

The committee shall consider any and all candidates
recommended as nominees for Directors to it by any Director or
shareholder; provided that in the case of shareholder
recommendations, such recommendations comply with all
applicable notice requirements set forth in the Company’s Bye-
laws, the procedures for a shareholder's nomination to be
properly brought before a general meeting, and the Listing Rules.
The committee may also consider, in its sole discretion, any and
all candidates recommended as nominees for directors to it by
any source.
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Desired qualifications, qualities and skills

The committee shall endeavour to find individuals of high
integrity who have a solid record of accomplishment in their
chosen fields and who possess the qualifications, qualities and
skills to effectively represent the best interests of all shareholders.
Candidates will be selected for their ability to exercise good
judgement, to provide the commitment to enhancing shareholder
value, practical insights and diverse perspectives. Candidates will
also be assessed in the context of the then-current composition
of the board, the operating requirements of the Company and
the long-term interests of all shareholders. In conducting this
assessment, the committee will, in connection with its assessment
and recommendation of director candidates, consider diversity
(including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience and
skills) and such other factors as it deems appropriate given the
then-current and anticipated future needs of the board and the
Company, and to maintain a balance of perspectives,
qualifications, qualities and skills on the board. The committee
may also consider such other factors as it may deem are in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The above
diversity perspectives, taking into account the Company’s business
model and needs, are set out in a board diversity policy which
has been established by the Company to see that diversity on the
board can be achieved.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company notes that increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives, sustainable and balanced development. The Company
adopted a diversity policy (“Diversity Policy”) which sets out the
approach to diversify the Board. The Nomination Committee
reviews and assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board
on an annual basis and will recommend the appointment of new
Director, when necessary, pursuant to the Diversity Policy.
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In designing the Board’'s composition, the Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and education background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Nomination Committee will also consider factors
based on the Company’'s business model, specific needs and
meritocracy from time to time in determining the optimum
composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the
Board for adoption.

Up to the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises eight
Directors, including four executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors, thereby promoting critical review and
control of the management process. The Board is also
characterised by significant diversity, whether considered in terms
of professional experience, skill and knowledge. As at the date of
this Annual Report, our Board consists of seven male members
and one female member with one Director of age 41 to 50 years
old, two Directors of age 51 to 60 years old and five Directors of
over 60 years old. Having reviewed the Diversity Policy and the
Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that
the requirements set out in the Diversity Policy had been met and
the Board is sufficiently diverse.

The Board considers that the Company has achieved gender
diversity at the Board level and targets to maintain at least the
current level of female representation. The Company will ensure
that gender diversity is taken into account when recruiting staff
members of mid to senior level and ensure that sufficient
resources are available for providing appropriate trainings and
career development to develop a pipeline of potential successors
to the Board and maintain gender diversity

The Nomination Committee will
annually to ensure its effectiveness.

review the Diversity Policy
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Independence

The committee shall ensure that at least one-third of the board
members (or such other number of the members of the board as
prescribed by the Listing Rules from time to time) meet the
definition of independent non-executive director. The committee
shall annually assess each nominee for independent non-executive
director by reviewing any potential conflicts of interest that he or
she and their immediate family members (as defined in the Listing
Rules) may have, based on the criteria for independence set forth
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

A retiring independent non-executive director who has served the
board for a period of nine consecutive years or more is eligible
for nomination by the board to stand for re-election at a general
meeting provided that he or she is still considered independent
by the board.

When any of the independent non-executive director has served
more than nine years on the board, such independent
non-executive director’s further appointment should be subject to
a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders, with papers
accompanying to that resolution including the factors considered,
the process and discussion of the Nomination Committee in
arriving at the determination that such independent
non-executive director is still independent and should be
re-elected.

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Ir Siu Man Po and Mr. Siu Kam Chau, all
being independent non-executive directors of the Company, have
served the Board for more than nine years. Notwithstanding their
long term service, given their extensive business experience and
not being connected with any director or substantial shareholder
of the Company, the Board is of the opinion that they continue
to bring independent and objective perspectives to the Company’s
affairs.

The following information has been set out in the Company’s
circular to shareholders for the proposed resolution to elect an
individual as an independent non-executive Director at the AGM:

1. the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why the Board considers the individual to be
independent;
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2. if the proposed independent non-executive Director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the Board believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board;

3. the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and

4. how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board.

Nominee evaluation process

The committee will consider as a candidate any director who has
indicated his or her willingness to stand for re-election and any
other person who is recommended by any shareholder. The
committee may also undertake its own search process for
candidates and may retain the services of professional firms or
other third parties to assist in identifying and evaluating potential
nominees. The committee may use any process it deems
appropriate for the purpose of evaluating candidates which is
consistent with those set forth in its terms of reference, the
Company’s Bye-laws, the corporate governance policy and the
policy described herein; provided that the process used for
evaluating a nominee for each election or appointment of director
shall be substantially similar and under no circumstances shall the
committee evaluate nominees recommended by a shareholder
pursuant to a process that is substantially different than that used
for other nominees for the same election or appointment of
director.

Nomination procedures

1. The secretary of the committee shall call a meeting of the
committee, and invite nominations of candidates from board
members, if any, for consideration by the committee prior
to its meeting. The committee may also put forward
candidates who are not nominated by board members.

2. For filling a casual vacancy, the committee shall make
recommendations for the board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election at
a general meeting, the committee shall make nominations
to the board for its consideration and recommendation.

3. Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated
persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by
the board to stand for election at the general meeting.
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4. In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the board to stand for election at a general meeting, a
circular will be sent to shareholders. The circular will set out
the names, brief biographies (including qualifications and
relevant experience), and any other information, as required
pursuant to applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the
proposed candidates.

5. A shareholder can serve a notice to the board of Directors
or the company secretary within the lodgement period of its
intention to propose a resolution to elect certain person as
a director in accordance with the relevant procedures
posted on the Company’s website. The particulars of the
candidates so proposed will be provided to all shareholders
for information by way of announcement and/or
supplementary circular.

6. A candidate is allowed to withdraw his or her candidature
at any time before the general meeting by serving a notice
in writing to the board of directors or the company
secretary.

7. The board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at
any general meeting.

8. Shareholder proposed resolutions shall take the same form
as the resolutions proposed for the candidates
recommended by the board.

The Nomination Committee held its annual meeting in June 2022
and 2023 to review the board composition and independence of
independent non-executive Directors, and considered the
suitability of those retiring directors standing for re-election at the
next annual general meeting as well as the need for a director
succession plan. The committee also reviewed the nomination
policy and the Diversity Policy and discussed the objectives set for
implementing the latter, and noted that those objectives had
been achieved. The committee concluded that the board
composition should continue unchanged.
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Audit Committee

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee
comprises Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Ir Siu Man Po and
Mr. Siu Kam Chau, all being independent non- executive
Directors (including one independent non-executive Director who
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise) and Mr. Siu Kam Chau
is the Chairman of the committee. None of the members of the
Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing
external auditor. With effect from 1 May 2023, Ir Siu Man Po has
resigned and Mr. Song Sio Chong was appointed as a member of
the Audit Committee.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@)  to review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the qualified
accountant, compliance officer (if any) or external auditor
before submission to the Board;

(b) to review the relationship with the external auditor by
reference to the work performed by the auditor, their fees,
terms of engagement and independence, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor;

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's
financial reporting system, and risk management system,
internal control system and associated procedures; and

(d) to review the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of the Group’'s accounting and financial
reporting staffs, their training programme, and budget.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended
31 March 2023 to review the financial results and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures, and discussed
matters concerning the effectiveness of internal control systems
and the re-appointment of the external auditor. Minutes of Audit
Committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary of the
Company. Draft and final version of the minutes of meetings are
sent to all committee members for comments within a reasonable
time after the meeting. There are no material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Sufficient
resources are provided by the Company for the Audit Committee
to perform its duties.
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There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor.

Details of the attendance record of members of the Audit
Committee meetings are set out below:

EXEQEBELZEOMIINEREE 2 BE
RE BHEIEBABEIEER -

ERREeKEERLRSERABOT

Members’

Attendance

Name of Members e A B HERE
Mr. Siu Kam Chau (Chairman) B E (£E) 272
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond 421G+ 2/2
Ir Siu Man Po B SOE TAZAM 2/2

COMPANY SECRETARY

Please refer to section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” on page 59 of this Annual
Report for biographical details of the Company Secretary.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Details of the Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration, five
highest paid employees and senior management are set out in
notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements, respectively.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of directors and senior management by band for
the Reporting Period, is set out as below:

REME
BERALPMENBEE  FL2HAFHE
SOREEREREBAEZEE] 5 -

EERGREEEME
EERTETRABMER IR HER
EeRER BN BTN B EN I mR M
89 -

RIFDFERTRISTANEXES » R EH
MEERSREEEMSEDWT :

Number of

individuals

Annual Remuneration FEEMS AE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000/ 7T 6
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 JT 2 2,000,000/8 7T 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001% 7T £ 3,000,000 7T 3
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 7L £4,000,000/8 7T —
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 7T £ 5,000,0007% 7T 1
12
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DIVERSITY AT WORKFORCE LEVEL

In terms of employment, the Group insists on the principle of
fairness and equal treatment regardless of nationality, race,
gender, religious belief and cultural background, and does not
impose any restrictive requirements on gender, ethnicity,
nationality and region.

The gender ratio in the workforce of the Group, including senior
management, as of 31 March 2023 is set out below:
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As of 31 March 2023
R=ZZBZ=5=ZHA=+—H
Percentage of
Number of total number of

Indicator BE persons employee
HEEEH

A Aot

Male employee BMEES 60 47
Female employee e 8 69 53
129 100

The Group encourages gender diversity across its workplace and
is committed to maintain the proportion of onshore female
employees to around 50%. To achieve diversity at workforce
level, the Group has put in place appropriate recruitment and
selection practices such that a diverse range of candidates are
considered. The Group has also established talent management
and training programs to provide career development guidance
and promotion opportunities to develop a broad and diverse pool
of skilled and experienced employees.

During the year under review, the Board was not aware of any
mitigating factors or circumstances which would make achieving
gender diversity across the workforce (including senior
management) more challenging or less relevant.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT (“ESG REPORT")

The Company will publish separately an ESG Report in respect of
the financial year ended 31 March 2023 on the websites of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.deson.com) at the same time as this Annual Report is
published.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted its dividend policy on 1 January 2019.
The Company’s dividend policy allows the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) to share the profits of the
Company whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group's
future growth. According to the Company’s dividend policy, in
addition to the final dividends, the Company may declare interim
dividends or special dividends from time to time.

According to the Company’s dividend policy, the Board shall
consider the following factors before proposing and declaring
dividends:

(i) the Group's general financial condition;

(i) the Group's working capital and debt level;

(i) the Group’s liquidity position;

(iv)  retained profits and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

(v)  future cash
operations,
needs;

requirements and availability for business
business strategies and future development

(vi) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(vii) the general market conditions;

(viii) the general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business or

financial performance and position of the Group; and

(ix) any other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Laws of the Bermuda, the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company and
any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company’s dividend policy will be reviewed from time to time
by the Board and there can be no assurance that dividends will
be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group had engaged the
Group’s external auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, to
provide the following services and their respective fees charged
are set out below:

Fee charged for the year ended 31 March 2023:
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The board is responsible for ensuring the Group’s compliance
with its disclosure obligations regarding inside information, and
has appointed a disclosure group with specific designated duties
to assist it in, among other things, overseeing and co-ordinating
the disclosure of inside information. The procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information
are given in the policy (the “PSI Policy”) adopted by the
Company to ensure that it is able to meet relevant obligations
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap.571) (the “SFO"). The PSI Policy applies to the directors,
officers and employees of the Group. Under the PSI Policy, the
Company must disclose inside information to the public by way of
an announcement as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the safe harbours described under
the SFO. Any director, officer or employee who becomes aware
of a matter, development or event that he or she considers to be,
or potentially to be, inside information shall report it promptly to
the disclosure group. Before the relevant information is fully
disclosed to the public, the disclosure group should take
reasonable precautions to ensure that the information is kept
strictly confidential. Where it is believed that the necessary degree
of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may
have been breached, the information should be disclosed
immediately to the public. If the disclosure group needs time to
clarify the details of, and the impact arising from, an event or a
set of circumstances before it is in a position to issue a full
announcement to properly inform the public, the disclosure group
should consider issuing a “holding announcement” which details
as much ascertainable information of the subject matter as
possible and sets out the reasons why a fuller announcement
cannot be made. Following a holding announcement, the
disclosure group should ensure that a full announcement is made
as soon as reasonably practicable. In the event that confidentiality
has not been maintained and it is not able to make a full
announcement or a holding announcement, the disclosure group
should consider applying for a suspension of trading in the
Company’s securities, subject to approval of the board, until
disclosure can be made. All inside information related
announcements must be properly approved by the board before
publication, and all unpublished inside information must be kept
in strict confidence until a formal announcement is made. The
disclosure group must further ensure that access to unpublished
inside information is given only to employees on a “need-to-
know" basis for discharging their duties. Apart from reporting to
the disclosure group, every director, officer or employee who
possesses or has been given access to unpublished inside
information must not disclose, discuss or share such information
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to or with any other parties within or outside the Group. The PSI
Policy also sets out the criteria for advance disclosure of inside
information to certain categories of people as may be necessary
in the circumstances. In this case, the disclosure group should
monitor the situation so that disclosure may be made as soon as
reasonably practicable if there is any leakage of information.
Directors, officers and employees must refrain from dealing in the
shares of the Company at any time when they are in possession
of unpublished inside information. Securities dealings are
governed by the securities codes applicable to directors and
relevant employees (within the meaning of the CG Code), as
described in the section below.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has
been made of all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 March 2023. The Company has adopted the same
Model Code for securities transactions by employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of
the Model Code by the relevant employees was noted by the
Company.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
"Employees Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the
Model Code for securities transactions by employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of
the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by
the Company.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high
standard of probity, openness, and accountability. A
Whistleblowing Policy is in place to establish policy and system for
the employees and other stakeholders of the Company to raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties and promote
and support anti-corruption laws and regulations. The
whistleblowing policies has already disclosed in ESG Reports.
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The identity of each whistleblower and all information provided in
connection with a whistleblowing report will be treated with the
strictest confidence. The Audit Committee reviews the
Whistleblowing Policy annually to ensure its effectiveness and will
recommend appropriate revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with the new code provision D.2.7 of the CG
Code, the Board adopted an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy.
It outlines guidelines and the minimum standards of conducts, all
applicable laws and regulations in relation to the anti-corruption
and anti-bribery, the responsibilities of employees to resist fraud,
to help the Group defend against corrupt practices and to report
any reasonably suspected case of fraud and corruption or any
attempts thereof, to the management or through an appropriate
reporting channel. The Group would not tolerate all forms of
fraud and corruption among all employees and those acting in an
agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group, and in its
business dealing with third parties. The Board and the Audit
Committee will review the anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy
and mechanism periodically to ensure its effectiveness and
enforce the commitment of the Group to the prevention,
deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms of fraud and
corruption.

Continuous Disclosure Policy

A Continuous Disclosure Policy is in place to ensure potential
inside information as defined in the SFO is identified and
confidentiality of such information is maintained until timely and
appropriate disclosure is made in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The policy regulates the handling and dissemination of
inside information, which includes:

o Roles and responsibilities of the divisions/departments of the
Company in identifying and escalating any potential inside

information within the Company; and

o Procedures for determining the necessity, means and/or
extent of disclosure of such information.
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of
financial statements on a going concern basis, with supporting
assumptions or qualifications as necessary, for each financial
period with a view to ensuring that such financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group and its consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows for the financial year. Management of the
Company has provided such explanation and information to the
Board to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of
the financial and other information put before the Board for
approval including monthly updates. The Group’s consolidated
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Listing
Rules, the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, all relevant statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. The Group has selected appropriate
accounting policies and has applied them consistently based on
prudent and reasonable judgements and estimates.

The Directors endeavour to ensure a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Company’s position and
prospect in the annual reports, interim reports, price-sensitive
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements. The Directors
acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023. The statement of the external auditor of the Group about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the “Independent auditor’s report” on pages 96 to 105.
Management of the Group is obligated to provide sufficient
explanation and information to the Board so that it can make
informed assessment of relevant matters.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL MONITORING
Risk Management and Internal Control

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle D.2 of
the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. Management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of
such systems, while the Board oversees management in
performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the
risk management and internal control systems are described in the
sections below:

Corporate Governance Report
TRELRE

FRUBHRRZEE

EXAREERFEREEERAESM Y
B A5 ¥Rk - I F h AT 7 AE B R AR S Ak A
BREREBYBBRREEELTFRBRAE
B AR A M ISR K 5% B B AR A BT
RARGRBETRE ARAEHEEDRH
EHRBENRENTESRS  UEEFIIE
REFGUHBERN MR EMEREL
MFFHEREAEH AKEGEAYHRR
TR EWmRA - BB R RURPIWERE
FrE AR ERE S A SR R RS -
REFERESEAE LGS ARECER
B STEREE®EKA -

E=em EMARRAREMENRE R B HER
B B kEZ 2 FR R RREAET
AEBMRMATR - BRERZDEREAM
BE EERIAEREAEEHE_T_=
FZAZT-BULFEZRAMBHRER -F
B AEE 2 INERBMP B RRABREE
ZERERFEICE1058 2 [ B % H A&
Hl-ARBERERREFRAESSRHERD
REREN  WERSHERFEEL NS
At fd

E R EE R AIBER

E bz EERABERE

RERR AEEEBTEEEARTARA
D.2 RUABEMBYMEREIERARPEE
R  EEERARERE  WTRERZES
MEFEREEEEEERTARE - Ak
EENAREERGHNEBHFEIAR TX
=N

MERREBREEAFRAT —To=FFH

89



90

Corporate Governance Report

TERERRSE

Risk Management System
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the
risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in year ended
31 March 2023, no significant risk was identified.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of
the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) 2013 framework. The
framework enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The components of the framework are shown as follows:

Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures
that provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the
Group;

Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed;

Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures to
help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the
achievement of objectives are carried out;

Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls; and

Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain

whether each component of internal control is present and
functioning.
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In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group
also adopts and implements the inside information policy and
procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a
breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group,
which include:

J The access of information is restricted to a limited number
of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are
in possession of inside information are fully conversant with
their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group
enters into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with
external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in year ended
31 March 2023, no significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which is
consisted of professional staff with relevant expertise (such as
Certified Public Accountant). The IA function is independent of
the Group’s daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting
interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal
control systems is conducted semi-annually and the results are
reported to the Board via Audit Committee afterwards.
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Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Several areas have been considered during the Board’s reviews,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and
extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and the
Group's ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; and (ii) the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal
control systems.

The Board, through its review and the reviews made by IA
function and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that
the resources, staff qualifications, experience of relevant staff and
ESG performance and reporting function were adequate and the
training programme and budget provided were sufficient.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining an open and effective
investor relations policy and to updating investors on relevant
information/developments in a timely manner, subject to relevant
regulatory requirements. Briefings and meetings with institutional
investors and analysts are conducted from time to time. The
Company also replied to any enquiries from shareholders in a
timely manner. The Directors host the annual general meeting
each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The corporate website of the Company at www.deson.com
provides a communication platform via which the public and
investor community can access up-to-date information regarding
the Group.
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The Company’s 2022 AGM was held on 30 August 2022. The
notice of the 2022 AGM, the annual report and the circular
containing relevant information of the proposed resolutions were
sent to shareholders more than 20 clear business days before the
2022 AGM. All Board members together with the key executives
and the external auditor attended the 2022 AGM. The executive
Director explained the poll voting procedures at the 2022 AGM.
Separate resolutions for each substantially separate issue,
including the re-election of individual Directors, were proposed at
the 2022 AGM. All the resolutions at the 2022 AGM were dealt
with by poll. The poll results of the 2022 AGM are available on
the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Shareholders may also send any enquiries, suggestions or
concerns to the Board at any time through the Company
Secretary, whose contact details are as follows:

Address The Company Secretary

Deson Development International
Holdings Limited

11th Floor, Nanyang Plaza

57 Hung To Road,

Kwun Tong

Kowloon, Hong Kong
deson@deson.com

(852) 2570 1118

(852) 3184 3402

Email
Telephone no.
Fax no.

The Company Secretary will forward such communications to the
Board, the relevant Board committees and/or the Chief Executive
Officer, as appropriate.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

To ensure compliance with the CG Code, the notice of the
annual general meeting, the annual report and the circular
containing information on the proposed resolutions will be sent to
shareholders at least 21 clear business days before the annual
general meeting. Voting at the forthcoming annual general
meeting will be by way of a poll. An explanation of the detailed
procedures of conducting a poll will be provided to shareholders
at the commencement of the annual general meeting to ensure
that shareholders are familiar with such procedures.

Poll results will be counted by Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar,
Tricor Tengis Limited and will be posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange on the day the annual
general meeting held. The general meetings of the Company
provide an opportunity for communication between the
shareholders and the Board. The Chairman of the Board as well
as chairmen of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Audit Committee, or in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, and where applicable, the
independent Board committee, are available to answer questions
at the annual general meetings. The Company will also arrange
for the external auditor to attend the annual general meetings to
answer relevant questions if necessary.

Separate resolutions are proposed at annual general meetings on
each substantial issue, including the election of individual
directors.

In addition to regular Board meetings, the Board, on the
requisition of shareholders of the Company holding not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company, may convene a
special general meeting to address specific issues of the Company
within 21 days from the date of deposit of written notice to the
Company Secretary, at the Company’s head office at 11th Floor,
Nanyang Plaza, 57 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
and must be signed by the requisitionist(s). Shareholders may also
use this same method to put forward proposals for the next
general meeting.
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Constitutional Documents

On 30 August 2022, the shareholders of the Company have
approved at the 2022 AGM the proposed amendments (the
“Amendments”) to the Bye-laws of the Company to (i) bring the
existing Bye-Laws into line with the relevant requirements of the
applicable laws of Bermuda and the Listing Rules; and (ii) make
various consequential and housekeeping amendments to the
existing Bye-Laws. Details of the Amendments were set out in the
circular of the Company dated 22 July 2022.

The latest Bye-laws of the Company is available on both the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established a Shareholders Communication
Policy to set out the Company’s procedures in providing the
shareholders and the investment community with ready, equal
and timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company, in order to enable the shareholders to
exercise their rights in an informed manner and to allow the
shareholders and the investment community to engage actively
with the Company.

The Board will review the Shareholders Communication Policy
annually to ensure its effectiveness.

CONCLUSION

In the opinion of the Board, good governance was maintained
throughout the accounting period covered by the annual report.
The Company shall keep its governance practices under review to
ensure that they are in step with the latest developments.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % BT R S

@ pakertilly
R B ] PR

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Deson Development International Holdings Limited
HERREREEERAA

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Deson
Development International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 106 to 250, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
“Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB, E

ERETEEAE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEEAFS TR OMEHH

Valuation of investment properties

BREWMRMLE

Refer to notes 3 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements

BRIk A EIREREIR 15

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s investment
properties measured at fair value amounted to
HK$684,114,000 with an aggregate gain arising from
the changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss of
HK$46,284,000 for the year then ended. The fair
values of investment properties were determined by the
Group based on the valuations performed by an
independent professional qualified valuer engaged by
the Group.

RZZEZ=F=ZA=+—H  EXEMHAENKREYD
ERNFEFTE7/R684,114,0008 7T HEERIEFE
REGERBERANERBATEZIMELNEWRER
46,284,000 T EXEEREMENAFERZR
E EEEZRERNBYEXSERMGLEMETHMEEM

B -

The Group’s investment properties portfolio mainly
included completed investment properties in the
Mainland China.
EEENREVELACTIEZERTEANMERIREY
#,

Our audit procedures in this area included:

BARNEERNBARFEHE

o Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuer engaged by the Group;
A EEEZEMEEMORIN  EHREE
e

o Obtaining the valuation report of each property
and assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methods applied; and
BEEEMENGERS - WA EERNGES
EHEENL R

MERREBREEAFRAT —To=FFH
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B % BET R E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
CE LR

ERETEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEEAESTEOMEH

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

REWMEMGE (&)

Refer to notes 3 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

Bk A EREH L3R 15 (&)

The valuation of investment properties was derived
from the investment method and the direct comparison
approach. For investment method, the relevant key
assumptions include estimated monthly rental value,
term yield and reversionary yield. For direct comparison
approach, the relevant key assumption is the estimated
market selling price per unit, with reference to recent
transactions of the comparable properties and adjusted
for differences in key attributes such as but not limited
to location and property size.
BREMENGEDRAREEREELBUEME - HR
KREZL HEERBRREREMETAESEE  FHES
ENREFKRE - EERLBUEM E @ HEBRREA
BEMUNMGATISEE  T2ZEAELRMERLRR
SRGERBEENER (FINETRNLE RMEREK)
fEH AR -

All the relevant key assumptions were influenced by
the prevailing market conditions and each property’s
characteristics.

PrE R MR REAXE AT ISR RSB ENR

RPTEE

We focus on this area due to the significant quantum
of investment properties to the consolidated financial
statements and the involvement of significant
judgements and estimate on relevant key assumptions
applied in valuation.

BB IR BRI BARGEANBERRPEAEREY

¥ - BAEPEBORBEERESS REAHE R AR -
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Assessing the reasonableness of relevant key
assumptions used in valuation including estimated
monthly rental value, reversionary vyield and
estimated market selling price per unit by
gathering and analysing the data of comparable
properties in the market and the characteristics of
individual investment property such as location,
age and size.

BB S R T35 AT B 3 6 BUR A S {E
PIIREMENMLE - BRI NERE  FHEHE
FrE AR ARRENSIEL  BREGTERAME
EE EREUEENGASELTHEE -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B % BET R E

ERETEEAE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEEAFS TR OMEHH

Net realisable value assessment on properties held for sale under development and completed

properties held for sale

BRERTHEVERGECRIVEXTE R FENMG

Refer to notes 3 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements

DR E M FE AN F3IR18

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's properties held for
sale under development and completed properties held
for sale amounted to HK$251,211,000 and
HK$450,862,000 respectively.
RZZFEZ=F=A=+—08  E5EMEENERT
FEVMERFEESRTYEDH/H251,211,000/8 7T K
450,862,000/ 7T °

Properties held for sale under development and
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The determination of the net
realisable value of these properties requires
estimations, including expected future selling prices and
cost necessary to complete the sale of these properties,
and is assessed by management with reference to the
valuations carried out by an independent professional
qualified valuer engaged by the Group for those
properties.
BERPGEMELGE YRR AN LA B FE 2
RIEEZY - EXEMENAER FEFTELETH
i BRERTEKZEVENHEMTORBARREE LK
K-WHEREL2EZR ESERZEVEZRENEC
HESERGEMETHHEEDTM -

Our audit procedures in this area included:

BRI R EF TR

Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuer engaged by the Group;
i EEEZEAMEMOEN e REE
/|\/4;E :

Obtaining the valuation reports prepared by the
valuer on which the management’s assessment of
the net realisable value of the properties held for
sale under development and properties held for
sale was based;
REEEBHRERTRHEVERSENENT
BRFEMEKBEHRGEMRRENBERS

Discussing with and obtaining an understanding
from management of how they would apply the
valuation in their net realisable value assessment
and the rationale; and

HEIRE w7 RSN B RFET LN
MERMERERE &

HEEREBEEARAR —T_=FFRH
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B % BET R E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
CE LR

ERETEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEEAESTEOMEH

Net realisable value assessment on properties held for sale under development and completed

properties held for sale (Continued)

BRETHFEVERSGECR I YXTERFENE (E)

Refer to notes 3 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

2k A EREN IR 18 (&)

Changes in government policies, which affect interest
rates, the required reserve ratio for banks and/or
mortgage requirements for second-home buyers, could
lead to volatility in property prices, particularly for
properties in the Mainland China.

HENE ROTFAEFEER K ZRBEXERBE
KEBRBREB A e GRMEERNE  LERTH
ab:it=okz/E e

We identified the assessment of the net realisable
value of the properties held for sale as a key audit
matter because of the significance of these properties
to the Group’s total assets and because the assessment
of net realisable value is inherently subjective and
requires significant management judgement and
estimation in relation to estimating future selling prices
and future construction costs which increases the risk
of error or potential management bias.

B EFEMEABRFENTHETABREETSE
B BARZEMEY BESENEEREERER M
B#RFENFEAARNENTIHN  FTE2EEEH
il 5T R R 8H & B AR BRSO R B A 1F H & R ) B I (i
B MERSBEEEREENEAR -

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

Examining the data used as inputs for the
valuation, which included making reference to the
market unit selling price of comparable properties
nearby used in the valuation and performing
market value benchmarking against comparable
properties.

ZERELERBANEE  BE2ZHETER
DO B BMENTSHEEEE - WEAATE
LB ER IS EEITEED T



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
FRET BN

Independent Auditor’s Report
B % BET R E

ERETEEAE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZERAEBFSTROMESHN

Valuation of unlisted equity investments

HELTRERENMGE

Refer to notes 3, 17 and 40 to the consolidated financial statements

R A ERIXNES - 17%40

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s unlisted equity
investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss amounted to HK$157,463,000, which were
measured at fair value and categorised as Level 3
within the fair value hierarchy with significant
unobservable inputs.

RZBZ=F=A=+—8  E5EZATEFARE
mARAIE LT R EIR & /157,463,000 7T + IR AT
B EELSEARATFEBRTAEERTITERE AL
BRE=ER-

The Group has engaged an independent professional
qualified valuer to perform the valuation of these
investments. The external valuer has applied valuation
techniques to determine the fair value of these unlisted
investments that were not quoted in active markets.
EEECEREE I EXSERGLEMYZEREETH
B HNEMAEMEIERGEERAEEZS 2B ERMS
HREZFELTHREQAFE-

Our audit procedures in this area included:

BRI R EF TR

o Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuer engaged by the Group;
M EEBEZEHNMAEMOEN e REE
/HE i

o Obtaining the valuation reports prepared by the
valuer on which the management’s assessment of
the unlisted equity investments was based;

HR A5 & B2 B 5T 3F - 70 AR AR & P KB | (4 (B R
RENHERS

o Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology and valuation technique adopted in
the valuation of unlisted equity investments;

Az IE ETIRAR B BTG E TR R GG
AT ey @ AL

MERREBREEAFRAT —To=FFH
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B % BET R E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter

ERETEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZERAEBSTEOMERH

Evaluating and validating key inputs and
information used in the valuation against the

BRENEE

Valuation of unlisted equity investments (Continued)
HFELTRERENGEE)

Refer to notes 3, 17 and 40 to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)
DR E AN 3 17840 (#)

These valuation techniques, in particular those

including significant unobservable inputs, involved

subjective judgements and assumptions. Changes in the
key inputs and assumptions on which the fair value of
these unlisted equity investments is based could have a
material impact on the valuation of these unlisted
investments at the end of the reporting period and
could significantly affect the change in fair value being
recognised for the reporting period.

ZEMETE  LEZSFERERTABEEABEDN

BERE  PREBHBREBR - ZFIFLTRERE
RNFHEMKBENBRBAZIERBROEBD @ HZEFF
Lm&ﬁﬂi&iﬁﬂﬂiﬁ’ﬂﬁfﬁFiéﬁwa I ¥ ¥ 5 1

BHERN AN EEHELETATE -

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements

and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

underlying source information;
HREBARORER T2 RBRERNGHESRHBER
BABIERER

Assessing the need of key valuation adjustments by
challenging management on the appropriateness of
key assumptions and judgement employed based
on available information and facts and
circumstances of these equity investments; and
RAEREEBENZSFRERENTAER  F
BERERMRANBERRERABNEE M - G
BAREEFAENSER &

Performing sensitivity analysis to evaluate the
reasonableness of the valuation, when
appropriate.
FEZEORRETHRESMAFHEENSE
Moo

Hft&#
EEFHHEMENEAR - K EHRBHENH
REFANER  BEFEEREEMBRERNK

BB RS -

BMEGREVMBRERNBERT TREEME
B REATEREE R EEARR
E’g%ﬂ#rzﬁﬂﬁ °

REMEEEFBRROEFTTE - HAID
ATEHEBEMER THBERES ZEH

B EDBEA P HREAIRMAEENB
BHMEENBEAFEEAERBEREUTF
EERERBRAHBEDR -



OTHER INFORMATION (Continued)

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB, E

H & ¥ (&)

EREMERTHIE NRRMARALL
ENGEERERRL  RMBEEREXE
K-EEAE BARBEAREN -

EEREEERAERGEMBERR
AN EE

EFARAARBEASGTMASHEMAN(ERS
RS R REBCRRHEDD) R ERE
BREEEMPENGRAMBEHRE  UHER
RRBEEE VB RROBETFHEm N EE
SKEERME MM E A RRAPTH A AELES

ERBEaVBEBRRK EFREFE &
SEBBEENREN  YHEEZEBERNTHRE
BEEQLLEHNER URERBELE
SEFER BRIEFAEN EKREEHR
HFIEEE LR BEEMERNERIR -

=

AABRBEEE

it
omb

&
B

BB R E RS MW RATARED
BfE

BFMMER THSAMBHREABERES T
TFHEBNRFFHERMERNE A FHRR A
MEEERE THARREMERNZH
fidRE - AMEERARE-NN\—F2QF
EFEOFREHN BB RELRS - BRI
Sh o AEWEEMAE - ROTSREE
B & AR REAEMALTE ESREE
EE-

BERIFRSKFHRE  BTERIRR
(FBBFEADETOER  EX—BKH
AR BRI T FE B AR BE X 3R - B RRBRUM AT LA R IR
FFEREERRSIE MRAEEHEMEFIE
AL A BE R B AR A M IS R R RB AR
BMBRERMELNEERTE - MERE
AR BRI AT AR AEE K o
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B % BET R E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

—  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

—  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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BB E RS M B RRATEEN

B (&)

ERBE(EERTERDETESNBIESD
BIVER T EXRAE - RIS THERIEREE -
BAPIIR -

— BRI SRR ERM BB S
MBBRFEERERRANER - &
HRITEREZ P AR EE L AR - A
REBGERMEENELRE  (FRR
MEREER - ARNKEFAIEE S & B
womE BRER ERRM - Z
BERAESZ L Bt ReeBHRREK
MMM E NHERRANER SRR
BEB IR R M G BAHRRAEY

[ K

—  BRFERTAEANNEE - ARHE
EONEEF  BEEMNLEY H%E
NRETENERERRER -

— FEESFAERASHBERNREERE
SIHARTMBRENENAEN -

— HEERAFELCLSTERNREN
R AR - RIBFMENKERRE -
ERAFEREFHEIBREFHNERT
FEEM - HMAREBHYE BEERENF
BREENELBERRE - IREMIR
REFEEATHEEN  MBELEERH
A S R IREEBARAMBERERPOMA
BT - REABNWETTE - A
EERRIFBRETR - RAINGEHZ
ERZBE®RE B RGN ETR
Ee M RRFEXBEAAESR

B BERBTHRERERLE -

— HESAMBmROBEIHIN A
BNAR  BREEE  UREETER
REBTAERREBRHMEIR -



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

—  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Tong Wai Hang.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
Tong Wai Hang
Practising certificate number P06231
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

M A= 22
meEBE®RE
For the year ended 31 March 2023
HEZZT-_=F=ZA=+—HILHFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(LA TTHIR)

2023 2022
—EC-=F T F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FAET
Revenue PN 5 97,563 109,995
Cost of sales HE KA (46,861) (58,492)
Gross profit EF 50,702 51,503
Other income and gains R NS & 5 17,062 17,472
Fair value gain/(loss) on investment CEYEZ N EKE
properties, net (BE)  FE 46,284 (73,253)
Fair value (loss)/gain on equity BAFEFABREEREZR
investments at fair value through ERE A NVE
profit or loss, net (BB), Wz 38 (75,709) 110,239
Administrative expenses 1T X (71,663) (75,738)
Other operating expenses, net HEMg e  F8 (17,715) (70,827)
Finance costs B 15 & A 7 (36,704) (25,225)
Share of profits and losses of DAREEE R BRI R
associates, net BB FE 1,807 20,750
LOSS BEFORE TAX B AIE B 6 (85,936) (45,079)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frigi (X)), K% 10 (7,998) 14,092
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AEEEE (93,934) (30,987)
Attributable to: AT FEAE -
— Owners of the Company — RRQRHEAEA (90,967) (27,274)
— Non-controlling interests — FEERER (2,967) (3,713)
(93,934) (30,987)
HK cents HK cents
Bl B
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AATREEBERAIZTEAE
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF HERER
THE COMPANY 12
— Basic — EK (6.20) (2.42)
— Diluted — #E (6.20) (2.42)

The notes on pages 115 to 250 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEBRERK

Htt=mKaE R

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-=F=A=1+—HBIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2023 2022
—E=-= —E=-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTEx FHET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEEFE (93,934) (30,987)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/  Hth2 @ (&1]), WA
INCOME
Other comprehensive (loss)/income RUAB BB AT R EFT 5 58
that may be reclassified to profit or  ZEi8z 7 EM 2 M|
loss in subsequent periods: (E518), WA -
Exchange differences: ME N ZE5E
— Exchange differences on — MEBINERREE
translation of foreign operations E 5 =58 (112,774) 63,664
— Share of other comprehensive — DiFEE QAR HEMERE
(loss)/income of associates, net (BB, W= F5E (20) 325
— Reclassification of cumulative — FRNHEBINEBL 2
exchange fluctuation reserve of a ZETEXR KB HE
foreign operation disposed of =i
during the year 34 (6) -
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income A& BRI AJaEE T 548
that may be reclassified to profit or ~ Z=EzEzH 2@ (E1E),
loss in subsequent periods vl (112,800) 63,989
Other comprehensive income/(loss) RUARHE ST~ e &5
that will not be reclassified to profit D EZEEZF 2 H i
or loss in subsequent periods: 2EWE(EE)
Leasehold land and buildings: AELREF
— Surplus on revaluation — BHAH% 14 4,107 5,518
— Income tax effect — 3R & 29 (529) (602)
Net other comprehensive income that R IAEHIR S~ & &=
will not be reclassified to profit or ~ DiEEEZ 2 HM
loss in subsequent periods 2 HE K EFE 3,578 4,916
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ AFEHM2ME (&FE)
INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF Wz @ BRBi#&
TAX (109,222) 68,905
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ ZAFE2M| (&)
INCOME FOR THE YEAR W 5 48 28 (203,156) 37,918
Attributable to: AT e
— Owners of the Company — RNRAEHA A (199,984) 41,510
— Non-controlling interests — FIERER (3.172) (3,592)
(203,156) 37,918

The notes on pages 115 to 250 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE B BRR K

As at 31 March 2023
RZZZ=%=A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2023 2022
—E-= g
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Goodwill GRS 13 — —
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MR E 14 282,463 306,196
Investment properties WEYE 15 684,114 1,011,060
Investments in associates REtE AR ZIRE 16 4,736 9,838
Equity investments at fair value BRAFEFABREZ
through profit or loss xR & 17 157,463 229,790
Total non-current assets kRBEELE 1,128,776 1,556,884
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Due from associates & Y B 2 N B FRIE 16 2,532 2,399
Properties held for sale under BRPSEVERSE
development and properties ES
held for sale 18 702,073 784,721
Inventories BE 19 2,883 6,221
Accounts receivable FEULER IR 20 14,048 16,590
Prepayments, deposits and other FERRIEAE Bk
receivables H fth JE WK I8 21 26,943 29,044
Tax recoverable A4 B 7 18 24,940 26,117
Pledged deposits B AER 22 4,000 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents He kB EEEE 22 24,408 43,859
801,827 912,951
Assets of a disposal group classified as DA€ 2 HE4AR
held for sale BE 35 332,177 —
Total current assets RBEELE 1,134,004 912,951
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Accounts payable JETRRIE 23 5,062 6,706
Other payables and accruals Hit eI sE M EFTE 24 95,697 110,313
Due to associates & A~ Bt = A B A 16 — 2,650
Due to related parties FETEE A T RIE 25 6,996 13,169
Tax payable FEBIIE 27,794 22,818
Interest-bearing bank and other FFERITREMEER
borrowings 26 222,199 263,324
Lease liabilities HEBE 27 326 —
358,074 418,980
Liabilities directly associated with the HEHEAFEEETE
assets classified as held for sale HEcaE 35 57,748 —
Total current liabilities =R E L] 415,822 418,980
Net current assets REBEERE 718,182 493,971
Total assets less current liabilities BEZABERABERE 1,846,958 2,050,855
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
GEMBRREK

As at 31 March 2023
RZZEZ=F=A=+—8H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2023 2022
—EgE-= —=E-
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 FET TFAET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBAE
Bonds payable FETEFH 28 33,000 —
Interest-bearing bank and other EERITREMEE
borrowings 26 169,970 197,415
Loan from a related party —RBEEATZEXR 25 51,300 —
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEEE 29 124,762 181,336
Lease liabilities HEeaE 27 675 —
Total non-current liabilities kFBEBERE 379,707 378,751
NET ASSETS EEFHE 1,467,251 1,672,104
EQUITY Ex
Equity attributable to owners of ZAAQTFEFA
the Company Bz
Issued capital BT 30 146,682 146,682
Reserves i 32 1,331,044 1,531,028
1,477,726 1,677,710
Non-controlling interests FERER (10,475) (5,606)
Total equity R 1,467,251 1,672,104

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on EHEFER T -_=F A -F+HLAHLE

29 June 2023.

Tjia Boen Sien
i B
Director

BF

R AT -

Wang Jing Ning
IRE
Director

EF

The notes on pages 115 to 250 form part of the consolidated £ 115Z 2508 2 M i@k R A MEHRE 2 —

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REREZEE R

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE_Z-_=F=fF=+—RHI&E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(LA TTHIR)

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARTEEARE
Share Property Capital ~ Exchange Share Non-
Issued premium  Contributed Other  revaluation Capital ~ redemption  fluctuation option Retained controling Total
capital account surplus reserve resenve reserve reserve resenve reserve profits Total interests equity
BERA RGERE  RARH  EUER NEREREE  ATER ATRORE EXRDEE BREGE R & FERER  EREE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tk Tk Tikn Tk Tk Tikn Tk Tk Tikn Tk Tk Tikn Tk
At 1 April 2021 RZF=-§@A-A 97,788 243,040 15,262 23,061 125,022 (9,240) 14,451 13473 975 1,085,563 1,589,401 (2979) 1,586,422
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - - a1 3713 (30987)
Other comprehensive income for the year A% EE 2 EH%
Surplus on revaluation of leasehold land  ERfEELHREFIRE
and buidings, net of tax itas - - - - 4916 - - - - - 4916 - 4916
Share of other comprehensive income  AEBE R AL 2 ENE
of associates - - - - - - - 325 - - 325 - 35
Exchange differences on translation of ~ REENEHAEEL
foreign operations EXEE - - - - - - - 63,543 - - 63,543 121 63,664
Total comprehensive incomef{oss) RERRENE/ (BB EE
for the year - - - - 4916 - - 63,868 - (27,274) 41,510 (3,592) 37918
Release of revaluation reserve EiffE2RR - - - - (5,335) - - - - 5335 - - -
Equity-settled share option amangement LA REEEBRER - - - - - - - - 9 - 9 - 9
Transfer of share option reserve upon ~ BREXNBERBRERE
the lapse of share options - - - - - - - - (142) 142 - - -
Issue of new shares under rights issue  #RATHAHRA
(note 30(b)) (Fi¥306) 48,894 - - - - - - - - - 48,894 - 48,894
Share issue expenses LGl - (2,187) - - - - - - - - 2,187) - (2,187)
Contributions from non-controlling REMBLAFERRERM
shareholders of subsidiaries A - - - - - - - - - - - 965 965
At 31 March 2022 W=2-=§zf=4-8 1668 MOSI 1526 3061 1403 QOF  144STF TIP 95 1,043766* 167,710 (5608 1,672,104

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REREgBR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE-_Z-_==ZA=+—RHL&EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(AETTHIR)
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARTREARE
Share Property Capital  Exchange Share Non-
Issued  premium  Contributed Other  revaluation Capital redemption  fluctuation option  Retained controlling Total
capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity

BRIRA ROERR EAR%  AbEE NREMEE  RAEE APWDGR EXRDEE BREGE  REM fit FERRE  R2HE
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000

HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

FER F#R TER FER F#R TER FER F#R TER &R F#R TER FER

At 1 April 2022 R-B--EMB-A 146,682 240,853 15,262 23,061 124,603 (9,240) 14,451 .34 95 1,043,766 1,677,710 (5,606) 1,672,104
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - — (9097 (90,%7) (967)  (93934)
Other comprehensive incomefloss) TEREM2ENG/(B8)

for the year
Surplus on revaluation of leasehold ERBELBRET RS

[and and buildings, net of tax HiEFE - - - - 3578 - - - - 3578 - 3,578
Share of other comprehensive loss of ~ AEEERAEMRESE

associates - - - - - - (20) - - (20) - (20)
Exchange differences on translation of ~ BEENERAELZES

foreign operations 28 - - - - - - (112,569) - - (112,569) (205) (112,774
Reclassfication of cumulative exchange ~ EMAEERC HEFNER

fluctuation reserve of a foreign ZBHEXRBGEE

operation disposed of during the year  (¥534)

(note 3¢) - - - - - - ) - - () - ()
Total comprehensive incomefloss) TERREUE/(FR)EE

for the year - - - - 3578 - (112,595) - (90967)  (199,984) (3172) (203,156
Release of revaluation reserve Bl r: {2 - - - - (5,509) — — — 5,509 - - -
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) HE-BHBAR (Wik34) - - - - - - - - - - (233) (233)
Transfer of share option reserve upon ~~ BIREX NBABRERE

the lapse of share options — — — — — — — (925) 925 — — —
Contributions from non-controlling REWBRAFARRRE

shareholders of subsidiaries pid - - - - - - - - - - 636 636
At 31 March 2023 R-F-=§=A=t+-8 146,682 240,853* 15,262* 23,061* 122,672% (9,240)* 14,457* (35,254)% —* 959,233 1,477,126 (10475) 1,467,251
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBERERERNGAEMBRARANZEGRE HEE

HK$1,331,044,000 (2022: HK$1,531,028,000) in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the excess of the
nominal value of the subsidiaries’ shares acquired over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
thereof, pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation on 21 May
1997.

The notes on pages 115 to 250 form part of the consolidated
financial statements.

1,331,044,000/%8 7T (= T = = 4 : 1,531,028,000
AT °

REBZERBBERBER—NANEFRA
“t+—BXREEEHEMBEARBRRRG 2
HESLETURIZERG 2 ARG R’G
HEZERE-

F1N5E250 A 2 BB M B IRE 2 —

BB
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_=F=-FA=+-—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2023 2022
—E-=H —E_F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5E Fox FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXBHRBATRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax B 75 Bl 5 18 (85,936) (45,079)
Adjustments for: M THNIEB EHFAE :
— Finance costs — UBER 7 36,704 25,225
— Share of profits and losses of — DihEE R EEF R
associates, net EE - FE (1,807) (20,750)
— Remeasurement loss on investment — B FWHEEHHE
in an associate for step R—EEERFZ
acquisition "E BB 6 1,984 —
— Interest income — FEWKA 5 (167) (128)
— Fair value (gain)/loss on investment — &YX Z AT (&
properties, net (Wz),/ B8 - 58 6 (46,284) 73,253
— Dividend income from equity — BRAFEFABERZ
investments at fair value through IR iR E 2 IR E WA
profit or loss 5 (1,350) (1,500)
— Loss on disposal of a subsidiary — BE—FWBARZ
SR 6 2,141 —
— (Gain)/loss on disposal of items of — HEWE - WEME
property, plant and equipment WIER (W), iR 6 (56) 59
— Depreciation of property, plant and — #1% - = K& REZ
equipment weE 6 12,702 13,086
— Provision for net realisable value of — &Y 2 A] #18F
properties held for sale, net BEE - FE 6 10,374 41,866
— (Reversal of provision)/provision for — & (B & E),
inventories BB 6 (389) 1,609
— Deficit from revaluation of property, — ¥1%  WE L XEE
plant and equipment HEA 6 1,271 19,413
— Impairment of goodwill — EERE 6 1,683 —
— (Reversal of impairment)/impairment — FEUKERIE CRiERE ),
of accounts receivable, net WIE R 6 (52) 8,915
— Impairment of other receivables — Eth YR IE R E 6 485 496
— Fair value loss/(gain) on equity — BATEFAERER
investments at fair value through 2R E 2 A E
profit or loss, net BRIz  BE 6 75,709 (110,239)
— Equity-settled share option expense — AR #E 45 & 08 B
L3 6 — 92
7,012 6,318
Movement in balances with related BB ATHEHRZE
parties (5,796) 115
Increase in properties held for sale BRPGEMERTE
under development and properties LZE DIl
held for sale (6,078) (28,776)
Decrease in inventories FERL 2,871 3,342
Decrease/(increase) in accounts JE U BR IB R 4, (48 00)
receivable 2,459 (2,701)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, TERTIA - e REM
deposits and other receivables JEW FRIE (38 hn), R (878) 4,431
Decrease in restricted cash = PR 35 & A - 4,033
(Decrease)/increase in accounts FESEBR R OB ), /18 N
payable (1,349) 707

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_T-=F=A=1+—HBIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(LA TTHIR)
2023 2022
—E-=£ —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B FET FHET
(Decrease)/increase in other payables — E b fE (5B K ezt &
and accruals CRA),/ 4 hn (8,574) 24,292
Cash (used in)/generated from KESEE (FTA), /e
operations He (10,333) 11,761
Interest paid EEREES (44,757) (33,168)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ENEBNER (85) (87)
Overseas taxes paid 28N IE (487) (41)
Net cash flows used in operating KEXBHMARESHRE
activities FE (55.,662) (21,535)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REXBFBHERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 FI B 5 167 128
Dividend received from equity B A FE ABEE
investments at fair value through i T 2o E N
profit or loss 5 1,350 1,500
Purchases of equity investments at fair EEBEIZAFE ABZEE
value through profit or loss ZRERE (3.382) (8)
Purchases of items of property, plant BBAYE - E M &RE
and equipment BB 14 (356) (11,142)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Ui — P B R A 33 (1,753) —
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEHNEAR 34 (6) —
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE - BERREE
property, plant and equipment B RS 508 71 40
Proceeds from disposal of an equity  HEIEFERAFET AR
investments designated at fair value  ZHBR ZARIERE B
through profit or loss KIA — 5,681
(Advances to)/repayment from (MBERRBMNRE),/
associates, net BN RlE R B
BIA R (133) 402
Investment in an associate R—EE RRINIEE (783) (361)
Increase in pledged deposits B 17 0L hn — (1,500)
Dividend income from associates DEL NI SN 16 5,614 39,204
Net cash flows generated from REXBMBRERE
investing activities FEE 789 33,944
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEXBHERERE
ACTIVITIES
New bank and other borrowings I RIT REMEER 36 329,767 286,402
Repayment of bank and other EERTEREMEER
borrowings 36 (389,681) (315,198)
Principal portion of lease liabilities HEBEZ RN 36 (30) —
Advance from a related party RE—BHEEAT ZER 36 51,300 —
Contributions to subsidiaries from IR ETRME AR
non-controlling interests AE 636 965
Proceeds from issue of bonds BITESF 2B FIE 36 33,000 —
Net proceeds from issue of new share R EF 27T #T RS
upon rights issue FRigRIBF 8 — 46,707
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GREBRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-Z-_=F=-FA=+-—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2023 2022
—E-=8 —E-CF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FAT
Net cash flows generated from RMEXKMERERE
financing activities HEE 24,992 18,876
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH RE&RES%EER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS GmA),/ 8 inF 58 (29,881) 31,285
Cash and cash equivalents at REDzRERREEE
beginning of year HE 40,170 8,162
Effect of foreign exchange rate ExgssvE
change (1,629) 723
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RERZBESRESZE
END OF YEAR IEH 8,660 40,170
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH HBeRREZEEHEH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS il
Cash and bank balances Ba MIBTT4E 22 24,408 43,859
Bank overdrafts SRITEX 26 (15,868) (3,689)
Cash and cash equivalents of a SEAGEREMERZ
disposal group classified as RekRE&FEEE
held for sale 35 120 —
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS REESREREBRMIIZ
STATED IN THE CONSOLIDATED RekBEELEEER
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 8,660 40,170

The notes on pages 115 to 250 form part of the consolidated 2511552508 7 HisEEX R M BMEZ —
financial statements. B o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BMBRRWE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 REAIREEER
Deson Development International Holdings Limited (the MEERERBRERBRAR ([XAR])
“Company"”) is a limited liability company incorporated in e—ERBREEIMRIZEREER
Bermuda. The address of the Company’s registered office is 7] o ANAE] 2z s S E U & Victoria
located at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Place, Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Place,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and its principal place of business Hamilton HM10, Bermuda ' MmEFXZE
is located at 11th Floor, Nanyang Plaza, 57 Hung To Road, BEMBEAEENESEBEBS7IRE
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. FEBZIE -
During the year, the Group was involved in the following FR AEBEZFEEBOT
principal activities:
()  property development and investment; () WEBREMKE:
(i) trading of medical equipment and home security and (il EEBEXRBLEARERZEBD
automation products; and fEER: &
(i)  operation of a hotel. (i) B —EDEE -
Information about subsidiaries FENERTANER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARAFZEWBRARINFEAT :
follows:
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered Class of equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital shares held to the Company  Principal activities
BRATZER/
L MR MR E R HEMRA FEROERN ARAREEZEIN FEXB
Direct  Indirect
B Gk
Advancost Assets Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
("BVI")/Hong Kong
REREES %0 ERER RAERK
(RBREZES)/BH
Allied Health Elements Company Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 Ordinary — 90 Selling of wellness and
pandemic prevention
products
BT ERRERAERAA B 3,000,000 &ER BERERNRER
Blocks Success International Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
HRRLEE/ B 1% EBK RERK
Century Logistics Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
RERRES/BTHE %0 EER RAERK
Deson Commercial City Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
BEHENERAE 6 R EBK RERK
Deson Development Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$200  Ordinary 100 —  Investment holding
BREREREEERAA RERREE/BE 200ET EBEK RARK
Deson Dynasty Investment (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
BEANRE (BB ERA 6 1R EBEK RERK
Deson Innovative Concept Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
BERMRERERA BE AT BRK RARK

MERREBEEFRAAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 RAIARKEEEH(A)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EREMBEATNER (&)
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered Class of equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital shares held to the Company  Principal activities
BRTEER/
L ML EMRE LY ARRE AREROEL FRABEEEESL FEXH
Direct  Indirect
EE B3
Deson Innovative Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 Ordinary - 100  Selling, distribution and
marketing of home security
and automation products
HEEEARARAR Bk 1,000,000 E@K HE DEMERRERZR
BYER
Deson Medical Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
HERLEE/BE (E 1 REER
Deson (Ningbo) Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$100  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
BE (BR)REERLA RERLES/BE 100571 EER REER
Deson Property Development (Kaifeng) Co., Ltd. People’s Republic of China  HK$311,880,000 N/A — 100  Investment holding
(note (a)) ("PRC")/Mainland China
BEEXEE(RH)ERAF (Mit@) REARLRE ([HE]),/ 311,880,008 TEM REER
FEIAM
Deson Technology Holdings Ltd. BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
ERRLES/BE [Eo:3 1 REER
Deson Ventures (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
BEEX(FR)ARAR 00 BT EER REER
Deson Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
BEREBBAR RERLES/BE 1ET EBR REER
Gosford Technology Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
RERRES/BE 1ET BBKR REER
Grand On Enterprise Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary — 100  Property holding
BREXBBRAR BB BT BBRK MEER
Honour Advance Ltd. Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
IHBERRA £ BT EBR REER
Medical Technologies Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary — 100  Trading of medical equipment
EREAREZEHRERAF 0 10,0008 L@k EERBERAE
MTL Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary - 100 Installation and maintenance of
medical equipment and
health care products
HERBERTIIRERARF 30 28T EEM ZRLBEREERRREER
New Perfect Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
RERLEE/BR 1ET EBR REER
Often Reach Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
RERLRES/BE 1ET BBKR REER
Peaceful Elite Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
RERAES/BE 1ET EBKR REER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 R2EREBEEE (E)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

FRNELRNESR (&)

Issued ordinary/

Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered Class of equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital shares held to the Company  Principal activities
BRITEER/
A% MR MR E LY HZRE FRROHER FAREGERESL FEEH
Direct  Indirect
H#E Gk
Quick Skill Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
HRELEE /B 1ET EBK REER
Super Sight Investments Inc. BVI/Mainland China US$1 Ordinary — 100  Property development
RERTES/HEAL XL BRKR NEER
Synergy Asia Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
HEDNERRA BE 100,000 7 LR REER
Universal Focus Developments Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000 Ordinary — 80 Investment holding
RERUEE/BE 50,0007 Ei@k REZER
Win Glory Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary - 100 Human resources
RIUEEXERNAA B0 10,0008 7T Eidfk ANEBR
Winsome Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
REEEXERAA BE 28T LB REER
Wonderful Hope Limited BVI/Mainland China US$1 Ordinary — 100  Property development
HRELES/HEN 1ET EBR NEERE
Woodmont Profits Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
RERRRE/FE XL BRKR REER
Yan Man Developments Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
REETHE/FE 12T EEKR REER
THEX (§8) ARAF (hote () PRC/Mainland China HK$12,000,000 N/A - 100 Property holding
TR ER (58) ARAR (k) /R ER 12,000,007 T8 ESEES
BETREXEERAA (note (a) PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 N/A — 100 Property investment
BETREEERAF (M) RE/RERL AR¥E TER NERE
40,000,0007T
Note: B 5
(a) Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law. (a) BERBEERFMAIEBERE -

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

ERANERESARGHAREASF
EEEBKIBEZEIBERAEEEE
FEERRNZARBMBAR - EE
RASMGHMBIHE QB ZFBI L - &
NG EES NN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for leasehold
land and buildings classified as property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and equity investments
which have been measured at fair value. Disposal group
held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell as further explained
in note 2.4. These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000") except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:
(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2.1

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

mREE (&)

REEE (&)
WARRERLBERERPREIRET
REBREESRUER - BIFHER
RABWRETRLRERIE A%
EeEEMmARBEELER B

HEZERETEMREERA A
ZEMRH

(a)

REBEEMENLMESR 2
K

(b)

(0 AEENREEREERERE-

B8 2 B 2 B 75 R Ty AR AR A RIAR R
ZHRERLER ST HERE - B L
AZEEAAEENGEFEE R ELR
BAR  WHEBGE ABREEZIEE
RIEEABIE -

B BHIE R R A REM  BER
Hpzmb RS BB NEBERARER
REHA ARIEERER - TERENR
NEIAZEERAR WA - FH
X NAEBKERAFRERZHENRS
MRS AR 28 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

2.1

2.2

LA TTEIR)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for

the first time for the current year's consolidated financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 16

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

a) Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
(the "Conceptual Framework”) issued in June 2018
without significantly changing its requirements. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its
recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if
they were incurred separately rather than assumed in
a business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3
should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition
date. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to business combinations that occurred
on or after 1 April 2022. As there were no
contingent assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
within the scope of the amendments arising in the
business combination that occurred during the vyear,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)

b)  Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment any proceeds from selling items
produced while bringing that asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such
items, and the cost of those items as determined by
HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. The Group has
applied the amendments retrospectively to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use
on or after 1 April 2021. Since there was no sale of
items produced prior to the property, plant and
equipment being available for use, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Q) Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose
of assessing whether a contract is onerous under
HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises
the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs
that relate directly to a contract include both the
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct
labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs
that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of
property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the
contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded
unless they are explicitly chargeable to the
counterparty under the contract. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to contracts for
which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1
April 2022 and no onerous contracts were identified.
Therefore, the amendments did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

d)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41.
Details of the amendments that are applicable to the
Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability
are substantially different from the terms of the
original financial liability. These fees include only
those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received
by either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf. The Group has applied the amendment
prospectively from 1 April 2022. As there was
no modification or exchange of the Group’s
financial liabilities during the year, the
amendment did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

124

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?
Insurance Contracts'

Insurance Contracts' ®

Initial Application of
HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9
— Comparative Information®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)* *

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'

Definition of Accounting
Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction'

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

23 EEMEEMREMZEBHHR

HEA

ARER B BN 5% A
FIE MM E R ARE

AR ELER -

BRI HRELER
BIOHEREDS
FTAERIZE 2857
(ZZ2—F) 23]

BBMBHRELER
F165 2185

BRI HRELER
F175%

BB RS %R
ESVE A H)

BBMBHRELER
EVE A H)

EEEER
152 (53]

BB B
1R 58

EBEENE IR
BRI R BB 5 HRE
HERIEBRNEFE25E

BB g LR
F8H 2B

BB g AR
F125R 2B

AN
(=)

iR
M HE] BT &

MBmREART

KEHBERE
NAIRAED
EZHENEE
HEHHE?

ERENZEE
AR’

RERE L

Rigas

MR EES
B EELE
175 R BB
TS %R
E95% —
L& E KL

BEIER
BN IETRED
(==2=%F
CHEES

BERH
ERBAE
(z&2==
CHIDE

SEHBUR 2R

SRHhRTZER'

HE-QRGEL
ZEENAR
MR E T
MIE'



2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2024
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the

2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or
after 1 April 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020
Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was
revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

s As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption
that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for
annual periods beginning before 1 April 2023

6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on
initial application of HKFRS 17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 April 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, in particular
the determination over whether an entity has a right to
defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months
after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments
also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022
Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require
additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when it has
a right to defer settlement of those liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 April 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. An entity that applies the
2020 Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously
the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision.
Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to
apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is not
necessary. The Group is currently revisiting the accounting
policy disclosures to ensure consistency with the
amendments.

is non-

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April
2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the
start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

2.3

24

LA TTEIR)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2023 and shall be applied to
transactions related to leases and decommissioning
obligations at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or
other component of equity as appropriate at that date. In
addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the
associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group’s investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in
a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount
of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input
and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower
than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units
or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of
the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its leasehold land and buildings
classified as property, plant and equipment, investment
properties and equity investments at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1: based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 2:

based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

Level 3:

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, properties held for sale under development and
completed properties held for sale, financial assets,
investment properties and a disposal group classified as held
for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or
cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In
testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) The party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i)
(i)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or a parent of the Group; or

(b)  The party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

The entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group; and the
sponsoring employers of the post-employment
benefit plan;

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or
valuation less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Land and buildings, classified as right-of-use assets and
owned assets, are measured at valuation less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of
property, plant and equipment are dealt with as movements
in the property revaluation reserve. If the total of this
reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual
asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent
revaluation surplus is credited to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss to the extent of the deficit previously
charged. An annual transfer from the property revaluation
reserve to retained profits is made for the difference
between the depreciation based on the revalued carrying
amount of an asset and the depreciation based on the
asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the
relevant portion of the property revaluation reserve realised
in respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained
profits as a movement in reserves.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

24 TESHBEME (E)

ME - BERRBURFTE

WE - BFE MBI A A ER R
WEREMREEEARK - W% BFE
KBEBREEB ZRANEEEBABR LS
% B ER AR AR K 3t B (E 5 E
EIABRS N ZERER -

WE - BEMREEBERANEFERME
EZRX  IRERREERS  —RE
ERELZHRRNEGABRERNE -
MHBERT & R  EARE ZH A
REEFREETUNERMESRE -
ME- BERRBZIZHOHTOHE
B AEBERRBZFHN /B EEE
RERZ@ERNEE - WHEFLART
o

NERERAEEERABEEN LR
BFREERERRFITEBERR

e

AEBEHETHEABREGREEZ
AVPEEEREETSEEAZEE Y
X BMEMREBEZEEZDIENEER
EEEEEE - REREEEE It
2 BT RIABHEA - AEEE
M BERABEANE -  HREWE
EEBTAZEBER - EBEK
ZEBARR  ENEELEMKEELZ
WEERERZEEERKAAZFTEZ
ZRED  BFEHMEERARRER
EREEN - HE-REREER - 1
MEEEERZMEEGHFE 2B B
MIBARB &N - (FRFHEIE2EE
# -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis or
reducing balance basis to write off the cost or valuation
amount of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings Over the remaining lease terms on
the straight-line basis

Leasehold Over the remaining lease terms on
improvements the straight-line basis

Furniture and 15% on the reducing balance basis
fixtures

Office and other 15% on the reducing balance basis
equipment

Tools and 15% on the reducing balance basis
equipment

Motor vehicles 15% on the reducing balance basis

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation amount of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation methods are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

For a transfer from owner-occupied properties to properties
held for sale, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use.
The Group accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated above for owner-occupied property up to
the date of change in use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Investment properties
Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use
asset which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business.
Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the year of the retirement or
disposal.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered
principally through a sales transaction rather than through
continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset or
disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for the sale of such assets or disposal groups and
its sale must be highly probable. All assets and liabilities of
a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are reclassified as
held for sale regardless of whether the Group retains a
non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for
sale are not depreciated or amortised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, except for the leasehold
land which is measured at fair value, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Leased property

Over the remaining lease terms
Over the remaining lease terms

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(@)  Right-of-use assets (Continued)

(b)

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in
leasehold land held as inventories, they are
subsequently measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value in accordance with the Group's policy
for “inventories”. When a right-of-use asset meets
the definition of investment property, it is included in
investment properties. The corresponding right-of-use
asset is initially measured at cost, and subsequently
measured at fair value, in accordance with the
Group's policy for “investment properties”.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a
change to future lease payments resulting from a
change index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

in an
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies
the recognition exemption for leased assets to leases
that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is included in revenue or other income in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss depending on the
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit
or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of accounts receivable
that does not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Accounts
receivable that does not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)
The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are
not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

(@)  Financial assets at amortised costs

(debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

(b)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial
position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and
equity investments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount
of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a "pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs"”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancement that are integral
to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
accounts receivable which applies the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1:  Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2:  Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3:  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For accounts receivable that does not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts payable,
other payables, certain accruals, amounts due to associates
and related parties, bonds payable and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities at amortised cost
(interest-bearing loans and borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.

Properties held for sale under development and
properties held for sale

Properties under development which are intended for sale
are included in properties held for sale under development
and properties held for sale and are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value, which is estimated by the
directors based on the prevailing market conditions. Costs
include all costs directly incurred in the properties under
development, including development expenditure, borrowing
costs and other direct costs.

Completed properties for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all development
expenditure, applicable borrowing costs and other direct
costs attributable to such properties. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to the prevailing market prices on
an individual property basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it
is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

— when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

— in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

—  when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

— in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profits will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When
the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Sale of properties
Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at
the point in time when the purchasers obtained the
physical possession of the completed property, and
the Group has a present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

(b) Sale of products
Revenue from the sale of products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the assets is
transferred to customers, generally on delivery of
products.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(c) Hotel operations
Revenue from the provision of hotel operations is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Revenue from food and beverage operations of a
hotel is recognised at the point in time when the
control of food and beverage products is transferred
to the customer, generally upon purchase of the food
and beverage items by the customer.

Revenue from other sources
Rental income from investment properties is recognised on
a time proportion basis over the lease terms.

Other income
Rental income from property, plant and equipment is
recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfer control of
the related goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had
not been modified, if the original terms of the award are
met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-
based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee
as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of loss per
share.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Other employee benefits
Pension schemes
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the *“MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution retirement
benefit scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”) under the
Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who were eligible to participate. The ORSO
Scheme operated in a similar way to the MPF Scheme,
except that when an employee left the ORSO Scheme
before his/her interest in the Group’s employer
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions
payable by the Group were reduced by the relevant amount
of the forfeited contributions. With effect from 1 December
2000, the Group has operated both schemes and those
employees who are not eligible to participate in the ORSO
Scheme are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for
the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation
rate of 2.5% (2022: 2.3%) has been applied to the
expenditure on the individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’'s memorandum of association and
Bye-laws grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies
These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the time whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to
an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is
the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Determining the timing of satisfaction of contracts
related to sale of properties

The Group determined that the sales contract with
customers requires the Group to complete the development
of property before transferring the legal title of the relevant
property to customers. The Group also determined that the
Group does not have an enforceable right to payment from
customers for performance completed to date before the
transfer of legal title of the relevant property to customers.
Consequently, the Group concluded that the timing of
transfer of properties is at the point in time when the
purchasers obtained the physical possession or the legal title
of the completed property.

Impairment of non-current assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the
Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred that may affect the asset value or such event
affecting the asset value does not exist; (2) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset or
derecognition; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections, including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by
management to determine the level of impairment,
including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions
in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not
constituting a major part of the economic life of the
commercial property and the present value of the minimum
lease payments not amounting to substantially all the fair
value of the commercial property, that it retains
substantially all the significant risks and rewards of
incidental to ownership of these properties which are leased
out on and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Some
properties comprise certain portions that are held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and other portions that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately (or leased out separately under a
finance lease), the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property does not
qualify as an investment property.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties
In the absence of current prices in an active market for
similar properties, the Group considers information from a
variety of sources, including:

(@)  current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location (or subject to
different leases or other contracts), adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties in less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the dates of the transactions that
occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the
terms of any existing lease and other contracts and
(when possible) by external evidence such as current
market rents for similar properties in the same
location and condition, and using discount rates that
reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty
in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 March
2023 was HK$684,114,000 (2022: HK$1,011,060,000).
Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are given in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimation of net realisable value of properties
held for sale under development and properties
held for sale

The Group considers information from a variety of sources,
including recent prices of similar properties in the same
location and condition, with adjustments to reflect any
changes in economic conditions since the dates of
transactions that occurred at those prices. Particulars of the
properties held for sale under development and properties
held for sale of the Group are set out in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Land appreciation tax

Under the Provisional Regulations on land appreciation tax
("LAT”) implemented upon the issuance of the Provisional
Regulations of the PRC on 27 January 1995, all gains
arising from the transfer of real estate properties in
Mainland China with effect from 1 January 1994 are
subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
from sales of properties less deductible expenditures,
including the amortisation of land use rights, borrowing
costs and all property development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaged in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to LAT,
which have been included in income tax. However, the
implementation of these taxes varies amongst various
Mainland China cities and the Group has not finalised its
LAT returns with various tax authorities. Accordingly,
significant judgement is required in determining the amount
of land appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises these liabilities based on
management’s best estimates. When the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact on the
income tax and provisions for LAT in the period in which
such determination is made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimates regarding the realisability of deferred
tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies.

Fair values of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based on
market-based valuation techniques as detailed in note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements. The valuation requires
the Group to determine the comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group
makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size
differences. The Group categorises the fair values of these
investments as Level 3 valuations. Further details are
included in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

4  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
three (2022: three) reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@) the property development and investment business
segment is engaged in property development of
residential and commercial properties and the holding
of investment properties;

(b)  the trading business segment is engaged in the trading
of medical equipment and home security and

automation products; and

() the "others” segment comprises, principally, the
operation of a hotel.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of profit/loss before
tax. The profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with
the Group's profit/loss before tax except that interest and
dividend income, fair value changes on equity investments
at fair value through profit or loss, finance costs, share of
profits and losses of associates as well as unallocated head
office and corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude investments in associates, other
unallocated head office, corporate assets and assets of a
disposal group classified as held for sale as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities and liabilities directly associated with the
assets classified as held for sale as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 ReEHEER(E)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023 BEE_=F=A=+—HLFE
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MEBRR
REEK BIEK Hith wat
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FHE T FHE T FHE T FHET

Segment revenue (note 5) DEWA (EES)

Sales to external customers HE THINEEE P 34,818 52,176 10,569 97,563
Other income and gains H bW A R Mz 14,149 1,107 289 15,545
48,967 53,283 10,858 113,108

Segment results R E 36,367 4,325 (6,931) 33,761
Reconciliation: HEE -
Bank interest income H|ITHAE WA 167
Dividend income from equity  ZAF AT ABIEE

investments at fair value 2 RIERE RS

through profit or loss A 1,350
Fair value loss on equity RAFEFABER

investments at fair value ZRHERE 2 A

through profit or loss, net BkE - F5 (75,709)
Finance costs &R (36,704)
Share of profits and losses of 7 {5 HE % R B1EH | &

associates, net B8 - F 1,807
Unallocated expenses ROERAXZ (10,608)
Loss before tax B 0 AT 718 (85,936)
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 REIEEHE)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023 (Continued) BE-—ZE-=F=A=+—HL#HF
E (&)
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MERER
REEK RS Hith Fohy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FET FET
Segment assets SEEE 1,553,825 17,897 134,963 1,706,685
Reconciliation: HEE
Investments in associates REERRIZRE 4,736
Assets of a disposal group classified as ~ DiEAFE 2 HEAR
held for sale BE 332,177
Corporate and other unallocated assets A" MEfMADEEE 219,182
Total assets AELE 2,262,780
Segment liabilities SEEE 274,105 9,424 23,204 306,733
Reconciliation: #HEE -
Liabilities directly associated with the BOMAGEAEER
assets classified as held for sale HEzE8E 57,748
Corporate and other unallocated RAIREMEKDEAE
liabilities 431,048
Total liabilities BEEE 795,529
Other segment information: HittpEER
Fair value gain on investment properties, % &% N FEUWS -
net FE (46,284) — — (46,284)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEME  BFERR
property, plant and equipment EEER/ (W) 14 — (70) (56)
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of ~ JEURERIE CRERE),/
accounts receivable, net HE - FE (65) 8 5 (52)
Impairment of other receivables H b R B R E 485 — — 485
Reversal of provision for inventories FERERE — (389) — (389)
Provision for net realisable value of FEMELNERFE
properties held for sale, net BE FE 10,374 — — 10,374
Deficit from revaluation of property, WE - BERBEER
plant and equipment CX=pd o — — 1,271 1,271
Depreciation of property, plant WE - BERSENE
and equipment 7,311 743 4,648 12,702
Capital expenditure* AR 13 316 27 356
* Capital expenditure represents additions of property, plant and * BRRZIERBEWME  BERRE -

equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 ReEHEER(E)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE-_E-_—H=ZA=+—HBL#H
E
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MEFERER
BE B BHED Efh #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T T T

Segment revenue (note 5) 3 EUWA (FfzE5)

Sales to external customers HE TN R P 31,359 69,584 9,052 109,995
Other income and gains H A B e as 14,791 600 453 15,844
46,150 70,184 9,505 125,839

Segment results DEEE (118,976) 2,939 (24,598) (140,635)
Reconciliation: HER -
Bank interest income H]RITF S WA 128
Dividend income from equity I&ZAFE AEZE

investments at fair value iR 2 IR RER E Bk

through profit or loss BIA 1,500
Fair value gain on equity BRATFEFAERE

investments at fair value ZIRAERE 2 N

through profit or loss, net Bz - F5E 110,239
Finance costs i8R (25,225)
Share of profits and losses of %3 1f5 B & A &% F) I

associates, net EiE - FRE 20,750
Unallocated expenses RPOBLFAZ (11,836)
Loss before tax B RIEE (45,079)
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

4  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

REesHER (&)

(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2022 (Continued) BE-—ZE-—F=A=+—HLHF
E (&)
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MEERER
REXE BH%EY HAh et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FiET FiET FiET
Segment assets SEEE 1,969,679 28,108 150,598 2,148,385
Reconciliation: HEE
Investments in associates REERBIZRE 9,838
Corporate and other unallocated AR REMADEEE
assets 311,612
Total assets AELE 2,469,835
Segment liabilities SERE 364,486 12,527 18,541 395,554
Reconciliation: HEE
Corporate and other unallocated ~ RABIREMANEEE
liabilities 402,177
Total liabilities BERRH 797,731
Other segment information: HttpBEHR -
Fair value loss on investment BAMEFATERE
properties, net R 73,253 — — 73,253
Loss on disposal of items of HEME  BEREE
property, plant and equipment HEEE — — 59 59
Impairment of accounts receivable, fEURBRTERE @ F5
net 3,472 5,443 — 8,915
Impairment of other receivables Hfth JEUCRIB R E 250 42 204 496
Provision for inventories FEEE — 1,609 — 1,609
Provision for net realisable value of F&¥%E 2 Al &R FE
properties held for sale, net BE FE 41,866 — — 41,866
Deficit from revaluation of W - BERBBER
property, plant and equipment (CX=pd =1 - — 19,413 19,413
Depreciation of property, plant and #1% « B E L& ETE
equipment 7,148 764 5174 13,086
Capital expenditure* BAREZ* 61 198 10,883 11,142
* Capital expenditure represents additions of property, plant and * BRRZIERBEWME  BERRE -

equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

4  OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

ResBER (&)

(Continued)
Geographical information
(a) Segment revenue from external customers

i EE R

(a) KENEBEFZTEURA

2023 2022

—_Eg-= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Hong Kong G 45,948 58,605
Mainland China AR A 51,615 51,390
97,563 109,995

The revenue information above is based on locations
of the operations.

(b) Non-current assets

EAUE A E R T E R A IR

EFh -

(b) ¥rEEBEE

2023 2022

—E-=F —EF-=
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FExT FAT
Hong Kong B 139,190 138,579
Mainland China AR A b 827,387 1,178,677
966,577 1,317,256

The non-current assets information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes goodwill,
investments in associates and equity investments at
fair value through profit or loss.

Information about a major customer

During the year, revenue of approximately HK$15,337,000
(2022: HK$17,110,000) was derived through gross rental
income (2022: gross rental income) in the property
development and investment business segment from a
single customer.
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA-~EHEMKRARKR
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E=-=
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Revenue from contracts with BEEEHWA
customers
Income from property development — #¥EZE RITE XK 2 WA
and investment business 10,910 7,166
Income from trading of medical BEBERBELRERT K
equipment and home security and BBLER KA
automation products 52,176 69,584
Hotel operations R &8 10,569 9,052
73,655 85,802
Revenue from other sources Hfh W2 A RIR
Gross rental income from investment REIZREWE 7 EFHE WA
properties 23,908 24,193
97,563 109,995
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information

WA~ Hiblr AR WK (&)

(a) ZIHBAEHR

2023
—E=
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MEBRR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Geographical markets HEWH
Hong Kong BB — 45,948 — 45,948
Mainland China A B A 10,910 6,228 10,569 27,707
Total revenue from contracts & P& 4 A 4258
with customers 10,910 52,176 10,569 73,655
Timing of revenue R A RS
recognition
At a point in time B3 — B RF 5 B 10,910 52,176 3,579 66,665
Over time 5 B R — — 6,990 6,990
Total revenue from contracts & 2 & 49U A 4258
with customers 10,910 52,176 10,569 73,655
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA-EMBARKE (E)

(Continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

(Continued)

(a) ZDHFWAEHR (&)

2022
T
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MmEERK
RERT BH%EB H At B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T T T
Geographical markets
Hong Kong — 58,605 — 58,605
Mainland China 7,166 10,979 9,052 27,197
Total revenue from contracts &5 & #4258
with customers 7,166 69,584 9,052 85,802
Timing of revenue A ON T
recognition
At a point in time RE— (B2 7,166 69,584 3,342 80,092
Over time — — 5,710 5,710
Total revenue from contracts &~ & 4 U A 4258
with customers 7,166 69,584 9,052 85,802

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were

TREJIFARSHONENA
B WA E A EER A RA

included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of BEE

the reporting period:

2023 2022
—EC-=F T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Revenue recognised that was included RIBEHAEA
in contract liabilities at the beginning A&AXE&ENE
of the reporting period R A
Sale of properties HEME 2,895 1,268
Sale of goods HEE m 2,359 3,126
5,254 4,394

MERREBREEAFRAT —To=FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)
(b) Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sale of properties

The performance obligation is satisfied when the
physical possession or the legal title of the completed
property is obtained by the purchaser.

As a practical expedient, the transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are not disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
because all the remaining performance obligations in
relation to the income from property development
and investment business are a part of contracts that
have an original expected duration of one year or
less.

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the products and payment is generally due ranging
from 30 to 90 days from delivery.

Hotel operations

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and short-term advances are
normally required before rendering the services.

The performance obligation of food and beverage
operations of the hotel is satisfied when the control
of the food and beverage products is transferred,
being at the point when the customer purchases the
food and beverage items at the food and beverage
operations. Payment of the transaction is due
immediately at the point when the customer
purchases the food and beverage items.

As a practical expedient, the transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are not disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
because all the remaining performance obligations in
relation to the income from hotel operations are a
part of contracts that have an original expected
duration of one year or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BSHEZHIN

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5
(Continued)
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

WA~ EBBRA R

= (%)

HWARK@m DT

A TSI R)

2023 2022
B =£ S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Bank interest income RITH WA 167 128
Dividend income from equity AT EFABREREZRK
investments at fair value through AR BIA
profit or loss 1,350 1,500
Gross rental income from property, REWME - BEREEL
plant and equipment e WA 6,609 6,116
Government grants* BT 68 Bh * 960 —
Others H At 7,976 9,728
17,062 17,472
* The government grants were granted under the Employment Support * R 478 Bh T AR I8 8 P8 4 1T IR BT TR 3t

Scheme of the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region to retain employment and combat Covid-19. As at the end of
the reporting period, there were no unfulfiled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants.

FETEER - MRE R ERE 2019 M
RE - RMESR BMEEEZEMHY 2

REKFIFHHIAREE -

BEEREREABFRAT

TR FEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

6 LOSS BEFORE TAX 6 KRBAEE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBERBATESB ISR GEA) T
(crediting): B
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cost of properties sold BEEWMELAR 6,489 6,135
Cost of inventories sold BEFEKA 37,562 48,851
Cost of services provided IR AR A A 2,810 3,506
(Reversal of provision)/provision for 778 (B ##E @) H -
inventories, included in cost of FFAN EEETFERAE
inventories sold above (389) 1,609
Auditor’s remuneration 3 Gl 1,050 1,000
Depreciation of property, plant and % - BE MREITE
equipment 12,702 13,086

Direct operating expenses (including BEES I8 EMEELZ
repairs and maintenance) arising on = E#E£ER Y (BEM4EE N

rental-earning investment properties  {R%&) 2,577 3,062
Lease payments not included in the FEMREBERITETAZ

measurement of lease liabilities HEFIE 604 784
Rental income on investment KEYEZBSRAREE

properties less direct operating “iBM 2,577,000/ T

expenses of HK$2,577,000 (2022: —ZE -4 : 3,062,000

HK$3,062,000) #7T) (21,331) (21,131)
Rental income on other properties less Ef ¥t W AR EE L

direct operating expenses of BRI 5150008 L (=&

HK$515,000 (2022: HK$456,000) — 4 : 456,000 7T) (6,094) (5,660)
Employee benefit expenses (including EE®FHX (BIEEEKLE

directors’ and chief executive’s ZTRAEME

remuneration (note 8)): (Pff5E8)) :
Wages, salaries, bonuses and TE  ¥He - CaMER

allowances 36,994 39,115
Pension scheme contributions* RREETEI 697 718
Equity-settled share option expense  APMKAEAS S BEIHER X — 92
Less: Amount capitalised B BAREFRIAE (1,643) (1,853)

36,048 38,072
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LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

6 FKRHEAEREGE)

2023 2022
—E-= —F=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHExT T
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment &M A FE (W),
properties, net E51E - 55 (46,284) 73,253
Impairment of goodwill* P ERE" 1,683 —
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of HEMZE  BEAKEEE
property, plant and equipment” w (W) EEY (56) 59
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of fEUXBRIE CRE R @),
accounts receivable, net’ RIE - FEE” (52) 8,915
Impairment of other receivables’ B h fE UK IR B 485 496
Fair value loss/(gain) on equity BATFEFABR ZRER
investments at fair value through &2 RAVEEBE (I
profit or loss, net W) FE 75,709 (110,239)
Provision for net realisable value of  F&E ¥ %Al S IR FEEE -
properties held for sale, net® R 10,374 41,866
Foreign exchange differences, net" PEH =% FE" (115) 78
Deficit from revaluation of property, %1% - BE R R EEHBAL"
plant and equipment” 1,271 19,413
Remeasurement loss on investment in Bt FZWREEFH T2 —H
an associate for step acquisition” Bt N R ImE 2 BB 1,984 —
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary” HE—EHEBRRKNEE" 2,141 —
* For the year ended 31 March 2023, there were no forfeited * HE-ZT-_=F=ZA=1+—HLEFE &
contributions available to the Group to reduce contributions to the £ B0 AR W AR AT R R OR B R IR

pension schemes in future years (2022: Nil).

the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

ReFt8fR(—T-——F &) -

These amounts are included in “Other operating expenses, net” in " I EREIIAGZEBRRAZ [ E L EH

R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

7  FINANCE COSTS 7 HBEA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBERSITET :
2023 2022
B =K —EF-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FHET
Interest on: NTEEZFE
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERRHEMEE 43,173 33,168
Bonds payable ERES 1,927 —
Total finance costs s BRESE 45,100 33,168
Less: Interest capitalised B BEERNMEZAE (8,396) (7,943)
36,704 25,225
8 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8 EERIETHAEME
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, BRI LR REE R EERAIZE383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, sections 383(1)(a), @~ b)) OROBEARLF (HEES
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and FzZEE)ARME 28 EENEBTHR
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of information about AEFAMESHEDNT :

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Fees we 720 630
Other emoluments: H A&

— Salaries and allowances — ¥ MOERG 11,068 9,248

— Discretionary bonuses — BIBTEA 220 425

— Pension scheme contributions — RIKESFHEIMER 108 97

11,396 9,770

12,116 10,400

178 Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report



8

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BSHEZHIN

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

Independent non-executive directors

A TSI R)

EERFETHRAEMS (E)

(a) BAFHTES

Fees

we
2023 2022

—E-=HF —E=-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TERT
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond 421G+ 240 240
Ir Siu Man Po B SOk TAZAD 240 240
Mr. Siu Kam Chau R T & 240 150
Mr. Song Sio Chong* RN GEES — —
720 630

There were no other emoluments paid or payable to
independent non-executive directors during the year

(2022: Nil).

# Mr. Song Sio Chong was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 1 May

2023.

FNBED SRR IERTT
EEzEMBE (T - —F
/) o

#

BEEREREABFRAT

RNHFEERZERARTBEILI

WTEF B-Z-_=F1A—H

HEAER o

TR FEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

8 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8 EERIETHAEME (&)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and chief executive (b) BITEERITEHHAR
2023
—EZ=HF
Pension
Salaries and Discretionary scheme Total
allowances bonuses contributions remuneration
Bikestal
HeRIER BB TEAL it B <& 458
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FET FET FET
Mr. Tjia Boen Sien AR
("Mr. Tjia")* ([#kE])* 4,200 — — 4,200
Mr. Wang Jing Ning FRELE 3,000 — — 3,000
Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William  ##EE%E4E 1,701 — 90 1,791
Ms. Tse Hoi Ying" dgE 2,167 220 18 2,405
11,068 220 108 11,396
2022
—E-_-F
Pension
Salaries and Discretionary scheme Total
allowances bonuses  contributions  remuneration
RIKEEE
e kiR BB 4L o [k
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T T T
Mr. Tjia Boen Sien R A
("Mr. Tjia")* ([#kE]) 4,200 175 — 4,375
Mr. Wang ling Ning FREELE 3,000 125 5 3,130
Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William  ##Z %4 1,838 125 90 2,053
Ms. Tse Hoi Ying" HEHE A" 210 — 2 212
9,248 425 97 9,770
There was no arrangement under which a director REEABMEESHELIRER
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during EEMME s (2=
the year (2022: Nil). ) o
* Mr. Tjia is also the chief executive of the Group as defined in * WEETR/AEBMOTREE (F
the Listing Rules. R EWAA -
A On 1 March 2022, Ms. Tse Hoi Ying was appointed as an A FERZTHR =T Z=F=H—H
executive director of the Company. BEEARRABRNITES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES AND SENIOR 9 T EESHFEENSHREEAS
MANAGEMENT

The five highest paid employees during the year included AEREzhAGmFEERENA(Z
four (2022: three) directors including the chief executive, T -F=Z2)EE(BEEZETERA
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. 8) BHEME 27152 #50 Lkt
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining HS - HMAFEESA R (ZE==
one (2022: two) highest paid employee who is neither a FMB)RIFEEMIFEARAEETT
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: BABZz&=FEEZMEFBENOT
2023 2022
—E-=f —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Salaries and allowances e oL 1,914 2,784
Discretionary bonuses 1B TEAL 228 171
Pension scheme contributions RN ETEIERK 18 34
2,160 2,989
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest BT TS SEE B FEENIEEET
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the BABZE@FHEEABNOT

following bands is as follows:

2023 2022

—E2-= —E-=
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A N
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T2 1,500,000/%5 7T — 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T % 2,000,000/%5 7T — 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 T2 2,500,000/%5 7T 1 —
1 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Other than the directors’ remuneration and five highest
paid employees disclosed above, the amounts paid to senior
management as disclosed in the “Biographical details of
directors and senior management” section are as follows:

TEBREFEERSNREEAER
(%)
BRTUEERECEEHE R AN S H
BE  TRFIEELSHREEAE
ZER|—HEBE s AREREAS
BemT

>
N

2023 2022

—Eg-= —_EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Salaries and allowances e MoEBL 1,645 2,026
Discretionary bonuses )& TEAT 113 73
Equity-settled share option expense LA PSHE 45 BB PR HERT 2 — 22
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIHR 55 55
1,813 2,176

In prior years, share options were granted to a non-director
and non-chief executive highest paid employee and senior
management in respect of their services to the Group,
further details of which are included in the disclosures in
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. The fair
value of such options, which has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss over the vesting
period, was determined as at the date of grant and the
amount included in the consolidated financial statements
for the current year is included in the above non-director
and non-chief executive highest paid employees’ and senior
management’s remuneration disclosures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended
31 March 2023 has been made as the Group did not
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year.

Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31 March 2022
was provided at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year
except for one subsidiary of the Group which was a
qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax regime
effective from the year of assessment 2018/2019, and the
first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of this subsidiary
were taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits
were taxed at 16.5%.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates.

LAT in Mainland China is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being
the proceeds from the sale of properties less deductible
expenditure, including the amortisation of land use rights,
borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

10

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

Frig 8

FREZEBMNESHRERS  REZF
P S8 1 4 0 25 2 2 4 T SR B
F] o

HE-_T-_—_F=A=+—"HLHFEZ
EBFEHRIIRERNREBEE G
FEREFOE R R16.5%H 2B ME -
ANEBH—FEHBRARKRIN  ZHEBEA
AAE-ZE—N\F/ T LFRRF
ERAEZNFESTHRARSETETNHEER
% MY [ /2 & 2,000,0003% 7T HY
FEBRH MR8 25% B - Tes T ER
Fiom F RI9% 16.5% BT »

E==r ;]
B8

Hip a2 ERTUaE MR D IR AN S E
EBEZAEER ZRITHEAE -

hEA 2 TR ER I 1 B E TR
Z30%ZE60% R KU L iiE
BRI L EMEAEHRER R L E
PRSI  EERANAAEMEER
HZ AT B -

2023 2022
B = -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Current — Hong Kong BNER — &HE
— Charge for the year — AFEXH — 62
— Under/(over) provision in prior year — B —FEEETRE,/
(EBEERE) 85 (382)
Current — Mainland China BVHER — AR A
— Under provision in prior year — R —FEREEBETR 3,420 —
Current — Elsewhere BVH — Hihi =
— Charge for the year — AFEXH 490 34
LAT in Mainland China FR B A i 2 3 (E R
— Charge for the year — AFEXH — 80
— Over provision in prior year — A EBEEE (285) —
Deferred tax (note 29) EIER IR (M 5E29) 4,288 (13,886)
Total tax expense/(credit) for the year ANFEHIBHL (&) B3 7,998 (14,092)
HEFREREEARAR —T_=FF%H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

10

LA TTEIR)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

10

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to loss
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in
which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the
tax charge at the effective tax rate is as follows:

Frg i ()
ERRNERARBRENE AR MER
ERERZEEM R BB BAIERZ
BRI (HR) BIRERRXFEZ
MR ERMT

2023 2022
—E-= —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Loss before tax B A E 18 (85,936) (45,079)
Tax at the applicable statutory tax BEAEERETE 2 MIE
rates (8,269) (26,566)
Lower tax rate enacted by local 75 4 B8 2 A B BUE B R
authority — (89)
Profits and losses attributable to Bk &N A B R T K B 18
associates (298) (3,424)
Income not subject to tax THEHET WA (1,475) (1,378)
Expenses not deductible for tax ARTHR AR IR 2 B X 4,920 7,465
Effect of withholding tax at 10% or ANEERFEZHEAFTZ
5% on the distributable profits of A R R IR 10% 3%
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries 5% TR 2 & (1,402) (1,638)
Tax losses utilised from previous EABEEE c BIEEE
periods (1,403) (79)
Tax losses and temporary differences REEFR 2 T 18 &5 18 & B i
not recognised =5 11,832 11,782
LAT T IEER (285) 80
Under/(over) provision in prior year — BI—FEB#ETR,/
(FBREEME) 3,505 (382)
Others HAth 873 137
Tax expense/(credit) BIEMS (K 5R) 7,998 (14,092)

The share of tax charge attributable to associates
amounting to HK$209,000 (2022: HK$1,142,000) is
included in “Share of profits and losses of associates, net”
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIVIDEND
No dividend has been declared by the Company during the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based
on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 1,466,820,600 (2022: 1,126,968,711)
in issue during the year.

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
amounts attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company is based on the following data:

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

11 RE
HE_ST-_=FK_F__F=H
=+—HBIEFE ARRTET KK

=
B

12 ARFAEBREAFEAERGER
SE ]

BREANEBEIBEARQ B LB AR
BABRGFAEBEBRFAERTZER
% hn 4 F 15 #01,466,820,6000% (=
% :1,126,968,7110%) 5T & o

ARBEBRATE ARIEERERR
BEEEDR TS

2023 2022
—Eg=-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Loss BB
Loss attributable to ordinary equity FRERERA LB EEETEMR
holders of the Company, used in AT AARE @R AR
the basic and diluted loss per share A AEEEE
calculation 90,967 27,274
2023 2022
—E-=F T %
Number of Number of
shares shares
IR P 8L
Shares Bz 12
Weighted average number of ordinary SR ERNEIBTEAHEER
shares in issue during the year used B 277 @08 hnkE E &
in the basic loss per share
calculation 1,466,820,600 1,126,968,711

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2023
and 2022 in respect of a dilution as the impact of share
options outstanding during the year had no dilutive effect
on the basic loss per share amounts presented.

BER -—EEEMHEE—_S-=FK
—E--F=A=+—HIEFERIZ
BREAABEBSHELAE  REAF
ADRITEDERENTELHE5E
BEE AN 518 & 5E 00 S SE U o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

13 GOODWILL 13 mE

HK$'000
FHT

Cost at 1 April 2022, net of accumulated impairment MRZE-—FF—HHRK
N Mk EERE —
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 33) Ui — I P B 2 =) (B 7E33) 1,683
Impairment during the year FRRE (1,683)

Net carrying amount at 31 March 2023 RZZE-_=ZFZA=+—HH
REFE —

At 31 March 2023: RZTEZ=F=A=+—8:
Cost DN 1,683
Accumulated impairment REETRIE (1,683)
Net carrying amount BREFE —

Goodwill arose from the acquisition of 60% equity interest
in Deson Metals Company Limited (“DMCL"), which is
engaged in trading of construction materials. The goodwill
arising from the acquisition of DMCL has been allocated to
the construction materials trading business for impairment
testing purposes. In view of increasingly competitive
business environment of construction industry, management
considered that its recoverable amount which was
determined based on value-in-use using discount rate of
12% was minimal. Therefore, the goodwill has been fully
impaired.
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14 PROPERTY,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right-of-use assets

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

14 YE -BERSKE

Owned assets

RAEEE BEEE
Furniture ~ Office and
Leasehold Leased Leasehold and other  Tools and Motor
land  properties Total  Buildings improvements  fixtures equipment equipment  vehicles Total Total
BAER
RELH HAENE ag : &3 HEXE FAR¥E HitRE IERRE HE ag ag
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TERT TET TET TERL TERL TERL TER TERT TET TET TERL
31 March 2023
At 31 March 2022 and
1 April 2022
Cost or valuation 115,415 - 115,415 184,085 6,904 621 8,644 132 1,731 202,117 317,532
Accumulated depreciation ZithE — - — — (6,694) (511 (2779 (72) (1,284)  (11,336)  (11,336)
Net carrying amount EEHA 15,415 — U515 184,085 210 M0 5869 60 M7 190781 306,196
At 1 April 2022, net of R-Z--%
accumulated depreciation mA-A-
M ZaHTE 115,415 — 15415 184,085 210 10 5,869 60 47 190,781 306,196
Additions £5 — 1,031 1,031 - - 255 99 2 - 356 1,387
Disposals HE - - - - - - (1) - @) (15) (15)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-RMBAR
(note 34) (Wiz¥34) - - - - (18) - (4,247) - - (4,265) (4,265)
(Deficitysurplus on revaluation 7183 (#1k),/3HA
(charged)/credited to profit 2 Ef (&54),/
or loss B4 (2,639) - (2,639) 1,368 - - - - - 1,368 (1,211)
Surplus on revaluation credited FE A2 EURHEF A
to other comprehensive ZEfRS
income (3,472) — (3,472) 7,579 - - - - — 1,579 4,107
Depreciation provided during 43t RHTE
the year (4,463) (29 (4,492) (7,101) (177) (17) (845) (14) (56) (8,210) (12,702)
Exchange realignment EXRZE (1,045) - (1,045) (9,483) (15) (13) (405) (0] (9) (9,929)  (10,974)
At 31 March 2023 REEIZ
ZA=t-H 103,79% 1,002 104,798 176,448 - 335 460 a4 378 177,665 282,463
At31 March 2023
Cost or valuation 103,796 1,031 104,827 176,448 6,097 911 2,491 128 1,617 187,692 292,519
Accumulated depreciation - (29) (29) - (6,097) (576) (2,031) (84) (1,239)  (10,027)  (10,056)
Net carrying amount FEFE 103,796 1,002 104,798 176,448 - 335 460 a4 378 177,665 282,463
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 W% BERSKE (R

(Continued)
Right-of-use assets Owned assets
RRELE EEEE
Furniture  Office and
Leasehold Leased Leasehold and other  Tools and Motor
land  properties Total  Buildings  improvements fixtures  equipment  equipment vehicles Total Total
BRER
HELH HENE 2% gF HEXE RERKE HbRE LARRE AE 2% ag
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET T T TET TET TET TET
31 March 2022
At 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021
mA-H
Cost or valuation AR 130,637 — 130637 177535 6,724 604 8,242 129 1655 194,889 325526
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE - — - — (6,266) (481) (1,843) (56) (1,184) (9,830) (9,830)
Net carrying amount REFE 130,637 - 130,637 177,535 458 123 6,399 73 4an 185,059 315,696
At 1 April 2021, net of RZZ--%F
accumulated depreciation mA-R"
Nk 2HHTE 130,637 — 130,637 177,535 458 123 6,399 73 47 185,059 315,696
Additions -p - - - 10,883 - 4 220 - 35 11,142 11,142
Disposals e - - - — - ®) (91) - - (99) (99)
Deficit on revaluation charged RE#HINB 2 EfE
to profit or loss B4 (11,068) — (11,068) (8,345) — — — — — (8,345) (19413
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation R E 2 E W
(charged)/credited to other  (31%) /3t A2
comprehensive income B (B4)/
ak% (88) - (88) 5,606 — - - - - 5,606 5518
Depreciation provided during AR E
the year (4,879) - (4,879) (6,940) (263) (14) (910) (15) (65) (8,207) (13,086)
Exchange realignment ERBE 813 - 813 5,346 15 5 251 2 6 5,625 6,438
At 31 March 2022 i 3
=R=t+-AH 115,415 - 115,415 184,085 210 110 5,869 60 447 190,781 306,196
At 31 March 2022 R-B-—%
=ZR=T-H
Cost or valuation KA EE 115,415 - 115,415 184,085 6,904 621 8,644 132 1,731 202,117 317,532
Accumulated depreciation RitiE — - - - (6,694) (511) 2,775 (72) (1,284)  (11336)  (11,336)
Net carrying amount REFE 115,415 - 115,415 184,085 210 110 5,869 60 447 190,781 306,196
Note: The Group's right-of-use assets represent prepaid land lease payments Misk: AEBEREEERBEN B ERE

and leased properties. The leasehold land, together with the owned
buildings, are held for own use. The land leases are expiring in 2047

to 2053.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings were revalued
individually at the end of the reporting period by Peak
Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent professional
qualified valuer, at an aggregate open market value of
HK$280,244,000 (2022: HK$299,500,000) based on their
existing use.

A revaluation surplus of HK$4,107,000 (2022:
HK$5,518,000) and revaluation deficits aggregating
HK$1,271,000 (2022: HK$19,413,000), resulting from the
above valuations, have been credited to other
comprehensive income and charged to profit or loss during
the year ended 31 March 2023, respectively.

Had these land and buildings been carried at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation, their carrying amount would
have been approximately HK$171,045,000 (2022:
HK$177,342,000).

As at 31 March 2023, certain leasehold land and buildings
of the Group with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$163,294,000 (2022: HK$281,910,000) were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note
26).

The Group appointed an external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuation of the Group’s properties held
for own use and had discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed for annual financial reporting.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

14 9% BERSKE(E)

REBZHEET M RBFRHRERS
B EESERGEMBETHARA
RIERNAGEBREN B ARAMEAR
280,244,000 L (=& = — F :
299,500,000/ 7T) °

A EmEANEMGAEH
4,107,000 (=2 = = & :
5,518,000 L) R EMEA A &
1,271,000 0 (=& = = :
19,413,000 L) ED R EBEE=F
T CZEZAZ+HIEFEHAEME
AR MR B o

i 5% 5 1 3 MAE IR £ A AR R aHIT
E7ER - HIEEME Y A171,045,000
BT (B4 :177,342,000/87T) ©

R-TE-=FE=A=+—8 FE&E
163,294,000 L (=& = — & :
281,910,000/ 7)) 2 AEBEETHEL
HREFHIE THER - (EARSBER
BETRITEE 2 ER (MFE26) ©

AEBZREIMBHEMEESAEERT
B RMZMFRETINGEE - TRHRF
[E B R S AT (E RS - B (E R BEE
BERELGEEGRETIW
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE- -BERRKE(E)
(Continued)
Fair value hierarchy NFEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TREMKNEEFEERBYEQTE
hierarchy of the Group's properties held for own use: EER:
2023
—EC-=F
Significant Significant
Quoted prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERMHZ EARUEHE BEXTAHE
HRE WAHIE WAHE
(8% B1—) (& 5B1=) (& 5B1=) #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FTEx TER TER
Recurring fair value A TEEETZE
measurement for: PUHLTEHE:
Hotel property* B IR > — — 127,681 127,681
Commercial properties and car FEYE RSB **
park spaces** — — 152,563 152,563
Properties held for own use  $5{EE AW — — 280,244 280,244
2022
—E--F
Significant
Quoted prices in Significant unobservable
active markets observable inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RIERET IS Z ESNGIR 51 EATAIBE
wmE 8 ABUE PN 6
(B 51—) (& B1=) (H&B1=) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FHET
Recurring fair value FATEBETZE
measurement for: BHATEHE:
Hotel property* R — — 143,910 143,910
Commercial properties and car B M EEA **
park spaces** — — 155,590 155,590
Properties held for own use  H{EERY%E — — 299,500 299,500
* Included leasehold land of HK$10,146,000 (2022: HK$14,268,000) * BECAEEETHEELH10,146,000
under right-of-use assets. BT (ZT =4 : 14,268,000/ 7T) °
*x Included leasehold land of HK$93,650,000 (2022: HK$101,147,000) ** BIESAREEE T M E 493,650,000
under right-of-use assets. BT (ZZF == : 101,147,000/ 7C) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 ¥ - BERSEE)
(Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFEER(E)
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RER - Al —8ER = 2 EI /AT
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no BFFrEcEHE  TEERZIERAR
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil). AM=(=ZB=——F: )
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within DR ANFESFHEIN =Rz A EE
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: B2
2023 2022
—E-=F —F=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Carrying amount at beginning of year RF#) 2 BREE 299,500 308,172
Additions AR — 10,883
Surplus on revaluation recognised in N E h 2 @ ek R HERR
other comprehensive income EHEH 4,107 5,518
Deficit from revaluation recognised in #1835 #E R 2 & {5 4t
profit or loss (1,271) (19,413)
Depreciation e (11,564) (11,819)
Exchange realignment PE &R (10,528) 6,159
Carrying amount at end of year RERZKREE 280,244 299,500
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE- -BERKRE(E)
(Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ANFEER (&)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and BIEERAMEGREMRAZHES ERE
the key inputs to the valuation of properties held for own EMABBHANT
use:
Valuation Significant
technique unobservable inputs Range/weighted average
REF % EXTHEEHAHE EE MEFIE
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-=
Hotel property Investment method  Estimated rental value RMB42 RMB45
(per square meter per
month)
B IE ) % REE LEtEeEE AR®A427T AR¥457T
(BREFITK)
Term yield 5.0% 4.5%
FHM =X
Reversionary yield 6% 6%
Bl =
Commercial Direct comparison Market unit selling price HK$2,192 to HK$2,548 to
properties approach (per square foot) HK$6,495 HK$6,520
BEME HELEOR M5B EE 2,192 E 2,548 L E
(BFHR) 6,495 7T 6,520/ 7T
Car park spaces Direct comparison Market unit selling price RMB280,000 RMB300,000
approach
BEAL =R:3a 4 107 M5B EE AR ¥280,000t AR¥300,0007T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The investment method

Under the investment method, fair value is estimated on the
basis of capitalisation of existing rent receivable from the
existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent
of the properties.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the
properties held for own use, which included the location,
size, shape, view, floor level, year of completion and other
factors collectively, to arrive at the estimated rental value
and reversionary yield, while it takes into account the rental
value generated from the existing lease term to arrive at the
term vyield.

An increase/decrease in estimated rental value would result
in a significant increase/decrease in the fair value of the
properties held for own use while an increase/decrease in
term vyield and reversionary vyield would result in a
significant decrease/increase in the fair value of the
properties held for own use.

The direct comparison approach

Under the direct comparison approach, fair value is
estimated by the direct comparison method on the
assumption of the sale of the property interest with the
benefit of vacant possession and by referring to comparable
sales transactions as available in the market.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the
properties held for own use, which included the location,
size, shape, view, floor level, year of completion and other
factors collectively, to arrive at the market price per square
foot and each car park space.

The key input was the market price per square foot and
each car park space, where a significant increase/decrease
in the market price would result in a significant increase/
decrease in the fair value of the properties held for own
use.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

14 9% BERSKE(E)

AFEER (E)

REZ

BRIBRE R R FENEZEWEBR
FHEZEUWBEEHENEEEREMS
e TFTUERZ EEMMGE -

EITHENRSEREEEREEAMEY
S8 RENE  BEE B =8
BE ZERENREMEZ  UBHH
AHEEERERKEE  RABEEA
BERHREEZHEEE  UWEHFH
WEsE o

fEEtESEEEM RS EEEFER
RAWENTFERNE AT - eSS
Wk R EFRE RN RS EEHK
HIEEAYELATEKNE T/ LT -

EERLEF

BIBEELEE A FEDUERLE
o BREVEESRIRGHETLLE
BTG ERZ A LREER S MIE
gt o

ETHERSEBEERIFEAMELZ
TE G BRAE @R RE-
BE BEREOHREMGER  USHEE
FHREZFEEMHTIHER -

TBHABBEAREFTREEFEMLD
MIBER - TIBER KR LA TR
- @8RSIEEMMEAFEREL
/TR e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15 REWHE
2023 2022
—EB=-= —EF-—

HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET T
Carrying amount at beginning of year RF ¥ 2 EREE 1,011,060 1,041,350

Net gain/(loss) from fair value NFEFHEZ W (EE)
adjustment FEE 46,284 (73,253)

Assets included in a disposal group  FFAHEERZEE

(note 35) (M$3E35) (299,250) —
Exchange realignment ME W S (73,980) 42,963
Carrying amount at end of year RERZEmME 684,114 1,011,060

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31
March 2023 based on a valuation performed by Peak
Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent professional
qualified valuer, at HK$684,114,000 (2022:
HK$1,011,060,000).

As at 31 March 2023, certain investment properties of the
Group with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$487,920,000 (2022: HK$516,600,000) were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note
26).

The Group as lessor

The Group leased certain of its properties under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms
ranging from one to twenty years. The terms of the leases
generally also require the tenants to pay security deposits
and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the
then prevailing market conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

At 31 March 2023, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with
its tenants falling due as follows:

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

15 REWXE (&)

AEBEAHEA (E)
RZZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—8 A£ER
BEEPET MW T AT HES LMY - K
RRSEAEREBFIBEEANTHE
EI|HR -

2023 2022
—E-= —_=_

HK$'000 HK$'000

TR FHT

Within one year —FR 25,898 24,350
In the second to fifth years, inclusive % —FZFRF

(BEEREME) 76,531 81,222

After five years hF & 67,041 91,577

169,470 197,149

No contingent rental receivable was recognised by the
Group during the year (2022: Nil).

The directors of the Company have determined that the
investment properties are hotel properties, commercial
properties and car park spaces, based on the nature,
characteristics and risk of the properties. Each year, the
Group appoints an external valuer to be responsible for the
external valuation of the Group’s properties and has
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuation is performed for
annual financial reporting.

Particulars of the Group's investment properties are included
on page 51.

ARERAEFEUBERKABEES
T CF )
REMEMUEE - BREER - ARF
ESORTREVERBEENE AX
MERSFER - AREFF LTI aEbE
ER B R H AR EYRETINBEE -
W F R REETEER - 5L
ERE R ESREEEMETHR

AEERENMEZFBHNFES1RH -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15 REW=E (&)
Fair value hierarchy NEEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRENAEEREMELAFEASES
hierarchy of the Group's investment properties: &
2023
—E-=HF
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERBMHEZ BEARAEHE BEXFAHE
HBE BABE ZHAYE
(8% B1—) (&B1=) (&/BI=) #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FTET TER TER
Recurring fair value BUATHEBETZE
measurement for: FUHATESE:
Hotel property BEME — — 196,194 196,194
Commercial properties and car EEWE REHE
park spaces — — 487,920 487,920
— — 684,114 684,114
2022
T
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ES: IR BERABR BEATAIEE
BE 8 ABUE AR
(& 51—) (A=) (H&B1=) mEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
Recurring fair value MUATHEEETZE
measurement for: PHLATEHE:
Hotel property EEME — — 193,725 193,725
Commercial properties and car FEWENIEHEN
park spaces — — 817,335 817,335
— — 1,011,060 1,011,060
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RER - Fh—BRR = 2 B /AT
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no BEfEZEE  TEEREZlERAR
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil). FI=(ZF=—F ) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

15 REWXE (&)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFEER(A)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within DERANTEERBN=A X FEE
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: BZHE
Commercial
properties
Hotel and car park
property spaces Total
BMENER
icpry/ES FEN wmat
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
Carrying amount at 1 April 2021 RZEZ—F
WA—BZEmE 188,682 852,668 1,041,350
Net loss from a fair value RECHERATE
adjustment recognised R EE - FR (2,952) (70,301) (73,253)
Exchange realignment PE X 3% 7,995 34,968 42,963
Carrying amount at 31 March 2022 ARZ-ZE ==
and 1 April 2022 —A=+—8k
—E - —F
WMA—BZEmE 193,725 817,335 1,011,060
Net gain from a fair value REEERATER
adjustment recognised B FHE 16,644 29,640 46,284
Assets included in a disposal group FFAHRELHERIZEE
(note 35) (FHEE35) — (299,250) (299,250)
Exchange realignment PE 3 & (14,175) (59,805) (73,980)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2023 W-_ZT - =4
=A=+—Hz
fRmE A 196,194 487,920 684,114
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

REYE (&)
AFEER (E)
BEMEGEMBZHEFERERE
ABEB T

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable inputs Range/weighted average
RER % EXTHEENAHE BE METLH9H
2023 2022
—E-= —ZT-—
Hotel property and Investment method Estimated rental value RMB38 to RMB38 to
commercial (per square meter per RMB42 RMB58
properties month)
BIEME K REE HEtEeEE ARM38TE AR¥38TLE
BEME (BRAETFHK) ARMa2n ARH58TT
Term yield 2.00% to 6.00% 2.00% to 6.25%
FHIW R 2.00% %£6.00%  2.00%%£6.25%
Reversionary yield 6.00% to 7.00% 5.50% to 7.25%
EREWaE= 6.00% £7.00% 5.50%%7.25%
Car park spaces Direct comparison Market unit selling price RMB160,000 RMB160,000
approach
BEAL BRIEBOR mISEUEE AER%160,000T AR%160,0007T

The investment method

Under the investment method, fair value is estimated on the
basis of capitalisation of existing rent receivable from the
existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent
of the properties.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the
investment properties, which included the location, size,
shape, view, floor level, year of completion and other
factors collectively, to arrive at the estimated rental value
and reversionary yield, while it takes into account the rental
value generated from the existing lease term to arrive at the
term yield.

An increase/(decrease) in estimated rental value would result
in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the
investment properties while an increase/(decrease) in term
yield and reversionary yield would result in a significant
decrease/(increase) in the fair value of the investment
properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
The direct comparison approach
Under the direct comparison approach,
estimated by the direct comparison method on the
assumption of the sale of the property interest with the
benefit of vacant possession and by referring to comparable
sales transactions as available in the market.

fair value is

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the
investment properties, which included the location, size,
shape, view, floor level, year of completion and other
factors collectively, to arrive at the market price of each car
park space.

The key input was the market price of each car park space,
where a significant increase/(decrease) in the market price
would result in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

15 BEWE (&)
AFEZER (&)
BB,
BEEELEE R FEIUNEELR
o BEEEGIRTHELLLE
BTG ES Z AL BRIEER S MIE
fhEt -

ETHERSRBERREMEZR
BHoBRMLE mE K REB 2
CEREOREMER  AEHEE
BRIETIHERE -

TZHABBASFEMLNTISZER
EMHERARLA (TR E &8
BREMERTFERE LT (T -

16 RBERNT2RE

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Share of net assets B EEFE 4,736 9,838
Amounts due from associates g /NI F 2z 2,532 2,399
Amounts due to associates ARE A NEIE/ S — (2,650)

The balances with associates are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

BB ENE 2 BRAEER - 2B RA
WMEREE -

MERREBREEAFRAT —To=FFH 199



200

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

16 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows:

16 REERF2HE (H)
TEHLARZHBOT :

Percentage of
ownership attributable to ownership attributable to
the Group as at

31 March 2023
RoBZ=§=ZA=+t-BR-Z-_F=A=+-H
sEEEERERASL FEEREREEEON

Percentage of

the Group as at
31 March 2022

Issued ordinary/ Group Group
Place of incorporation/  registered share effective  Held by a effective  Held by a
Name registration and business capital interest  subsidiary interest  subsidiary  Principal activities
BRTEE/ FEEER H-BNE AKEER H-REHB
A AMRYL BEREEDY EMRE EE  NAES i LARE  TEEE
Axxonsoft Hong Kong Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$500,000 50 50 50 50  Investment holding and
software licensing
0 500,0007 7 REBRRA I RE
DMCL (note) Hong Kong/Mainland China HK$5,000,000 — — 40 40  Trading of construction
materials
mERE R () it/ PENL 5,000,000 7T REMKEES
New Leaves Limited BVI/Hong Kong Us$100 30 30 30 30  Investment holding
HERLEE/FE 100%7T REER
SecurePlus Limited Hong Kong HK$1,500,000 40 40 40 40 Investment holding,
trading of intelligent
security system
equipment
£ 1,500,000 7 RELR BHEREZ
REEER
Hope4Care Limited Hong Kong HK$10 20 20 — —  Research and
development of
medical equipment
BEGREEBRAA 5 1087 BEREWE
UltraX Technologies Co., Ltd Taiwan TWD3,000,000 35 35 - —  Trading of medical
equipment
R NREBRAF = ¥12%3,000,0007C BERBES
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group acquired an M : REBEE-Z_=F=A=+—HILLFE -

additional 60% of the registered share capital of DMCL. Upon the
completion of the acquisition, DMCL became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group. The difference between the carrying amount
and the fair value of 40% shares on the acquisition date amounting
to HK$1,984,000 was recognised as remeasurement loss on
investment in an associate for step acquisition in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Details are disclosed in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other associates
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars
of excessive length.
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R E AT ZIRE 2B - BN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
The Group’s shareholdings in the associates are held
through subsidiaries of the Company.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

16 REEQTZ2RE (&)
ANE B L N R 2 BAE B B AN A
WEBRRHFE -

TRIVRAEE 2B & R B 2 3 3R]

information of the Group’s associates that are not BEEVAFMBER
individually material:
2023 2022
—E-=F -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHExT FHT
Share of the associates’ profits and 7 {G B & A &) 4 W% F| &2
losses for the year, net 18 - F5E 1,807 20,750
Share of the associates’ other pakisy: R W/NC R R ET]
comprehensive (loss)/income, net (E18), Wz - 55 (20) 325
Share of the associates’ total DMEBE AR ARG ERE
comprehensive income 1,787 21,075
Dividend received B U A% B (5,614) (39,204)
Aggregate carrying amount of the AR B OB N RME R B
Group's investments in the BEARIREZ RHEELTE
associates that are not individually
material 4,736 9,838

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of
loss of an associate, Axxonsoft Hong Kong Limited, because
the share of loss of the associate exceeded the Group’s
interest in the associate and the Group has no obligation to
take up further losses. The amount of the Group’s
unrecognised share of losses of this associate cumulatively
was HK$858,000 (2022: HK$441,000).

REBEEKRIEBRESEHE QA
Axxonsoft Hong Kong Limited Z E518 -

AR hEE A REEBEASER
95%’&72%“ T 2N 55 B N 4 B T
BE—FEE - NEERERD (5L
ENREEEZ 2R R858,0008 7T
(ZT =% : 441,000/ 7T) °
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e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

17 EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 17 BRAFEFABZERNRERE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-CF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Equity investments at fair value  RQAFEFTABERIBRE
through profit or loss RE
Unlisted equity investments, at fair ~ JEEMRERE B AFE
value
— Century Rosy Limited — Century Rosy Limited 9,695 12,165
— Deson Development International — HE#EBEREERKE
Holdings Investment Limited BRAT ((HEEER
("DDIHIL") BREBERE] 109,162 174,123
— Excel Castle International Limited — SZ2EEHERRA T 34,633 39,995
— Pamfleet Shanghai Real Estate — Pamfleet Shanghai Real
Fund I, L.P. Estate Fund II, L.P. 3,973 3,507
157,463 229,790
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group received REBEZZT-_=—F=-A=+—HItF
dividend in the amount of HK$1,350,000 (2022: B AEEREEEREBREERERK
HK$1,500,000) from DDIHIL. E§% 51,350,000 Lt (=T ==

1,500,000/ 7T) °
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

18 PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE UNDER 18 BEITGEVERTEYHE
DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES HELD FOR
SALE
2023 2022
—E=-= —F=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Completed properties held for sale  ES&RFEWE 450,862 543,712
Properties held for sale under BRPSEME
development 251,211 241,009
702,073 784,721
Properties held for sale under BRPSEME
development
Expected to be recovered within FEH AR —F AL E
one year 251,211 241,009
As at 31 March 2023, certain properties held for sale under RZZBE-_=ZF=ZA=+—8 ' EELE
development and properties held for sale of the Group with /145,692,000 L (ZF ==
an aggregate carrying amount of HK$145,692,000 (2022: 163,836,000/ 7T ) 2 AN & [EE T2 & F
HK$163,836,000) were pledged to secure certain banking HEVERSGEVERER  FAEXE
facilities granted to the Group (note 26). EERE TRITEE 2 ER (Mi2e)
Particulars of the Group's properties held for sale under REBBRRPHFEMERSENE L
development and properties held for sale are included on BENFEL49E50HE -

pages 49 to 50.

19 INVENTORIES 19 ®E&
2023 2022
—E-= —E_-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Trading goods 5 Em 2,883 6,221
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e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

20 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

20 EWERE

2023 2022

—E-=F —=E=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Accounts receivable fE UL BR 18 27,434 30,094
Impairment B (13,386) (13,504)
14,048 16,590

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit period is generally ranging from 30 to 90
days for the sale of trading goods and up to 180 days for
the sale of completed properties held for sale. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group’s accounts receivable relates to a large
number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its accounts
receivable balances. Accounts receivable are non-interest-
bearing.

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net
of loss allowance, is as follows:

AEEETERERTFONE SRk
G- RZERPEEEH —RANTF
30£90H - MEEXFENEZHER
EHRIS% /1808 - BREFPHR
REEERE AEEBRERBEZ
FEWRRIB S BARIES - RAREERES
TEHEMERRBERIEN - ERA L
R AREREERERBRRZZS
nk@ﬁﬁ@ At |EEREFREE

o ZRERIE M L H R W AR TR AR RR A
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁm%ﬂﬁg H i o fE
WERERRE -

b”\\ﬁ&iﬁﬁfﬂiﬁ REZAHLNEKER
BERFTE ZEERE ZRE DT
-

2023 2022

—Eg-= —=E=-=
HK$’000 HK$000
FTET FHETT
Within 90 days 90H K 7,682 11,634
91 to 180 days 91HZE180H 1,893 551
181 to 360 days 181HZ=360H 1,759 2,741
Over 360 days #1360 H 2,714 1,664
14,048 16,590
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

20 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

20 EWERE (&)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
accounts receivable are as follows:

EWARIR 2 REBEREEZEHINT

2023 2022

—ECD=HF =

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At beginning of year REH) 13,504 4,558
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment  CR{EE @), JFE

loss, net (note 6) 518 - FE (ffite) (52) 8,915

Exchange realignment & H A% (66) 31

At end of year RER 13,386 13,504

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss

RERE AR ABEEEETRE
oI UFFEFRMERRRK - BEXT)
ERARERRUEERN (A iRnE
B REMBRE) N ETR D ARETT

patterns (i.e., by geographical region and product type). The DHETMABEN B E - ZTERE
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the SAENMELER  BEERERN®REAR

time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

An analysis of accounts receivable by operating segment is
as follows:

HA S BRBESIE - EATERM K
KELBEMRRTBAN SRR AIFEER -

REENBRWRESINNT

2023 2022
—s=-= —E=-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FiET

Property development and investment ¥ % 3% 238 & ¥ 7%
business 5,339 7,067
Trading business B 5% 18,499 22,937
Operation of a hotel EE—EAE 3,596 90
27,434 30,094

ERREBREEERAF —T_=FFH
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e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

20 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 20 FEWERE (&)
Property development and investment business MEBRRREXEK
Set out below is the information about the credit risk VAT #5175 B8 {50 A 485 4 7B be o {8 A1 5 A
exposure on the accounts receivable related to the property "B BB R RIS E E B EKIRIEN
development and investment business using a provision EERBER

matrix or individual assessment:

2023
—E-=F

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

EHEE
BAR HERHEE BHEHEBEX BREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Current = HA — — — -
Less than 3 months past due wmEF DR =@ A 27.4% 226 (62) 164
3 to 6 months past due wmE =@ A 25.0% 12 (3) 9
6 to 12 months past due BENE+ @A 41.1% 141 (58) 83
Over 12 months past due BEA+ @A L 78.5% 4,960 (3,893)* 1,067
Total Rk 75.2% 5,339 (4,016) 1,323

2022
—E-_F

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

BHEE
BRE WIEEE FEHEBREX BREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
Current g Hf 69.7% 4,686 (3,268)* 1,418
Less than 3 months past due #mEA DN =@ A — — — —
3 to 6 months past due mEI=ZE= XA — - - -
6 to 12 months past due BMEARE+ @A — — — -
Over 12 months past due BEHT @A E 36.8% 2,381 (877) 1,504
Total MR 58.7% 7,067 (4,145) 2,922

* Included in the expected credit losses of HK$2,942,000 (2022: * AT AEE B FH & A TR B {5 B 18K 2,942,000
HK$2,942,000) was assessed individually. BT (ZZT =4 : 2,942,000 7T) °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 20 PEUWERIE (4&)

Trading business BEZEK

Set out below is the information about the credit risk T HIBEERREEREENERE
exposure on the accounts receivable related to the trading F¥HREBERIBENEERRER

business using a provision matrix:

2023
—E-=F

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

EHEE
BR=E MEREE BHEE#EX RERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Current & Hf 1.9% 4,430 (84) 4,346
Less than 3 months past due wmE DR =@ A 3.1% 2,827 (88) 2,739
3 to 6 months past due mEI=F=XEA 43.6% 376 (164) 212
6 to 12 months past due BEINE+ @A 77.9% 849 (661) 188
Over 12 months past due BH—E A L 83.5% 10,017 (8,368) 1,649
Total k) 50.6% 18,499 (9,365) 9,134

2022
—E - _4F

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

EHEE
L= WMEREE BHEEBRX BREF(E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT
Current EH 5.6% 6,055 (341) 5,714
Less than 3 months past due wmE LR = A 10.8% 5,163 (559) 4,604
3 to 6 months past due wHI = 2N E A 54.1% 1,530 (828) 702
6 to 12 months past due BHRNE+ @A 50.7% 5,189 (2,631) 2,558
Over 12 months past due BH —E A 100.0% 5,000 (5,000) —
Total R 40.8% 22,937 (9,359) 13,578
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

20 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 20 PEUWERIE (4&)
Operation of a hotel EE-BBEE
Set out below is the information about the credit risk INTH3BREEREERENE RS E
exposure on the accounts receivable related to the —EBERKERIENE SRR ER

operation of a hotel using a provision matrix:

2023
—E-=F

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

EHEE
BAE BEREE BHEEEX REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Current = HA — 390 — 390
Less than 3 months past due wmE DN =@ A — 42 — 42
3 to 6 months past due BH=E=EA — 1,677 — 1,677
6 to 12 months past due AMENE+ @A — 1,482 — 1,482
Over 12 months past due BER @AM E 100.0% 5 (5) —
Total HER 0.1% 3,596 (5) 3,591

2022
—E-—F

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

BEEE
B|RE MEEEE EHEREX BREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
7T 7T 7T
Current = B — 25 — 25
Less than 3 months past due BELVNR=EA — 57 — 57
3 to 6 months past due wmHEI= 2= XE A — 5 — 5
6 to 12 months past due wmEANE+ @A — 3 — 3
Over 12 months past due wHE+ @A E — — — —
Total K — 90 — 90
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PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

21

REVBBRERME

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

BANRE - ek E M ERFIR

2023 2022

—E-=f —E-_F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Prepayments TEfT B 12,487 12,900
Deposits i ia 954 289
13,441 13,189

Other receivables E b B GRIR 37,051 40,587
Impairment B (23,549) (24,732)
13,502 15,855

26,943 29,044

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the
historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted
to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied
to other receivables of HK$23,549,000 (2022:
HK$24,732,000) relating to debtors that were in financial
difficulties or were in default in payments as at 31 March
2023 was 100% (2022: 100%,).

Other than the above impairment made, the financial assets
included in the above balances relate to receivables of
which there was no recent history of default and past due
amounts. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

Deposits and other receivables that were not impaired
related to receivables for which there is no recent history of
default.

HEHREREEERAQA

REFNBEREBLXEREGNESL
BRERERBRRLETRED
BAREeHEHAZ  URERBEREE
RAEMORTER (EE) - RZT==
F=H=+—H8 " ¥23,549,000/% T
T T T 4F 124,732,000 70) 2 HAb
FEWERERA 2 BAEE100% (ZF
1 100% ) - E 5 IR B S R £ ok
NHEREYNZEBAGHE -

B B B RHERRES, - FTA LR
T BYA E THRER I BN R )RS 8 s
HEBZRWFAE R-F_=F k=
T _F=-A=1+—HB BEEEET
ERTFEMN -

R ARTRME 2 12 & K Bt M BR 08 [
RATE A E S ) R UROA -

ZET=FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

21 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21
RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The movements in the provision for impairment of other
receivables are as follows:

FARIE - RERHMEWRKE
(%&)
Hitp EURIBZ BEREZIWT

2023 2022

—E-= —E--
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
At beginning of year REY] 24,732 23,309
Impairment losses (note 6) BB K (H5E6) 485 496
Exchange realignment ME W S (1,668) 927
At end of year RER 23,549 24,732

Included in the above provision for impairment of other
receivables is a provision for individual other receivables
where the repayments were defaulted and these receivables
were not expected to be recovered. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.
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22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

BeRkREEERARCERE

=h
TA

2023 2022
—EC-=F —TE-4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITE R 24,408 43,859
Time deposits FHTF K 4,000 4,000
28,408 47,859

Less: Pledged deposits for banking B RITEEZEERER
facilities (note 26) (Ft5E26) (4,000) (4,000)
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEIER 24,408 43,859

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate cash and
bank balances and deposits of the Group denominated in
RMB amounted to approximately HK$19,478,000 (2022:
approximately HK$22,309,000). This RMB balance is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time
deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

RBERR  REBUAARBHEZR
S RBITEHRNTRBELN A
19,478,000 L (=T = —F + 4
22,309,000 7T) ° Ik AR B 821 7]
BEREBAHMEE  AMBETFER
HONEE B R TR - SIE R EE
BRTE  AEBWATEREREETT
INEEFZBITHEARBRIBAREME
ﬁé} °

RITREREE B RITFAMNERZH
MEREE - MEEREFERAR BN T
—REZEATE  ARFAEEHA
BREB/RME LR EAENRTF
A REREUM S - VRITEHR R EERE
RERPAT A B R DR 2 FER
HERTT °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AFEEIN - B THR)
23 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 23 ENERE
An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the end of REBRER - ETREREE T
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as BEZRETNT
follows:
2023 2022
—E-= —E--
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Within 90 days 90H W 1,310 2,484
91 to 180 days 91HZE180H 230 269
181 to 360 days 181H=360H 32 296
Over 360 days #360H 3,490 3,657
5,062 6,706
Accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are normally ERNEBEA®S  —RENIA RN
settled on 30-day terms. g
24 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24 HitENRERESER
2023 2022
—EC=F —E=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Deposits received Blize 16,805 6,270
Other payables H fh & 1~ 5B 30,333 44,441
Contract liabilities (note a) EH8aE(Wita) 21,058 23,106
Accruals fEstE A 11,099 20,494
Due to non-controlling shareholder of &1 — RE1fft B8 /A &) 3F4%2 A% P&
a subsidiary (note b) HimE (MaEb) 16,402 16,002
95,697 110,313
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24 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Contract liabilities
Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

24 HtENRERETER (&)

(a) EHERE
BHREFEBNOT

2023 2022
—s== —E=-—

HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&xT FAET

Short-term advances received from BWEF ARG R

customers

Sale of properties HEWHE 19,460 20,426
Sale of trading goods HEXSEm 1,598 2,680
21,058 23,106

Contract liabilities included short-term advances
received to transfer property interests and to deliver
trading goods to customers. The decrease in contract
liabilities in the current year was mainly due to the
decrease in short-term advances received from
customers in relation to the sale of properties at the
end of the year.

Due to non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary

The amounts due to non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

BHBERREWE B
BENERIZURRINRZE M
ERF -AEEANABRIE
EHNFREEVENEREF
COPSEEEE 0 R

(b) EN—EHMEBARFEZRRR
IR
JEAT — I M B 8 A FEHE AR B ER 5K
AREERR RS RARERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

25 BALANCES DUE TO/LOAN FROM RELATED 25 BENEEALGES EBREBEA
PARTIES T+ ERK
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-CF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current BN HA
Excel Win Limited (note (i)) Excel Win Limited (B 5F(i)) 6,653 13,169
Mr. Wang Jing Ning (note (ii) T RE A (BHFEG)) 343 —
6,996 13,169
Non-current JEENHA
Mr. Wang Jing Ning (note (ii)) T R & A (BTREG) 51,300 —
58,296 13,169

(i)  The balance due to a related company is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

A director of the Company has significant influence
over this related company.

(i)  Except for the interest payable amounted to
HK$343,000 (2022: HK$Nil), the remaining balance
due to Mr. Wang Jing Ning, executive director of the
Company, is unsecured, interest-bearing at 8.84% per
annum and repayable over one year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

26 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26 FFTEBITREMEE
BORROWINGS
2023
—E-=F
Contractual interest
rate per annum Maturity HK$’000
EHFERIE B FET
Current B #A
Bank loans RITENR 3.65% to 6.83% 2023 156,398
— secured — BHH 3.65% £6.83% —E-=
Bank overdrafts RITEX Prime lending rate On demand 15,868
-0.5% to 1.0% RER
above HIBOR
or Prime Rate
or bank best
lending rate -1.5%
EEEEEFNE-05%
EHEBRITAEREM
1.0% B REERER
RITREER
EFE-1.5%
Trust receipt loans EEBIBEE R 4.8% to 7.15% 2023 7,382
4.8%%E7.15% —E-=fF
Other borrowings HmEE 6.0% to 12.0% 2023 42,551
— unsecured — EIEH 6.0%%=12.0% —EZ=HF
222,199
Non-current FE RN
Bank loans |ITER 6.37% 2024 to 2026 71,250
— secured — BEA —E_MEZRE
—EZRE
Other borrowings HMEE 7.0% to 10.0% 2024 98,720
— unsecured — 7.0% £10.0% —ZTmEF
169,970
392,169
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

26 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (Continued)

26 FFERITEREMEER (B

2022
B —F
Contractual interest
rate per annum Maturity HK$'000
EHEFIE EIH A FAT
Current B HA
Bank loans RITER 2.4% to 6.8% 2022 163,990
— secured — BHEMH 2.4%%6.8% —E-—
Bank loans RITER 6.2% On demand 9,828
— secured — BEH BEK
Bank overdrafts RITEX Prime lending rate On demand 3,689
-0.5% to 1.0% RER
above HIBOR
or Prime Rate
REZEEME-0.5%
EHRABRITAEZEFREM
1.0% kiR B = F &
Trust receipt loans ERBEER 2.3% to 2.9% 2022 7,758
23%%22.9% —EF=-=
Other borrowings Hib e 7.0% to 12.0% 2022 78,059
— unsecured — 7.0%%212.0% —ET-—
263,324
Non-current Ik BPHA
Bank loans RITERK 6.4% 2023 to 2026 107,625
— secured — B e
—E-RHF
Other borrowings HEtEE 8.8% 2024 89,790
— unsecured — —EOF
197,415
460,739
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

26 FTERITEREMESR (B

2023 2022
—EBE-=fF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Analysed into: DR

Bank loans repayable: EEERITER:
Within one year or on demand —FRHIZEK 179,648 185,265
In the second year FE_F 28,500 30,750
In the third to fifth year EZERF 42,750 76,875
250,898 292,890

Other borrowings, repayable: EEEHMEER:
Within one year or on demand —FRRILZENR 42,551 78,059
In the second year BF 98,720 89,790
141,271 167,849
392,169 460,739

Except for secured bank loans of HK$146,148,000 (2022:
HK$194,943,000) and unsecured other borrowings of
HK$69,770,000 (2022: HK$136,849,000) which are
denominated in RMB, and trust receipt loans of
HK$276,000 (2022: HK$683,000) and HK$2,107,000 (2022:
HK$Nil) which are denominated in USD and Euro
respectively, all remaining borrowings are denominated in
Hong Kong dollar.

B2 KRR TT B 50 146,148,000 7T (=
T~ — £ 194,943,000 7T ) N I
H b {& 569,770,000 L (ZFE — =
F 1 136,849,000/ 70) AAREEEHE -
kA RIAET RBTHEMERREE
FX276,000 7L (—ZF = — 4 : 683,000
7)) 52,107,000 T (—E = —
THET)ZI BB TEESAUET
FTH1E °

MERREBREEAFRAT —To=FFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

26 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Group's banking facilities are secured by:

(ii)

(iii)

(vi)

In addition,

the pledge of certain of the Group’s leasehold land
and buildings situated in Hong Kong and the PRC of
HK$163,294,000 (2022: HK$281,910,000) (note 14);

the pledge of certain of the Group’s investment
properties situated in the PRC of HK$487,920,000
(2022: HK$516,600,000) (note 15);

the pledge of certain listed equity instruments held by
the Group’s equity investee with a fair value of
HK$34,358,000 (2022: HK$42,202,000);

the pledge of certain of the Group's properties held
for sale under development and properties held for
sale situated in the PRC of HK$145,692,000 (2022:
HK$163,836,000) (note 18);

the assignment of rental income from the leases of
certain of the Group’s properties; and

the pledge of the Group’s time deposits of
HK$4,000,000 (2022: HK$4,000,000) (note 22).

certain banking facilities are secured by

corporate guarantees executed by the Company as at 31

March 2023 and 31
other borrowings is secured by a personal

March 2022. One of the Group’s
guarantee

executed by a director of the Company as at 31 March
2023 and 31 March 2022.
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REB BT EEDH IS EER
pi

)y EHAEBURESRTPENE
FTHELHERBF  AHK
163,294,000 T (=& ==
281,910,000 70) (M 7% 14) ;

(i EHAAEBURTENETERE
)% - B 8487,920,000% 7T (=
T~ : 516,600,000 7T ) (Ff

=

F15)

(i) EAEREERBREETAEE
HETLELmkERE AFEA
34,358,000 T (= = —
42,202,000 7T)

(iv), BERAEBMNRTENETEE
PHEMERSEEVE  BH
145,692,000/ 0 (=T = —F :
163,836,000 7T) (FI7E18) :

(v BRERHESTAKSEVENED
WA+ R

(viy EIFEAEENTEHREZR AK
4,000,000 L (=& = —F
4,000,000 7T ) (Bt 5E22) °

B RZE_=ZF=ZA=+—B K=
T _HF=-A=+—HBETRITEEUNU
RRBELZRAEREER - RZF
—ZHF=ZA=t+t—HERZ=ZE-_—_%=A
=+t—8 AEBEF-BHEMEEI
RAF—BEEFLHNEAZRER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LEASE LIABILITIES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has entered into leases for properties used in its
operations. Leases of properties generally have lease terms
of 3 years. Other equipment generally has lease term of 12
months or less and/or is individually of low value. Generally,
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group. The lease contracts include
termination options, which are further discussed below.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

27 HEEE

AEBEAEEA

AEBEREZEBEMAYELHE -
MEHREZHERBE A3IF - MR
HoREREEA1I2BAAHUTE
AR AEERE —8ms * AEET
A AAEBIANALTEEZE R STAHEESE
E o -MHEAGNBIEKRILERE  §ETIE

HEtam

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities are as follows: HEARZIHMASTHT
2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Analysed into: PR
Within one year —FR 326 —
After one year but within two years —&FE&EMER 344 —
After two years but within three MEREB=FN
years 331 _
1,001 —
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash REEHREMEREIN L HNIBBRIELE
flows comprise of cash outflows for leases of HK$604,000 FRmEE o HERRE DA A

and HK$30,000 (2022: HK$784,000 and HKS$Nil) in
operating and financing activities respectively.

BONDS PAYABLE

On 1 June 2022 and 22 August 2022, the Company issued
an unlisted corporate bonds at a principal amount of
HK$13,000,000 (“13M Bond”) and HK$20,000,000
(“20M Bond") respectively, which are unsecured, bears a
fixed interest rate of 10% and 7% per annum respectively,
and are fully redeemable by the Company after 2 years
from the issue date at its principal amount of
HK$13,000,000 and HK$20,000,000.

The effective interest rate of the unlisted corporate bonds
are approximately 10% and 7% for 13M Bond and 20M
Bond respectively.

28

HERREBREEAFRAF —F

604,000 7T 5230,0008 L (=T = —
&1 784,000 TREHE L) °

B ES
R-ZE-—FXA-BE-_ZT-—F)\
AZ+=R  ARATDRETARESER
13,000,000 L ([13MEH ) &
20,000,000 7t ([20Mf&E % 1) 2 3F +
MARES  ZEEHFAEER - 55
?§E¢%|J$10°/o&7o/o§+%\ ’ jﬁﬂEE
AARNEITEHHBMTRIZASHE
13,000,000 7T 5 20,000,000 T3 81
fEm o

MIBMEFR20MESME @ JELTA
REHFZEBRFMES R AE10% RT% °

TZFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

28 BONDS PAYABLE (Continued) 28 EfNEZ (&)
The maturity analysis of the unlisted corporate bond is set FEEMARIESF BB THT
out as below: Ik
2023 2022
—ECT=HF B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
After one year but within two years —F&EMFER 33,000 —
Unlisted corporate bonds I EMRAES 33,000 —
29 DEFERRED TAX 29 EEHIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are FR-RENMEEEZEZSHOAT :

as follows:

Capital gain Losses
tax and  available for
withholding offsetting
tax on against future
Revaluation of  undistributed taxable
properties profits profits Total
ERRERER FTHEHRR
RARD R 2 FERR B A
BEHNE ANH HER #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FET FAET
At 1 April 2021 R-ZZ=--FMA—AH 172,283 20,385 (877) 191,791
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to profit or ERMN B (T A),/
loss during the year (note 10) Mk 2 EERE (MiEE10) (24,282) 10,396 — (13,886)
Deferred tax charged to other FRAREMRERENRZ
comprehensive income during the year — JEEF A 602 — — 602
Exchange realignment fE 3 R 2,829 — — 2,829
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZZZZF=A=+—H
k—E-—FMA—H 151,432 30,781 (877) 181,336
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to profit or FRREZFEMR,/ (T A)
loss during the year (note 10) ZIEER A (H5E10) 11,699 (7,514) 103 4,288
Deferred tax charged to other FAREMEEREMNRZ
comprehensive income during the year — EEFHE 529 — — 529
Liabilities included in a disposal group HALERRIZEE
(note 35) (F#5%35) (57,538) — — (57,538)
Exchange realignment 5 A% (3,853) — — (3,853)
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=F=ZfA=+—H 102,269 23,267 (774) 124,762
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has estimated tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$191,860,000 (2022: HK$160,891,000)
that are available for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The
Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
approximately HK$98,544,000 (2022: HK$112,181,000) that
will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future
taxable profits. In addition, the Group has temporary
differences arising from provision for inventories, accounts
receivable and other receivables of approximately
HK$32,443,000 (2022: HK$32,390,000) in aggregate as at
the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets in
respect of tax losses of approximately HK$285,713,000
(2022: HK$267,756,000) and the above temporary
differences have not been recognised as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and
in the opinions of the directors, it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against the tax
losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% tax
is levied on dividends declared or capital gain to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement for withholding tax on
dividends declared to foreign investors is effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. Hence, the applicable rate for the
Group is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008 and capital gain in
respect of any direct or indirect disposal of equity interests
in companies established in Mainland China.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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(B BEEBI  BLBTIIR)
IEE R A ()

REBRBFTREBEECHRBEBEENA
191,860,000 T (=& = =

160,891,000/ ) + Al AIEL SHAEE
BB 2 DR 2 R RIERTBRF] - KAEE
TR B A E AR B D
98,544,000 L (=T = = F :
112,181,000/ 7T) * R —ERAFRNE
o DA B R R ERR B A o BEAb
RBERR  AEEEFE - EYWERIE
REMBVRBEREMEAEREZES
H#4932,443,0008 L (=T = —F
32,390,000 7T) - M EE S R 2B
I TR TE B E 49285,713,00008 T (— &
% 1 267,756,000 70) R IA FEES
ERARERER  RERAETDARDEE—
BREEONBARES  BEEERAT
Al Be 75 B R v W A PR VE ST SR S 1

e

RIBFBESEMERE  RPBEAMAK
MEHNERE D ERINEREETIRK
BREARZABU10%THIEA - @I
FHEREETRRENEHNHREE —F
TENF-A-HBRER WEAR-ZF
ZEFET_A=T—HRNBH - i+
BARINEREE B RDEERAT A
MG GA - BB AR R TR R
B FHit AEBEMNEAHRERS% K
10% ° Fitt - AEBEBEERZEZRF
BRI B AR —TTN\F—
A—BREE®NREF D IRABRE &3
EfEZ Sk D ER B A H
RAWREMEHE AR SN B
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=
R -

HEEREBEEARAR —T_=FFRH

221



222

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

30 SHARE CAPITAL 30 R
Shares &)
Number of
Share shares capital
RO EE [N
HK$'000
FHET
Authorised: EERA
At 1 April 2021 R-ZB-—#FmA—H 1,500,000,000 150,000
Increase of authorised share capital % % A< 3&
(note (a)) (M 5E(a)) 3,500,000,000 350,000
At 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and R-ZT-_—F=ZA=+—H -
31 March 2023 “E--FNA-HRK
—E-=F=A=+—H 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRARKRE :
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FMmH—H 977,880,400 97,788
Rights issue (note (b)) AR (M35 (b)) 488,940,200 48,894
At 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and R-ZZE-_—_&F=A=+—H "
31 March 2023 :?::ﬁmﬂ B X
—E_=F=A=+—8 1,466,820,600 146,682

Notes:

(@) On 14 March 2022, at the special general meeting, the shareholders
of the Company resolved to increase the authorised share capital of
the Company from HK$150,000,000 to HK$500,000,000 by the
creation of 3,500,000,000 additional shares, each ranking pari passu
in all respects with the Company’s shares then in issue.

(b) A rights issue of one rights share for every two existing shares held
by members which was completed on 31 December 2021 was made,

at a subscription price of HK$0.10 per rights share, resulting in the
issue of 488,940,200 shares for a total cash consideration of
HK$48,894,000, before expenses of HK$2,187,000.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the
share options issued under the scheme are included in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RZZEZZF=A+MA AAFRKER
B AR K& EORGE - BB 0 EE S
i #8 A A BlE E B
78 B4 150,000,000 7T 1 il 2 500,000,000
BT BRBRMHEMEFEHEAARE

RREFHEMBRIRAE R ERE —RUERR
HrHBER T -_—F+-_A=+—A8%
K REERTRMHEKRKRMOI0E T - &
BESREA
48,894,0007% jT (1 Bk B 32,187,000 7T

Bt 5
(a)
3,500,000,000 % A% 17
RERTROZEBRFHAL
(b)
% 17488,940,200 8% B 17
Ai) °
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Al B AT B MAR BT IR TT 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 14 August 2022, the share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) of the Company adopted on 15 August 2012
ceased to operate and a new share option scheme (the
“New Scheme”) was adopted on 30 August 2022 to
comply with the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules regarding share option schemes of a company. There
was no outstanding share option under the old scheme
upon its cessation.

The Company operates the Scheme and the New Scheme
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme and
the New Scheme include the Company’s directors, including
independent non-executive directors, the Company’s
shareholders and other employees of the Group. The New
Scheme became effective on 30 August 2022 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10
years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme and
the New Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Group at the
adoption date of the Scheme and the New Scheme.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme and the
New Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the
date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)
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RZZBEZZF)\A+EBE - RRFIE
RZZE——F N\ATHBRMERRE
FEI(T&E]) YR _ZE=-—_FNA
=+ HRMFTIERERTE ([FETE1) B
FAELTRAUE17TEEB A BIET
B 7 RE - BEFER LB EEMAR
TT{LHE A HE o

RARRBETEIRHEE - #EUEB R
EEHAEE  RINEEERERZ A
BIR2EE GBI RMFTE A ERS
HERBEANAES (BREBILIENT
BF) ARFBRERAEEEME
BoHitgN —E-_—ENA=+HE
AR BRIESHNEHHSET - 5T EIK AR
ZHRBRTFEANBR -

RIBFTEI LTS BRBA FREZAK
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ERARERRAG B RSB
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PMEAT+ 8 A B A iR BB A4 v] @t
B LB BRABARSEEBERITRGD
ZEE  REUARAEMRIREET
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

31 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 31
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 30 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. An
option may be exercised under the Scheme and the New
Scheme at any time during a period not exceeding 10 years
after the date when the option is granted and will expire
on the last date of such period.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i)
the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of offer of the share options; (ii) the average
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of
offer; and (iii) the nominal value of an ordinary share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the
Scheme during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022:

BT ()
ARATREHEREENZ Bt
=ZHAREHREARARE BT
MIBRR B A - AR AR SRS B R AT A
BIFT A BB I B AT IB T
PRAEIB RITTHE - M iR X IR My SR 7
— B -

BREZTEERESETE  ETED
RORRBBRHREHBREZLNZ B
RBEZZ AR < W B + (A2 AR
REZEH AR AER S AR AT
Ff 2 S YT AE 5 Re (i) B B A E (E
UNEmERE) -

BRETERTHEAZTAEREINK
RAGLREZHER -

BE_2-_=ZFR_F-__F=A
—+—BHIFE  FEETHUTER
HEMARITRER

2023 2022
—E=-= =
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price per Number of price per  Number of
share options share options
BRR G BRI
n#EF 5 I 715
THEE BREHE TEE BEREHE
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
BT TR BT T
At beginning of year R F ) 0.1205 33,652 0.1250 38,700
Granted during the year FRDEE — — — —
Lapsed during the year FARABE KK 0.1205 (33,652) 0.1250 (6,250)
Adjusted during the year FREFHE
(note) GED — — (0.0045) 1,202
At end of year RER — — 0.1205 33,652
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

31 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Note: As a result of the completion of the rights issue (note 30(b)), assuming
no other adjusting events under the terms and conditions of the
Scheme having been triggered and pursuant to (i) the terms and
conditions of Scheme; and (ii) Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and
the supplementary guidance issued by the Stock Exchange on 5
September 2005 regarding adjustment of share options under Rule
17.03(13) of the Listing Rules, the exercise price of the share options
and the number of shares which may fall to be issued upon exercise
of the subscription rights attaching to the share options have been
adjusted.

No share options were outstanding under the Scheme and New
Scheme as at 31 March 2023.

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at 31 March 2022 were as follows:

Number of Exercise price

BRESE (&)

MiaE AR TEAK HEAR (T 5E30(b)) » {8 A% I 4K i 3%
ARG R GEHETOEMARSH - I
RIRG)FT &I A R & M R Gi) £ R Bl
FEV7ERBMEAR -_ZEZRENAEER
BiE EHRBE17.03013) EHEBEREM
BEHMBRIES  BRENTEERBER
TEFTMI REBEITER TR T RHITHRGD

HECDIEHBE-

RZB_=F=A=+—H8 " sT&8 &Mt

BT 30 4 AR TT R BV B ISR

R-E-_—_F=A=+—HHEKRTEHE

PR TTEE RITERN T

options* per share* Exercise period
BREHE BRITEE* TS
'000 HK$
Tz BT
6,481 0.1205 27 November 2021 to 26 November 2022
—E - F+—A=t+tHE=ZZE=-_=—F+—HF=+H
27,171 0.1205 27 November 2020 to 26 November 2022

—E-EF+—fA-_++tHE-_E-—_F+—HA-+,H

33,652

* The number of options and exercise price were adjusted upon the
completion of the rights issue (note 30(b)).

Based upon the share options granted in 2021, the Group
recognised a share option expense of HK$Nil (2022:
HK$92,000) (note 6) during the year.

MERREBEEFRAAF

* ARG % O BB S B RITEE (I

#£30(b)) °

RER-_Z-_—FRARLZBRE  F
AAREECERABERERITEL (=

T~ 4 : 92,000/ 7T) (KMisE6) »

ZET=FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

31 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 31 BRESE (&)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted in RIZEZ_—FAREZ AREEERR
2021 was estimated as at the date of grant using a AT E EAZEEAREEERR
Binomial Option Pricing Model taking into account the REE B BETE - EREREE R
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. BB AR B0 IR R G © TR P A
The following table lists the inputs to the model used: R A& AU -

2021

—E-—

Dividend yield (%) IR S (%) 0.00%
Historical volatility (%) JFE SR 18 (%) 54.35%-66.14%
Risk-free interest rate (%) 42 [, B3 F) (%) 0.09%-0.14%
Expected life of options (year) i AR R TR HA EARR (5F) 2
Fair value (HK$ per share) NEE(BREDET) 0.0276
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) fnigEFHR M EH (FRIRGH B T) 0.125

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data over the past three years and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

32 RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 110
and 111 of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 11 November 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has entered into sale and purchase agreements
in relation to the acquisition of an additional 60% of the
registered share capital in the then 40% owned associate
of the Group, DMCL, at a total consideration of
HK$1,795,000. Upon completion of the acquisition, DMCL
has become a 100% owned subsidiary of the Company.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

33 RE—FEKELQT
RZE-_—_F+—A+—H ARF—
ME2EMBRAREFLEEHE IR
BB aERSEM (AEBE R
BL0% T ZBE A R)) 5BIN60% 2 7
AR A - 2R (B A1,795,000/% 7T ° U
Bl BERASEMAALRDRE
BH100%#Em M BAF -

REERE  BEREEM Z A #RE

DMCL as at the date of acquisition were as follows: ENBEZAFENT
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
17 Ui B B 2R
NS
HK$'000
FHET
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — FEffFIE - & M H bR FIA 2,656
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEBEEER 42
Other payables b pE 3R (379)
Tax payable FEA 18 (2,132)
187
Goodwill on acquisition (note 13) WebE 2 2 (fiFEE13) 1,683
1,870
Satisfied by: FETANHXER
Cash Re 1,795
Fair value of previously held equity interests BAFAREZATE 75
1,870
Net cash outflow on acquisition: WiE 2 IR & 7 FER
Cash consideration paid ENBEENRE (1,795)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired BB ReRRSEBEIEE 42
(1,753)
HEFREREEARAR —T_=FF%H
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33 ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 33

The Group incurred no transaction cost for the acquisition.

Since the acquisition, DMCL contributed no revenue to the
Group's revenue and HK$32,000 to the consolidated loss
for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of 2023,
the revenue of the Group and the loss of the Group for the
year 2023 would have been HK$97,563,000 and
HK$93,672,000, respectively.

34 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 34
On 31 March 2023, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company has disposed of its entire equity interest in &=
2B BRI AR A A to an independent third party,
with a cash consideration of HK$1.

WiE—BHELR (&)
AEBMY ERBBEERIHEA ©

BUEBLAR BMERASEMREE T
—ZF A=+ RHIFEITEALRE
BUWABRMEMEA - IREREEEE
B£32,0008 7T °

HMAHR S - =FF#ET  KEH
RZEZ=ZF2WAREBEES R A
97,563,000/ 7T 293,672,000/ 7T °

HE—RBEAT
RZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—8 ' KRA—
MEEWBARER—BBIE=HH
EERNEEABYBHEREBRAG
2HRE  REREBIVET -

Details of the net assets disposed of are as follows: EHEEEFEFBEEOT
HK$'000
FAT
Net assets disposed of: EREEESFE:
Property, plant and equipment (note 14) M BE RERE (FTFE14) 4,265
Accounts receivables JE Y AR 18 2
Inventory B 749
Prepayment, deposits and other receivables TEATFRIE ~ 1R & & E b E W R IE 667
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkRELEMHEER 6
Other payables and accruals HtENRIBERETER (1,221)
Non-controlling interests FERE AR A (2,333)
2,135
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RENB AR ZEE (2,147)
Exchange fluctuation reserve FEE 8% Bh ok 5 6

Satisfied by:
Cash

ETNTAERN
Re
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary during the year
ended 31 March 2023 is as follows:

34

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

HE—EMWB AR (&)
REEZZT_=F=-H=T—HIEF
B pHE—HRBARZEe KA S
LEBEERHFEINAT

HK$'000
T

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of and net HEZHEERRSEEEE kS

outflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary

—EHBARZREE KRS EER
B 7t % ER

*  Below HK$1,000.

A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE

On 20 October 2022, Honour Advance Limited (“Honour
Advance”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and Fanning Properties Limited (“Fanning Properties”),
an independent third party entered into a letter of intent
(“Letter of Intent”) with Haikou Longhua City Investment
Holding Co., Ltd.* (BRI TBEERERM MR EZRBR A A]),
in relation to a proposed disposal of their entire interests in
Honour Advance Real Estate (Hainan) Limited* (T# & 3
(8m) BMR2AR]) by Honour Advance and Hainan Fruitful
Business Management Ltd* (BRI EEEmEEEGRAR)
which held a property for the benefit of the Group by
Fanning Properties at the aggregate consideration of
RMB385,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$442,800,000) (“Proposed Disposal”).

Details of the Proposed Disposal can be referred to the
announcement of the Company dated 20 October 2022.

As at 31 March 2023, the Proposed Disposal was still in
progress, which was subject to further negotiations
between the parties and the execution of formal definitive
agreement by the relevant parties. Consequently, the
related assets and liabilities from the Proposed Disposal
were classified as held for sale.

35

* 1,000 °
PEAGEZHEAR

RZZEZ—F+A=+H AAA—H
2EWBRARNIWARAR ([I#8]) &
EEMEREERAR([EEBE] -
—RBUE =) BREGOMEERMT
REZBRBERART Y ERE((EMA
E]) RREMEFZTIHRHERTINE
¥ (08m) BRARZEHBERSRE S
ERERSHHEmEETEARAA
(RASENRFFE —BYWE) 22 8#
= BRE A AREE385,000,0007T (#8
£ #442,800,000%80) ([ BB HES
E]) -

EZFLEZRHEFBI2MARE B E
BZE_—_Ft+A-t+RHZRE -

WoF-=F=A=+ 8 BHHE
BEVERTF - RAETONE
R mARRATA ) # T R
% PR FL - RABEEE
A ERAED BRHE -

MERREBREEAFRAT —To=FFH

229



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

35 A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR 35 S EASEZHEAR (8)
SALE (Continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Proposed RZEZ=F=ZA=+—0 2EAEH
Disposal classified as held for sale as at 31 March 2023 are ECRBHETH IZEERBER
as follows: BlanT
Notes HK$'000
s FAT
Assets BE
Investment properties WEYE 15 299,250
Properties held for sale under development EEFIFEYERIFEYE
and properties held for sale 32,807
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEEER 120
Assets classified as held for sale DERFECLEE 332,177
Liabilities =R
Other payables and accruals HMEN KRB RERTEA (210)
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIA A B 29 (57,538)

Liabilities directly associated with the assets BN EAFELEEZHEB AR

classified as held for sale (57,748)
Net assets directly associated with disposal E2{HEHEBIEZHE 2 EEFE?
group? 274,429
* English name for identification purpose only. * R ATEEMEA -
# Intragroup balances of HK$5,983,000 was eliminated and thus not # £ B A4 #:5,983,000/8 L0 Wi - M
included in assets/liabilities classified as held for sale. AN ERABEZEE AERN-
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NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Note to consolidated cash flow

36 #&E

(BSHEZHIN

RERE

LA TTEIR)

=M

METHELNEERD

REBT mEN T

Interest-
bearing
bank and Due to
Lease other Bonds related
liabilities borrowings payable parties Total
FREBTR EAEE
HEAE HttEE - ELES At @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—-§NA-H — 473,252 — — 473,252
Changes from financing cash flows Eﬂﬁfﬁﬁ/ﬁsﬁﬁl
New bank borrowings raised FEGRITEE — 286,402 — — 286,402
Repayment of bank borrowings 1;1@fﬁf71ﬁh — (315,198) — — (315,198)
Interest and other finance charges paid R Fl8 R E(EEE — (33,168) — — (33,168)
Total changes from financing MERSRESBHAR
cash flows — (61,964) — — (61,964)
Other changes: ﬁﬁh%iﬂ
Interest expenses recognised BRMERY — 33,168 — — 33,168
Exchange adjustment EFL.ﬂ*“ — 12,594 — — 12,594
Total other changes Hith @A — 45,762 — — 45,762
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 W=-ZE-—§=A=+—H
kE-E--_fWmA—H — 457,050 — — 457,050
Changes from financing cash flows ®BEBREHEZF
Proceeds from issue of bonds BITESMERE — — 33,000 — 33,000
New bank and other borrowings raised ¥ &/FIR1T R EMEE — 329,767 — — 329,767
Repayment of bank and other EEFITREMEE
borrowings — (389,681) — — (389,681)
Principal portion of lease liabilities HEaBEZREHH (30) — — — (30)
Advance from a related party RE— %ﬁﬁg)\iZ@?’A — — — 51,300 51,300
Interest and other finance charges paid B8 LEMEE E — (40,690) (1,927) (2,140) (44,757)
Total changes from financing MERERBSBAR
cash flows (30) (100,604) 31,073 49,160 (20,401)
Other changes: Hip# 8 :
New lease HFEE 1,031 — — — 1,031
Interest expenses recognised EHRRERAY — 40,690 1,927 2,483 45,100
Exchange adjustment B 3 /B — (20,835) — — (20,835)
Changes from operating cash flows BEReREE — — — (343) (343)
Total other changes Hitv# e 1,031 19,855 1,927 2,140 24,953
At 31 March 2023 R-®-=#=A=1-A 1,001 376,301 33,000 51,300 461,602
HEFREREEARAR —T_=FF%H
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37 COMMITMENTS 37 &iE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the REERBEHREATEREARE :
end of the reporting period:

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Contracted, but not provided for: B QEAREE :
Capital contributions payable to JERT IR A ER ABRER
equity investments at fair value ZIRERE 2 EXR
through profit or loss 1,201 4,583
38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38 BEALIXRS
(@) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed (a) BZSEGRAVEHRREMAEF
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, Wz Z G RERIN - TIRBER
the Group had the following material transactions REFEMABEEANTETZCERR
with related parties during the year: 2 :
2023 2022
—EZ= —E-—
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B &E FET FHEIT
Management fee income from a KRE —fRIEQ R Z
related company EREBWA (i) 55 55
Management fee income from KB —M#E Q72
an associate EREWA ) 1,353 1,092
Rental income from a related KB —fEEQRF 2
company Ha2 WA (ii) 210 218
Rental income from an RE—MEHEQRZ
associate WA (iii) 120 110
Management fee to a related  [A—RBAER A X
company EEB (iv) 360 210
Interest expense to a related m—ZBEEALTEZN
party BRI X (v) 2,483 —

232 Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

The

(Continued)
Notes:

(i) The management fee was charged by reference to actual costs
incurred for the services provided by the Group.

(ii) During the year, rental income was charged to Fitness Concept
Limited (“FCL") at HK$18,000 (2022: HK$18,000) per month
in average. Mr. Tjia is a director of and has beneficial
interests in the Company and FCL, while Mr. Tjia Wai Yip,
William is a director of the Company and FCL.

(iii) During the year, rental income was charged to an associate at
HK$10,000 per month as mutually agreed between the
parties.

(iv) The management fee was paid to FCL by reference to the
terms of agreement as agreed between both parties.

(v) The interest expense was charged by the loan from a related
party (note 25).

Outstanding balances with related parties:

Details of the Group's balances with associates as at
the end of the reporting period are included in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Group’s balances with related parties
as at the end of the reporting period are included in
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Group’s balances with non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries as at the end of the
reporting period are included in note 24(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

The key management personnel of the Group are the
directors and the chief executive of the Company.
Details of their remuneration are disclosed in note 8
to the consolidated financial statements.

related party transactions above also constituted

continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

38 BEALRS (#)
@ (&)
fia -

@) ERETSRAEEERHEZ RGP
BEAE 2 BB AR T 4R ©

(i) AEERNKRBEEARZBRA R
((BMERIZD) BAHESKRAFEEA
18,0007 7L (=& = =4 : 18,000
FETT) o M E RN R RN EAIE
ZEETHAERER MR
SEBANTIRREEIEZES -

(iy RAFE  KITHNETHE  M—
M E A AREMESKAEA
10,0007 7T ©

vy, EEBDHZRETTHIEZ %GR
S FRUS A3 -

(v) KB —BEEALTZEREK
B F) 25 3k (T aE25) -

(b) BEEIBALMABEEZER:

RIMEHR - AEEEEZ QA
ZEEBRABEHN A VIS SRER W
5F16

RBMEMR  ANEBHEEEA L
ZEBFHIBEHNGRE M IRERHKT
5F25 .

RBER - REB LK BE R R
IEIERR AR R 2 R B E R ER A
B 75 3R 2R B 5E 24(b) ©

(0 AEEIEZEBABZHMN:

AEBET2EEABR/RARAZ
EENEBRITHAER - WEZH
EFIBRARA M RER M ES AW

5% o

EXH R 2 BN LR ZEIEE LT
AIFVAAEREZFHERERS -

MERREBREEAFRAT —To=FFH
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39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

39 REHEASZEMTA

Financial assets EMEE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-CF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets at fair value BATFEFABRZERZ
through profit or loss cREE
Equity investments at fair value BATEFAERESZ
through profit or loss xR & 157,463 229,790
Financial assets at amortised cost REBHERATECESHMEE
Due from associates JRE Ui B N A 2,532 2,399
Accounts receivable FE U BR 1B 14,048 16,590
Financial assets included in STATENFIE - e RHEM
prepayments, deposits and other FEWFIER & B E &=
receivables 14,456 16,144
Pledged deposits [RIEAEY R 4,000 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents HekRE&EEER 24,408 43,859
59,444 82,992
216,907 312,782
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39 REHEs 2SI A (F)
(Continued)
Financial liabilities tEaes
2023 2022
—E-=F g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET

Financial liabilities at amortised RBHERATEZSREE

cost
Accounts payable FEfTERTA 5,062 6,706
Financial liabilities included in other 5+ A E {th &~ 3018 &

payables and accruals A ERNeRARE 56,838 79,326
Due to associates JFE < Bt 2 N &) — 2,650
Due to related parties FETRAE A+ 58,296 13,169
Interest-bearing bank and other FFERITREMEER

borrowings 392,169 460,739
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,001 —
Bonds payable ERES 33,000 —

546,366 562,590
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

40 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

40

EMIAZAFERAFEER

Carrying amounts Fair values
IRE{E ATE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E=F T —E=F T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FHET
Financial assets cREE
Equity investments at fair  EAFERFAEZ
value through profit or R iR A
loss 157,463 229,790 157,463 229,790
Financial liabilities SRBE
Interest-bearing bank and  FTERITREAM
other borrowings (with BE (I
non-current portion) B15) 169,521 228,165 169,521 228,165

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the
financial controller is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. The corporate finance team reports
directly to the directors of the Company. At each reporting
date, the corporate finance team analyses the movements
in the values of financial instruments and determines the
major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is
reviewed and approved by the directors of the Company.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash, pledged deposits, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, amounts
due from/to associates and related parties, and interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings classified as current
liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

Y HREERENARE AR HHE
GREETeR T ANRAFEFENK
REEF - ARV BEFERAARF]
EXER RNEREAH 2AMKE
Fofrem T ABENKPAEEGE
THERNEEHABE - AERARQ
FIEFERRILE -

EEECHHEREMREEFEEE X
RERE  SHEMER  BRERE &
MERIA - FTABNFIR  HE REME
WAz & MEE « st AEAMEMN TR
FEERZCREE B e
BRAREEAN T RERGBRITRE
fEE (DERRBEE) 2AFE
BRAAMBEHEEKEERS  TEREA
REEFTEEREHAZIE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of unlisted equity investments have been
estimated using market-based valuation techniques based on
assumptions that are supported by observable market prices
or rates. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, certain unlisted
equity investments carry out property redevelopment
projects and the fair values of the properties under these
projects are considered in the fair value assessment by the
directors; while an unlisted investment carries a listed equity
investment and its quoted market price is also considered in
the fair value assessment by the directors. The valuation
requires the directors to determine comparable public
companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage and
strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price multiple for
each comparable company identified. The multiple is
calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the
comparable company by an earnings measure. The trading
multiple is then adjusted for considerations such as
illiquidity and size differences between the comparable
companies based on company-specific facts and
circumstances. A discount for lack of marketability
("DLOM") is applied in the fair value assessment,
representing the amounts of premium and discounts
determined by the Group that market participants would
take into account when pricing the investments. The
adjusted multiple is applied to the corresponding equity and
earnings measure of the unlisted equity investments to
measure the fair value. The directors believe that the
estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
techniques, which are recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes in
fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they were
the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting
period. The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings repayable beyond one year after the end of the
reporting period as assessed on an individual borrowing
basis have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments on similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

40

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

TMTAZAFERLIFESER
(&)
TREENABNRTENREERZ
ETRENRSHAIAZZEXR S (8
HIREEBEABERIN) S ETA -
RATHIERBREE A FEETH
at:

SEEMIRERE A FERERRHATBED
SERSILEIHZBERABERTS
MEEREETHE RZZE=FK
T —F=ZA=+—H EFIFLWm
R EETYEEREER - WEHEE
TEMENAFEDEE SN A FEF
hhEE - m—IEME B ETRER
BMIELMIRE  ZETMRERENT
PRENEESRAFETERERE -
HEZRESRETE  AE BER
REEEALARAG (RE) A
Rk Bl H AT A RIRTE B E N ERE
o BEEBBITLATNGEEER
ABFEIZRETE - RERIBAREE
MEBEERER  EEHOREEMAT L
RAZEMREEZESRAEHEEREHR
EITHAE - sremsnBETE ((HBE
TERBERZDRAFETHFHE
B ATmE2HEERARETERS
B AN EEE A s EEITE o L
RS SR EIE LM AR & A AE AR
BRAFER  UFAE2FE - E=R
B HEFESHOETAFEGIA
RAEPBRRE) AT ENHERE
GtABHELHEM2EWE) 2AEH -
BAREHAZRABNEE - RERIE
BEEEFENARRENRE —FEE
B EBBRTREMEENQFETIA
HAWSELGER - EERR KFEHRF
BRIy T BIRIR RS A 15 B A B R BE IR A AT
KRB RENAHNFTE -

HEEREBEEARAR —T_=FFRH
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

40 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

EMIAZAFERAFEER

(8&)
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at RIE_=F=A=+—AKRZZE=_C
F=A=+—R AEETELAERA

fair value as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of unlisted equity investments, together with e
a quantitative sensitivity analysis, as at 31 March 2023 and

2022.

Valuation techniques

fEER %

FEAENERAEE-

DT
Significant
unobservable inputs Range/weighted average
BEAFTUEERAHE &E, METHH

UWTNAER-ZE =k _FT-_"F=H

HEF EMBREREREZEX

TR \BEREERTEHRE

Sensitivity of fair value to the
inputs

AFEHBABB2HBE

Investment method

REE

Residual method

BEE

Asset approach

BEX

RMB154 to RMB231 and
5.50% to 5.75%

(2022: RMB172 to RMB256 and
5.75% to 6.00%)

Estimated rental value
(per square meter per
month and revisionary
yield)

B HeEE(BAEY AREIM4TEARE2ILE
FK) REFEREE 5.50% %&5.75%
(ZF-=—F: A\RE1T2LE

ARME2567T5.75% £6.00%)

Average market unit HK$24,535

selling price (2022: HK$23,883)
TEmIGEMER 24,5350

(T =~ 4% :23,883%7T)

3.00%
(2022: 19.00%)

Discount for lack of
marketability

3.00%
ZEZF:19.00%)

BRZ TR R TE

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

1% increase/decrease in estimated
rental value and reversionary yield
would result in increase/decrease in
fair value by HK$344,000 (2022:
HK$325,000)

AEt S EERER A EE M R
1% 1% E B A FE LN,/ 344,000
B (ZEZ =% : 325,000/ L)

1% increase/decrease in average market
unit selling price would result in
increase/decrease in fair value by
HK$2,716,000 (2022:
HK$1,443,000)

THMISEAEBEM B 1% E
BATFEEMB22,716,0008 T
(ZT == : 1,443,000/ 70)

1% increase/decrease in discount for
lack of marketability would result in
decrease/increase in fair value by
HK$42,000 (2022: HK$559,000)

BRE TS RBEIRENFA 1%
BHAFER D,/ 242,000 T
(ZF = =% : 559,000 )
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

40 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40 ¢RI IBEZAFERAFEEZH

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (#&)
Fair value hierarchy NEEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRIIFAEESRIANATEFE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: o
Assets measured at fair value BAFETENEE
2023
—E-=
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBTSE2 EBEATBE EAFIUEE
HE BARE BARE

(& 5B1—) (& 5B1=) (&AB1=) &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Equity investments at fair value IZAF{E&T AR
through profit of loss AR 2 B
BE — — 157,463 157,463
2022
—E-Z
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RERMEZ EAUJER BEATAER
H{E BARE BARE

(& 51—) (& A1=) (& A1=) aat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET FAET
Equity investments at fair value &% A (A&t AR
through profit of loss % AR 2 RR A
BE — — 229,790 229,790
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

40 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 40 R IBZAFERAFEEZH

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (%)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ANFEER (&)

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3
during the year are as follows:

BAFEITENEE (&
FRERN=RFEFEZEZHUWT :

2023 2022
—E-= -~
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Equity investments — unlisted: RERE —FLWm:

At beginning of year REA 229,790 125,224
Purchases BA 3,382 8
Disposals k== — (5,681)

Fair value (loss)/gain recognised in profit R EzZEEANERN A FE
or loss (B#8), Wz (75,709) 110,239
At end of year RER 157,463 229,790

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's financial liabilities not
measured at fair value but for which fair values were
disclosed included those interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings with non-current portion of HK$169,521,000
(2022: HK$228,165,000). The fair values of these financial
liabilities disclosed were measured based on valuation
techniques of income approach of which the key input,
being the market interest rate ranging from 5.21% to
10.29% (2022: from 7.64% to 9.05%), which has a
significant effect on the fair value are unobservable (Level
3).

During the vyear, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and
financial liabilities (2022: Nil).
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NRZEBE-_=F=A=+—0H0 x&£E>
WEANFEFEERILIFREQAFEZ
R B EREZE I M SRTT
FHEMEE169,521,0008 L (Z T ==
F :228,165,000/87C) - ZE2®MEE
i Ee 2 A EDERRACEEES A
MetE EREAFEELEEAFEZ
FEHABE BIWHBAENT5.21%
F1029% (ZZE=-—F : N F7.64%%
9.05%)) YA B (B HI=) -

FR-eREENERAGBZAN A
FR—ZEX EAFEFEZERE - TR
EERERBREMN=(ZF_—F:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, equity
investments, cash and cash equivalents and pledged

deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as accounts
receivable, accounts payable, deposits and other receivables,
balances with associates and related parties, and other
payables and certain accruals, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt
obligations with floating interest rates in Hong Kong and
the PRC.

The interest rates and terms of repayment of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings are disclosed in note 26
to the consolidated financial statements. Other financial
assets and liabilities of the Group do not have significant
interest rate risk. Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts,
other interest-bearing loans, loan from a related party,
bonds payable, cash and cash equivalents, and short-term
deposits are stated at cost and are not revalued on a
periodic basis. Floating-rate interest income and expense are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

The nominal interest rates of the financial instruments
approximate to their respective effective interest rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in the Hong Kong dollar interest
rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's
loss before tax and equity (through the impact on floating
rate borrowings).

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

41

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

HMHEREEEERBE

AEET2EMTABENBRITRA
fiEE - BERE ReMRELFER
BROEMER ZEFeRITAZIR
R@ERtEEXBERES - A5H
EREREXGERELCHMERE
ENAGE  FWOREKER  EBANEKRE -
ma R EMEUCEOR - B QR M
BATZ SRR E MR RIERE T’
FHEM -

AEESBTAEEY TERKRATE
Ak EERRRABESER  EF
CRHRBEELEERERR K
5% REZSEBBLMT o

A = 2 bz
AEBZTHNEEBE R E R EARE
BREERPEFENREHER

FHRIRTT REAMEE 2 M R AEE GK
RERE BRI 26 A EE - AEH
ZEMEREERBEESKMNEME
@ AtRIRITEREES - HEt B E
R BNBEEALER  BNES R
MRS FEAR REHFRIRRAT
BEX B TSEETER  FBWRAR
MXNELRBHFEA BRI -

SRIAZ ZRFIRELE G2 EBRF
AR o

TRERR AR AR BURS TR A1
ST 2R B BT AR s (538
FRFE G EHE) WA R b
RABRD 2 B -

MERREBREEAFRAT —To=FFH
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

41 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41

AND POLICIES (Continued)

MHEREERRERBEK (&)

Interest rate risk (Continued) FRE ks (E)
Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) in Increase/
(decrease) in loss before (decrease) in
basic points tax equity*
EEHR BREAIEE R m
(FE&)  ®WL (#m) (R A) *
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
2023 —_Eg-=
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (4,019) —
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 4,019 —
2022 —F -
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (4,919) —
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 4,919 —
* Excluding retained profits. * T BERE RN -
Credit risk FERK
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy REBERERTMEEISZNE=F

third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure
to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end stage

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 March 2023 and
2022. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets.
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HITRS - RBALEMNRE @ e #
REERIETRINEF  BAEKR
EEZRERRFE  AAEE - M &K
EECHEERBWALHBR - A
EEMEERERBRITTEKX -

REER K TEF AR R
TRETRENAEEEERRNERY
ZhEREEERR (Z2RAHERS
- BRIEEM RIS ERERS Hﬁ%ﬁﬁl\}i
REEH)  UER-ZT_=FR_
—ZHF=RA=+—H&F4 E%Eiﬁ%ﬁf’
TRl B AeMEEMNBREE -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Maximum exposure and year-end stage

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

41 HHEREEEBEFERBGR (&)

FERR (F&)
RERBRITEFEER (&

(Continued)
2023
—EB-Z=E
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
T=@A
BHEE
Bx 2HEREERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
F-KE SR =B #itEE% #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TEx TER TER
Accounts receivable* JrE Lt B 18 — — 27,434 27,434
Financial assets included in FTAFERFIA -
prepayments, deposits and Re REMAE
other receivables** WA 2 B
EE**
— Normal — % 14,456 — — 14,456
— Doubtful — R — 23,549 — 23,549
Due from associates** g /N Rl 2,532 — — 2,532
Pledged deposits [REEETEEA
— Not yet past due — R HA 4,000 — — — 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEE
IHH
— Not yet past due — R A 24,408 — — 24,408
45,396 23,549 27,434 96,379
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

41 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end stage

41 HHEREEESERBER (8)

FERR (&)
REREBERITEFEER (&)

(Continued)
2022
—E-F
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+ZEA
HHREE
Bk SHEHEERX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—ME SRR F=RER  BtAE BEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL FAT FAT FHEL FAT
Accounts receivable* J7E Ui B 18 * — — — 30,094 30,094
Financial assets included in FTATE A
prepayments, deposits and Re REME
other receivables** WA 2 B
BEE**
— Normal — % 16,144 — — — 16,144
— Doubtful — RER — — 24,732 — 24,732
Due from associates** JE U A |+ 2,399 — — — 2,399
Pledged deposits [REECREE-
— Not yet past due — R HA 4,000 — — — 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents RehkBeEE
1H B
— Not yet past due — K 43,859 — — — 43,859
66,402 — 24,732 30,094 121,228
* For accounts receivable to which the Group applies the simplified * AN 5% [ PR R ORU(E RS (L 75 0% /9 B U BR R i

approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix

is disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

*x The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables and amounts due from associates is
considered as “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets have a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit

quality of the financial assets is considered as “doubtful”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., accounts receivable) and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
overdrafts, bank loans and other interest-bearing
borrowings. The Group’s policy is to ensure the match in
of maturity of its financial liabilities against that of its
financial assets, and the maintenance of a current ratio,
which is defined as current assets over current liabilities, at
above one so as to enhance stable liquidity.

The maturity profile of the Group’s liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, was as follows:

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

41

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

MHEREERRREE(E)

AEERAEEERDESHRE TALE
2ECRRHEAR ZTAZEEER
TAREREE (WEKERRE) Z2IHA
HAREFAEEXRTAREREENE -

AEBZBRIREBNBRITES
RITERLEMF REEUAREREZ
FEMMEIE M Z i o AEEZBE
ERRESHAEREEREETHA
MBI MRERRBL R (RER/RD
BERMURDABZHER)BR—MUE
ZIKFE - AMBRRBEZRBES °

RBEYRR - AREZBBERECATH
BRBBENRZEHBERLT

2023
—EC=F
On demand or
less than
12 months 1 to 5 years Total
+=M@A —ZRHE #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FET FHET
Accounts payable FE T AR IE 5,062 — 5,062
Financial liabilities included in & A b 1 518 & &
other payables and accruals &R ZERAE 56,838 — 56,838
Due to related parties JERTRA:E AL 11,530 53,411 64,941
Interest-bearing bank and FERITREMEER
other borrowings 260,796 180,600 441,396
Bonds payable FEIE S 2,700 33,773 36,473
Lease liabilities HEAR 371 710 1,081
337,297 268,494 605,791
HEFREREEARAR —T_=FF%H
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

41 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

REBESER (&)

MHEREERRERBEK (&)

2022
g
On demand or
less than
12 months 1 to 5 years Total
RERKY DR
+=1E8A —E=RF T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHET
Accounts payable JE{TBRIA 6,706 — 6,706
Financial liabilities included in 5 A X fth - 3/ T8 & &
other payables and accruals :TERZS@EE 79,326 — 79,326
Due to associates JFE < ot i N &) 2,650 — 2,650
Due to related parties FETREE A & 13,169 — 13,169
Interest-bearing bank and FFERITRAEMEE
other borrowings 282,545 216,872 499,417
Bonds payable JETEH — — —
384,396 216,872 601,268
Capital management EXRER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
accounts payable, other payables and accruals, amounts due
to associates and related parties, bonds payable, lease
liabilities, and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
less pledged deposits, and cash and cash equivalents.
Capital represents equity attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company.
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B AEERREAREREIRE 2K
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods

were as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

MHEREERRREE(E)

EXREE ()

R|ERKR - ERNBELEDT

2023 2022
—s== —E=——
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FATT
Accounts payable FE T AR IE 5,062 6,706
Other payables and accruals H S 5/ R ERT B A 95,697 110,313
Due to associates Xl NG — 2,650
Due to related parties FERTRE AT 58,296 13,169
Bonds payable FERHE 33,000 —
Lease liabilities HESE 1,001 —
Interest-bearing bank and other FERITREMEE
borrowings 392,169 460,739
Less: Pledged deposits o B IRFR (4,000) (4,000)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReMREeEFEEER (24,408) (43,859)
Net debt BIE 5 556,817 545,718
Capital B 1,477,726 1,677,710
Capital and net debt AR REIEFE 2,034,543 2,223,428
Gearing ratio BRBELE 27% 25%
BERREAREMARAT —T-—FFH
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

42 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 42 ZAQ Tz HBARREK
COMPANY
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-CF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHE AR 2 RE 663,137 664,405
Total non-current assets kABEEHRAE 663,137 664,405
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments TET A 2 1
Cash and cash equivalents RekBREEEIER 374 280
Total current assets RBEEHE 376 281
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Accruals EEtER 951 6,135
Due to subsidiaries FESHHT B A A 53,976 52,376
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE 27,500 78,060
Total current liabilities REEEEEE 82,427 136,571
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (82,051) (136,290)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABERABAERE 581,086 528,115
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBAE
Bonds payable FERHE 33,000 —
Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE 38,000 —
Total non-current liabilities kABEERTE 71,000 —
NET ASSETS EEFE 510,086 528,115
EQUITY s
Issued capital BEITRY AR 146,682 146,682
Reserves (note) it (MR 363,404 381,433
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 510,086 528,115
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

42 ARRQATFZ2BHBEARRE (E)

Note: B 5 -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARREREWT -
Share Capital
premium Contributed redemption Share option Accumulated
account surplus reserve reserve losses Total
B 5 RER B8RS RABEFEE BRERS Rt BB st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FET FiET FET FiET FET
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FMA—H 243,040 155,531 14,457 975 (20,872) 393,131
Loss for the year and total ~ ANFEFIERAFE
comprehensive loss for T HEBRE
the year — — — — (9,603) (9,603)
Equity-settled share option VA PR HRE 45 B R AR b 2o B
arrangement — — — 92 — 92
Transfer of share option REAR M R R e AR
reserve upon the lapse of it 12 8% 5
share options — — — (142) 142 —
Issue of new shares under HARIE T AT R (5
rights issue (note 30(b)) (M 7E30(b)) (2,187) — — — — (2,187)
At 31 March 2022 and RoZB-—4
1 April 2022 ZA=+-BR
—E-—_FmMA—H 240,853 155,531 14,457 925 (30,333) 381,433
Loss for the year and total ~ ANFEFIERAFE
comprehensive loss for T HEBRTE
the year — — — — (18,029) (18,029)
Transfer of share option FE AR R R I S i A
reserve upon the lapse of AR BB
share options — — — (925) 925 —
At 31 March 2023 RIBZ=F
=ZA=+—H 240,853 155,531 14,457 — (47,437) 363,404

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of
the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation on 21 May 1997
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange therefor. Under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended), a distribution may be made out of
the contributed surplus, provided that the Company will be
able to pay its liabilities as they fall due and subsequent to
the distribution, the aggregate amount of its total liabilities,
issued share capital and share premium is less than the
realisable value of its assets.

ARRZBHBBERER - NANEF
FA-+—RAKEEEAMBANBA
AR 2 AT ES BT AR E K
MZARBRNEEZEZR - REAR
ZE—NN\—FREDE(RER) - ERA
BAHED IR - R RA DB HRENE
NHEIMENEE  BRDIK®E - H&
B DBERTEARBRNDEEZ AR
MEARINEEE 2P HREE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

42

43

44

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments
in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain figures have been reclassified to conform to the
current year’s presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 June
2023.
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FREE BARR D) BER Z MRS K
REEEAENRE - ERASHFHNE
PRERRETERERERMGER
AR B P A e i S OR MBS B B =
PRER 4 A o

EEBEF
ETBFEEENIE  UNamel
BHRERAFENZ2ITA -

HESSPHEHR

AT eUBRREMEFEN T =
FRAZ TN BESERIREETT -



A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five

financial years is set out below.

Summary of Financial Information

MBERBME

TXHEIIAERERNEEREMBRFEED T H#
CEBUREE BENMFERBSHME -

RESULTS ¥E
For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZRA=1T—-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
= ZZ--fF ZZ-—F ZZTZTF ZT—hEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETT FATT FAETT FAETT
REVENUE N 97,563 109,995 103,799 351,614 259,417
(LOSS)/PROFIT FROM R BERREBLE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES AFTER  ¥#F15 (B18),/
FINANCE COSTS St ) (87,743) (65,829) (34,280) (33,223) 41,094
Share of profits and losses of 2l B & 2 &l3& FIl
associates, net BB FE8 1,807 20,750 2,037 (1,790) (4,527)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BrEiAl (B518),/ & F (85,936) (45,079) (32,243) (35,013) 36,567
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiEe,/ (FAx) (7,998) 14,092 (6,659) (2,523)  (13,165)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  AFE (18), /% F (93,934) (30,987) (38,902) (37,536) 23,402
Attributable to: AR AL ELL
Owners of the Company RRAREAR A (90,967)  (27,274) (36,738) (35,296) 27,486
Non-controlling interests RS (2,967) (3,713) (2,164) (2,240) (4,084)
(93,934) (30,987) (38,902) (37,536) 23,402
HEREREEBERAT "—E--FER
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Summary of Financial Information

MBERBE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

BE -

RERFERES

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC-=F ZFE--F ZT-—F —T-TE —T-HE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT FATT FATT FAETT
Total assets BMEE 2,262,780 2,469,835 2,391,039 2,227,228 2,591,964
Total liabilities wad (795,529)  (797,731)  (804,617)  (711,552)  (944,623)
Non-controlling interests RS 10,475 5,606 2,979 5,029 3,932
1,477,726 1,677,710 1,589,401 1,520,705 1,651,273
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